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THE PROMOTERS OF OUR COMPANY ARE: BANK OF BARODA AND CARMEL POINT INVESTMENTS INDIA
PRIVATE LIMITED
DETAILS OF OFFER TO PUBLIC
Type Fresh Issue Size | Size of the Offer | Total Offer size  ELIGIBILITY RESERVATIONS AMONG
for Sale QIBs, NllIs, Rlls, ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES
AND ELIGIBLE BOB SHAREHOLDERS
Fresh Issue and |Fresh issue of up to| Offer for Sale of | Up to X[e] million [This Offer is being made in terms of Regulation

Offer for Sale [e] Equity Shares | up to 141,299,422 6(2) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India
aggregating up to Equity Shares (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements)

35,000 million | aggregating up to Regulations, 2018, as amended (“SEBI ICDR

[ @] million Regulations”). For details in relation to share

reservation among Qualified Institutional Buyers,
Non-Institutional Investors, Retail Individual
Investors, Eligible Employees and Eligible BOB
Shareholders, see “Offer Structure” on page 426.
DETAILS OF THE SELLING SHAREHOLDERS, OFFER FOR SALE AND THE WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF

ACQUISITION
NAME OF THE SELLING TYPE NUMBER OF EQUITY SHARES  WEIGHTED AVERAGE
SHAREHOLDER OFFERED/AMOUNT COST OF ACQUISITION PER
EQUITY SHARE (IN )~
Bank of Baroda Promoter Selling Up to 89,015,734 Equity Shares 28.21
Shareholder aggregating up to [e] million
Carmel Point Investments Promoter Selling Up to 39,227,273 Equity Shares 50.50
India Private Limited Shareholder aggregating up to [ e] million
Union Bank of India Other Selling Shareholder | Up to 13,056,415 Equity Shares 15.42
aggregating up to X[ e] million

" As certified by Mehta Chokshi & Shah LLP and N S Gokhale & Company, our Joint Statutory Auditors, pursuant to the certificate dated October
20, 2022.

This being the first public issue of Equity Shares of our Company, there has been no formal market for the Equity Shares. The face
value of each Equity Share is ¥10. The Floor Price, Cap Price and Offer Price (determined by our Company and the Selling
Shareholders in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations), and on the
basis of the assessment of market demand for the Equity Shares by way of the Book Building Process as stated in “Basis for Offer
Price” on page 109 should not be taken to be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares after the Equity Shares are listed.
No assurance can be given regarding an active or sustained trading in the Equity Shares or regarding the price at which the Equity

Shares will be traded after listing.
GENERAL RISK

Investments in equity and equity-related securities involve a degree of risk and Bidders should not invest any funds in the Offer unless
they can afford to take the risk of losing their entire investment. Bidders are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking
an investment decision in the Offer. For taking an investment decision, Bidders must rely on their own examination of our Company
and the Offer, including the risks involved. The Equity Shares in the Offer have neither been recommended, nor approved by the
Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), nor does SEBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of the contents of this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus. Specific attention of the Bidders is invited to “Risk Factors” beginning on page 28.




DISCLAIMER CLAUSE OF THE INSURANCE REGULATORY AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF INDIA
(“IRDAI”)

The IRDAI does not undertake any responsibility for the financial soundness of our Company or for the correctness of any of the
statements made or opinions expressed in this connection. Any approval by the IRDAI under the IRDAI Issuance of Capital
Regulations (as defined in “Definitions and Abbreviations”) shall not in any manner be deemed to be or serve as a validation of the
representations by our Company in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. IRDAI does not guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of the
contents or information in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. It is to be distinctly understood that this Draft Red Herring Prospectus
should not in any way be deemed or construed to have been approved or vetted by IRDAI.

Our Company, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for and confirms that this Draft Red Herring Prospectus
contains all information with regard to our Company and the Offer, which is material in the context of the Offer, that the information
contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is true and correct in all material aspects and is not misleading in any material respect,
that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are honestly held and that there are no other facts, the omission of which makes this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus as a whole or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading
in any material respect. Further, each of the Selling Shareholders, severally and not jointly, accepts responsibility for and confirms
only statements expressly made by such Selling Shareholder in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus solely in relation to itself and its
respective portion of the Offered Shares and assumes responsibility that such statements are true and correct in all material respects
and not misleading in any material respect. However, none of the Selling Sharcholders, severally and not jointly, assume any
responsibility for any other statement and undertaking, including, inter alia, any of the statements and undertakings made by or

relatini to our Comﬁani or its business or ani other Sellini Shareholder or ani other ﬁersoni si in this Draft Red Herrini Prosiectus.

The Equity Shares offered through the Red Herring Prospectus are proposed to be listed on the Stock Exchanges, being BSE Limited
and National Stock Exchange of India Limited. For the purposes of the Offer, the Designated Stock Exchange shall be [e].
BOOK RUNNING LEAD MANAGERS
Name of the BRLMs and Logo \ Contact Person Email and Telephone
Sameer Purohit / Gaurav Mittal |Tel: +91 22 6807 7100
E-mail: indiafirst.ipo@jicicisecurities.com

ICICI Securities Limited

Nikhil Bhiwapurkar / Devanshi |Tel: +91 22 6623 3030
Shah E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@ambit.co

Ambit Private Limited

Piyush Ramchandani Tel: +91 22 3370 4000
E-mail: DL.IFLICL.ipo@asia.bnpparibas.com

BNP Paribas

Ninad Jape / Nivedika Chavan |Tel: +91 22 6138 9353
E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@bobcaps.in

BOB Capital Markets Limited*

Rishi Tiwari / Rachit Rajgaria |Tel: +91 22 2268 5555

E-mail: indiafirstlifeipo@hsbc.co.in

HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India)
Private Limited

- Suhani Bhareja Tel: +91 22 4356 6000
Jefferies E-mail:
Jefferies India Private Limited IndiaFirstLifelnsurance.IPO@jefferies.com
Prachee Dhuri Tel: +91 22 6630 3030

E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@jmfl.com
JM Financial Limited

REGISTRAR TO THE OFFER

KFin Technologies Limited Contact Person: M  Murali|Tel: +91 40 6716 2222
(formerly known as KFin Technologies Private |Krishna Email: indiafirstlife.ipo@kfintech.com
Limitea

BID/ OFFER PERIOD

ANCHOR
INVESTOR  BID/ [o]® BID/ OFFER BID/ OFFER

[e]
OFFER PERIOD OPENS ON CLOSES ON

*BOB Capital Markets Limited is an associate of Bank of Baroda, one of the Promoter Selling Shareholders, in terms of the Securities and Exchange Board of India

(Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992 (“SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations”). Accordingly, in compliance with the proviso to Regulation 21A4(1) of the SEBI

Merchant Bankers Regulations read with Regulation 23(3) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, BOB Capital Markets Limited would be involved only in the marketing of

the Offer. BOB Capital Markets Limited has signed the due diligence certificate and has been disclosed as a Book Running Lead Manager.

(1) Our Company and the Selling Shareholders shall, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, consider participation by Anchor Investors in accordance
with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period shall be one Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Opening Date.

(2) Our Company and the Selling Shareholders shall, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, consider closing the Bid/ Offer Period for QIBs one
Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Closing Date in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

[0]®
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INDIAFIRST LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED

Our Company was originally incorporated as ‘Baroda L & G Life Insurance Company Limited’ at Mumbai, Maharashtra as a public limited company under the Companies Act, 1956, pursuant to a certificate of incorporation dated June 19, 2008, issued by the Registrar of
Companies, Maharashtra, at Mumbai (“RoC”). Thereafter, the name of our Company was changed to ‘IndiaFirst Life Insurance Company Limited” pursuant to a fresh certificate of incorporation dated September 16, 2009 issued by the RoC. For further details in relation to
the changes in the name and registered office of our Company, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters” on page 223.
Registered and Corporate Office: 12" and 13" Floor, North C Wing, Tower 4, Nesco IT Park, Western Express Highway, Goregaon (East), Mumbai 400 063, Maharashtra, India
Telephone: +91 22 6857 0500; Contact Person: Aniket Krishnaji Karandikar, Company Secretary and Compliance Officer
il: investor. rclallom@md:a['rslllfc com; Website: www.indiafirstlife.com

THE PROMOTERS OF OUR COMPANY ARI ANK OF BARODA AND CARMEL POINT INVESTMENTS INDIA PRIVATE LIMIT!

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFER OF UP TO [¢] EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF %10 EACH (“EQUITY SHARES”) OF INDIAFIRST LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED (“COMPANY” OR “ISSUER”) FOR CASH AT A PRICE OF ¥[e] PER
EQUITY SHARE (INCLUDING A SHARE PREMIUM OF Z[e] PER EQUITY SHARE) AGGREGATING UP TO Z[e] MILLION (THE “OFFER”), COMPRISING A FRESH ISSUE OF UP TO [¢] EQUITY SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO 35,000
MILLION BY OUR COMPANY (“FRESH ISSUE”) AND AN OFFER FOR SALE OF UP TO 141,299,422 EQUITY SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO Z[e] MILLION (“OFFER FOR SALE”) BY THE SELLING SHAREHOLDERS (AS DEFINED
BELOW), COMPRISING UP TO 89,015,734 EQUITY SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO Z[e] MILLION BY BANK OF BARODA AND UP TO 39,227,273 EQUITY SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO ¥[e] MILLION BY CARMEL POINT
INVESTMENTS INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED (BANK OF BARODA AND CARMEL POINT INVESTMENTS INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED, COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS “PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDERS”) AND UP TO 13,056,415
EQUITY SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO Z[e] MILLION BY UNION BANK OF INDIA (“OTHER SELLING SHAREHOLDER”, AND TOGETHER WITH THE PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDERS, “SELLING SHAREHOLDERS” AND
SUCH EQUITY SHARES OFFERED BY THE SELLING SHAREHOLDERS, THE “OFFERED SHARES”). THIS OFFER MAY INCLUDE A RESERVATION OF UP TO [e] EQUITY SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO Z[e] MILLION
(CONSTITUTING UP TO [e]% OF THE POST-OFFER PAID-UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL) FOR SUBSCRIPTION BY ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES (THE “EMPLOYEE RESERVATION PORTION”) AND A RESERVATION OF UP TO [¢] EQUITY
SHARES AGGREGATING UP TO %[e] MILLION (CONSTITUTING UP TO [e]% OF THE POST-OFFER PAID-UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL) FOR SUBSCRIPTION BY ELIGIBLE BOB SHAREHOLDERS (“SHAREHOLDER RESERVATION
PORTION”). THE OFFER LESS THE EMPLOYEE RESERVATION PORTION AND THE SHAREHOLDER RESERVATION PORTION IS HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS THE “NET OFFER”. THE OFFER AND THE NET OFFER WILL
CONSTITUTE [e]% AND [¢]% OF OUR POST-OFFER PAID-UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL, RESPECTIVELY.

OUR COMPANY MAY, IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BOOK RUNNING LEAD MANAGERS, CONSIDER A PRE-IPO PLACEMENT OF EQUITY SHARES BY WAY OF A PRIVATE PLACEMENT, PREFERENTIAL ALLOTMENT, RIGHTS
ISSUE OR SUCH OTHER METHOD AS MAY BE PERMITTED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, OF SUCH NUMBER OF EQUITY SHARES FOR CASH CONSIDERATION AGGREGATING UP TO % 1,000 MILLION, PRIOR TO FILING OF THE
RED HERRING PROSPECTUS WITH THE ROC (“PRE-IPO PLACEMENT”). THE PRE-IPO PLACEMENT, IF UNDERTAKEN, WILL BE AT A PRICE TO BE DECIDED BY OUR COMPANY IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BOOK RUNNING
LEAD MANAGERS. IF THE PRE-IPO PLACEMENT IS UNDERTAKEN, THE MINIMUM OFFER SIZE (COMPRISING THE FRESH ISSUE SO REDUCED BY THE AMOUNT RAISED FROM THE PRE-IPO PLACEMENT, AND THE OFFER
FOR SALE) SHALL CONSTITUTE AT LEAST []% OF THE POST-OFFER PAID-UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL OF OUR COMPANY.

THE FACE VALUE OF EQUITY SHARES IS %10 EACH. THE PRICE BAND AND THE MINIMUM BID LOT SHALL BE DECIDED BY OUR COMPANY AND SELLING SHAREHOLDERS IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BOOK RUNNING LEAD
MANAGERS AND WILL BE ADVERTISED IN ALL EDITIONS OF [e], AN ENGLISH NATIONAL DAILY NEWSPAPER, ALL EDITIONS OF [e], A HINDI NATIONAL DAILY NEWSPAPER AND [e] EDITIONS OF [e], A MARATHI DAILY
NEWSPAPER (MARATHI BEING THE REGIONAL LANGUAGE OF MAHARASHTRA, WHERE OUR REGISTERED AND CORPORATE OFFICE IS LOCATED), EACH WITH WIDE CIRCULATION AT LEAST TWO WORKING DAYS PRIOR
TO THE BID/ OFFER OPENING DATE AND SHALL BE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE BSE LIMITED (“BSE”) AND THE NATIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE OF INDIA LIMITED (“NSE”, TOGETHER WITH BSE, THE “STOCK EXCHANGES”) FOR
THE PURPOSE OF UPLOADING ON THEIR RESPECTIVE WEBSITES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (ISSUE OF CAPITAL AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2018, AS
AMENDED (“SEBI ICDR REGULATIONS™).
In case of any revision to the Price Band, the Bid/ Offer Period will be extended by at least three additional Working Days following such revision of the Price Band, subject to the Bid/ Offer Period not exceeding 10 Working Days. In cases of force majeure, banking strike
or similar circumstances, our Company and the Selling Shareholders in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, may for reasons to be recorded in writing, extend the Bid/ Offer Period for a minimum of three Working Days, subject to the Bid/ Offer Period not
exceeding 10 Working Days. Any revision in the Price Band and the revised Bid/ Offer Period, if applicable, will be widely disseminated by notification to the Stock Exchanges, by issuing a public notice, and a]so by indicating the change on the respective websites of the
Book Running Lead Managers and at the terminals of the di Memt and by intimation to Self-Certified Syndicate Banks (“SCSBs™), other Desi Intermediaries and the Sponsor Bank, as li
This Offer is being made in terms of Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended (“SCRR”™) read with Regulation 31 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Offer is being made in accordance with Regulation 6(2) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations and through a Book Building Process wherein not less than 75% of the Net Offer shall be allotted on a proportionate basis to Qualified Institutional Buyers (“QIBs™, and such portion, the “QIB Portion™), provided that our Company and the Selling Shareholders
may in consultation with Book Running Lead Managers, allocate up to 60% of the QIB Portion to Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations (“Anchor Investor Portion™), out of which at least one-third shall be reserved for
allocation to domestic Mutual Funds only, subject to valid Bids being received from the domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. In the event of under-subscription, or non-allocation in the
Anchor Investor Portion, the balance Equity Shares shall be added to the Net QIB Portion (defined hereinafter). Further, 5% of the Net QIB Portion (excluding the Anchor Investor Portion) shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis only to Mutual Funds, and
the remainder of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to all QIBs, including Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. However, if the aggregate demand from Mutual Funds is less than 5% of
the Net QIB Portion, the balance Equity Shares available for allocation in the Mutual Fund Portion will be added to the remaining QIB Portion for proportionate allocation to QIBs. Further, not more than 15% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation on a proportionate
basis to Non-Institutional Bidders, of which (a) one-third of such portion shall be reserved for applicants with application size of more than 200,000 and up to X1,000,000; and (b) two-third of such portion shall be reserved for applicants with application size of more than
21,000,000, provided that the unsubscribed portion in either of such sub-categories may be allocated to i in the other sub-category of N i Bidders and not more than 10% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation to Retail Individual Bidders
(“RIBs”) in accordance with SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. Further, Equity Shares will be allocated on a proportionate basis to Eligible Employees applying under the Employee Reservation Portion, subject to
valid Bids received from them at or above the Offer Price. All potential Bidders, other than Anchor Investors, are required to mandatorily utilise the Application Supported by Blocked Amount (“ASBA”™) process by providing details of their respective bank account
(including UPI ID (defined hereinafter) in case of UPI Bidders (defined hereinafter)) in which the corresponding Bid Amounts will be blocked by the SCSBs, or under the UPI Mechanism, as applicable to participate in the Offer. Anchor Investors are not permitted to
participate in the Anchor Investor Portion through the ASBA process. For details. see “Offer Procedure” beginning on page 430.
RISKS IN RELATION TO THE FIRST OFFER
This being the first public issue of Equity Shares of our Company, there has been no formal market for the Equity Shares. The face value of each Equity Share is Z10. The Floor Price, Cap Price and Offer Price (determined by our Company and the Selling Shareholders in
consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations), and on the basis of the assessment of market demand for the Eqully Shares by way of the Book Bu)ldmg Process as stated in “Basis for Offer Price” on page 109 should
not be taken to be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares after the Equity Shares are listed. No assurance can be given regarding an active or sustained trading i o the price at which the Equity Shares will be traded after listing.
GENERAL RISK
Investments in equity and equity-related securities involve a degree of risk and Bidders should not invest any funds in the Offer unless they can afford to take the risk of losing their investment. Bidders are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an investment
decision in the Offer. For taking an investment decision, Bidders must rely on their own examination of our Company and the Offer, including the risks involved. The Equity Shares in the Offer have neither been recommended, nor approved by the Securities and Exchange
Board of India , nor does SEBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of the contents of this Draft Red Herring ginning
DISCLAIMER CLAUSE OF THE INSURANCE REGULATORY AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF INDIA (“IRDAI”)
The IRDAI does not undertake any responsibility for the financial soundness of our Company or for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions expressed in this connection. Any approval by the IRDAI under the IRDAI Issuance of Capital Regulations (as
defined in “Definitions and Abbreviations™) shall not in any manner be deemed to be or serve as a validation of the representations by our Company in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. IRDAI does not guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of the contents or information in
this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. It is to be distinctly understood that this Draft Red Herring Prospectus should not in any way be deemed or construed to have been approved or vetted by IRDAL
COMPANY’S AND SELLING SHAREHOLDERS’ ABSOLUTE RESPONSIBILITY
Our Company, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for and confirms that this Draft Red Herring Prospectus contains all information with regard to our Company and the Offer, which is material in the context of the Offer, that the information
contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is true and correct in all material aspects and is not misleading in any material respect, that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are honestly held and that there are no other facts, the omission of which makes this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus as a whole or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading in any material respect. Further, each of the Selling Shareholders, severally and not jointly, accepts responsibility for and confirms only statements
expressly made by such Selling Shareholder in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus solely in relation to itself and its respective portion of the Offered Shares and assumes responsibility that such statements are true and correct in all material respects and not misleading in any
material respect. However, none of the Selling Shareholders, severally and not jointly, assume any ibility for any other and undertaking, including, inter alia, any of the statements and undertakings made by or relating to our Company or its business or
any other Selling Shareholders or any other person(s) in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

LISTING
The Equity Shares offered through the Red Herring Prospectus are proposed to be listed on the Stock Exchanges. Our Company has received ‘in-principle’ approvals from BSE and NSE for the listing of the Equity Shares pursuant to letters dated [e] and [e], respectively.
For the purposes of the Offer, the Designated Stock Exchange shall be [@]. A copy of the Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus shall be filed with the RoC in accordance under Section 26(4) and Section 32 of the Companies Act. For details of the material contracts
and documents available for inspection from the date of the Red Herring Prospectus up to the Bid/ Offer Closing Date, see “Material Contracts and Documents for Inspection” beginni
BOOK RUNNING LEAD MANAGERS TO THE OFFER

ICICI Securities Limited Ambit Private Limited BNP Paribas BOB Capital Markets Limited*

ICICI Venture House, Appasaheb Marathe Marg Ambit House, 449 Senapati Bapat Marg 1-North Avenue, Maker Maxity, Bandra Kurla Complex 1704, B Wing, 17th Floor, Pariness Crescenzo
Prabhadevi, Mumbai 400 025 Lower Parel, Mumbai 400 013 Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051 Plot No. C - 38/39, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex
Mabharashtra, India Mabharashtra, India Mabharashtra, India Bandra (East) Mumbai - 400 025

Tel: +91 22 6807 7100 Tel: +91 22 6623 3030 Tel: +91 22 3370 4000 Maharashtra, India

E-mail: indiafirst.ipo@icicisecurities.com E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@ambit.co E-mail: DL.IFLICL.ipo@asia.bnpparibas.com Tel: +91 22 6138 9353

Investor Grievance ID: customercare@icicisecurities.com Website: www.ambit.co Website: www.bnpparibas.co.in E-mail : indiafirstlife.ipo@bobcaps.in

Website: www.icicisecurities.com Investor Grievance ID: customerservicemb@ambit.co Investor Grievance ID: indiail @asia.bnpparibas.com | Website: www.bobcaps.in

Contact Person: Sameer Purohit / Gaurav Mittal Contact Person: Nikhil Bhiwapurkar / Devanshi Shah Contact Person: Piyush Ramchandani Investor Grievance ID: investorgrievance@bobcaps.in
SEBI Registration No: INM000011179 SEBI Registration No: INM000010585 SEBI Registration No.: INM000011534 Contact Person: Ninad Jape / Nivedika Chavan

SEBI Registration Number: INM000009926
Jefferies KrFINTZCH

HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India) Private Limited | Jefferies India Private Limited JM Financial Limited KFin Technologies Limited
52/60, Mahatama Gandhi Road, Fort, Mumbai 400 001 42/43, 2 North Avenue, Maker Maxity 7" Floor, Cnergy (formerly known as KFin Technologies Private Limited)
Maharashtra, India Bandra Kurla Complex Appasaheb Marathe Marg Selenium, Tower B, Plot No- 31 and 32, Financial District
Tel: +91 22 2268 5555 Bandra (East) Mumbai 400 051 Prabhadevi, Mumbai - 400 025 Nanakramguda, Serilingampally
E-mail: indiafirstlifeipo@hsbe.co.in Maharashtra, India Maharashtra, India Hyderabad, Rangareedi 500 032
Investor Grievance ID: investorgrievance@hsbe.co.in Tel: +91 22 4356 6000 Tel: +91 22 6630 3030 Telangana, India
Website: E-mail: IndiaFirstLifeInsurance. IPO@jefferies.com E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@jmfl.com Tel: +91 40 6716 2222
https://www.business.hsbe.co.in/en-gb/in/generic/ipo-open-offer- | Website: www.jefferies.com Website: www.jmfl.com E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@kfintech.com
and-buyback Investor Grievance ID: jipl.grievance@jefferies.com Investor Grievance ID: grievance.ibd@jmfl.com Website: www.kfintech.com
Contact person: Rishi Tiwari / Rachit Rajgaria Contact Person: Suhani Bhareja Contact Person: Prachee Dhuri Investor Grievance ID: einward.ris@kfintech.com
SEBI Registration No: INM000010353 SEBI Registration No: INM000011443 SEBI Registration No: INM000010361 Contact Person: M Murali Krishna
SEBI Registration Number: INR00000022 1

BID/ OFFER SCHEDULE ‘
BID/ OFFER OPENS ON [o]® BID/ OFFER CLOSES ON [e]®
*BOB Capital Markets Limited is an associate of Bank of Baroda, one of the Promoter Selling Shareholders, in terms of the SEBI Merchant Bankers R i A 1i li with the proviso to Regulation 21A(1) of the SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations

read with Regulation 23(3) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, BOB Capital Markets Limited would be involved only in the marketing of the Offer. BOB Capital Markets Limited as: signed the due diligence certificate and has been disclosed as a Book Running Lead Manager.

(1) Our Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider participation by Anchor Investors in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period shall be one Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer
Opening Date.

() Our Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the BRLMs, may consider closing the Bid/ Offer Period for QIBs one Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Closing Date in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
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SECTION I: GENERAL
DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Draft Red Herring Prospectus uses certain definitions and abbreviations which, unless the context otherwise indicates or
implies, or unless otherwise specified, shall have the meaning as provided below. References to any legislations, acts,
regulations, rules, directions, guidelines, circulars, notifications, clarifications or policies shall be to such legislations, acts,
regulations, rules, guidelines or policies as amended, updated, supplemented, re-enacted or modified, from time to time, and
any reference to a statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation made, from time to time, under such provision.

The words and expressions used in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, but not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed
to such terms under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, SEBI Listing Regulations, the Companies Act, the SCRA, the Depositories Act
and the IRDAI Issuance of Capital Regulations and the rules and regulations made thereunder.

The terms not defined herein but used in the sections titled “Basis of Offer Price”, “Statement of Special Tax Benefits”,
“Industry Overview”, “Our Business”, “Key Regulations and Policies in India”, “History and Certain Corporate Matters”,
“Our Group Companies”, “Financial Information”, “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments”, “Olffer Procedure”
and “Description of Equity Shares and Terms of Articles of Association” on pages 109, 112, 125, 167, 204, 223, 253, 257, 372,

430 and 449, respectively, shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in these respective sections.

General Terms

Term Description

“our Company” or “the Issuer” or | IndiaFirst Life Insurance Company Limited, a public limited company incorporated under the
“the Company” Companies Act, 1956 and having its Registered and Corporate Office at 12t and 13" Floor, North C
Wing, Tower 4, Nesco IT Park, Western Express Highway, Goregaon (East), Mumbai 400 063,
Mabharashtra, India

“we” or “us” or “our” Unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, refers to our Company

Company Related Terms

Term Description

Appointed Actuary Appointed actuary of our Company, namely Bhavna Verma

“Articles of Association” or “AoA” | Articles of association of our Company, as amended
or “Articles”

Audit Committee Audit committee of our Board, as described in “Our Management — Committees of the Board” on page
234

Board” or “Board of Directors” Board of Directors of our Company, as constituted from time to time

“BOB” or “Bank of Baroda” Bank of Baroda, one of the Promoters of our Company

“Carmel Point India” or “Carmel | Carmel Point Investments India Private Limited, one of the Promoters of our Company
Point Investments India Private
Limited”

Chairman Non-executive chairman of our Board, namely, Sanjiv Chadha

“Chief Financial Officer” or “CFO” | Chief financial officer of our Company, namely, Kedar Patki

Committee(s) Duly constituted committee(s) of our Board of Directors

Company Secretary and | Company secretary and compliance officer of our Company, namely, Aniket Krishnaji Karandikar
Compliance Officer

“Corporate Social Responsibility | Corporate social responsibility committee of our Board, as described in “Our Management —
Committee” or “CSR Committee” | Committees of the Board” on page 234

Director(s) Director(s) on the Board

Embedded Value Report Embedded value report titled “Reporting Actuary’s Report on Indian Embedded Value as at 31 March
2022 dated September 12, 2022, issued by the Independent Actuary

Equity Shares The equity shares of our Company bearing face value of 310 each

ESOP Scheme IndiaFirst Life Insurance Employee Stock Option Plan 2022

Executive Director Executive director of our Company, namely R.M. Vishakha. For details, see “Our Management”
beginning on page 228

Group Companies The group companies of our Company in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. For details,

see “Group Companies” on page 253

Holding Company Holding company of our Company, namely Bank of Baroda

Independent Actuary Independent actuary, namely Willis Towers Watson Actuarial Advisory LLP

1



Term

Description

Independent Director(s)

Independent director(s) of our Board. For details of the Independent Directors, see “Our Management”
beginning on page 228

Insurance Ombudsman

Insurance Ombudsman as defined under the Insurance Ombudsman Rules, 2017 as amended

Investment Committee

Investment committee of our Board, as described in “Our Management — Committees of the Board”
on page 234

IPO Committee

The IPO committee of our Board

“Joint Statutory  Auditors”
“Statutory Auditors”

or

Mehta Chokshi & Shah LLP and N S Gokhale & Company, the joint statutory auditors of our Company

Key Managerial Personnel

Key managerial personnel of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(bb) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations and Section 2(51) of the Companies Act, as described in “Our Management — Key
Managerial Personnel” on page 244

Managing Director and Chief

Executive Officer

R.M. Vishakha, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. For details, see
“Our Management” beginning on page 228

“Memorandum of Association” or
“MOA”

Memorandum of association of our Company, as amended

“Nomination and Remuneration
Committee” or “NRC Committee”

Nomination and remuneration committee of our Board, as described in “Our Management —
Committees of the Board” on page 234

Non-Executive Directors

The non-executive directors (other than Independent Directors) of our Company in terms of the
Companies Act, as set out in “Our Management” beginning on page 228

Other Selling Shareholder

Union Bank of India

Policyholders’ Protection

Committee

Policyholders’ protection committee of our Board, as described in “Our Management — Committees
of the Board” on page 234

Promoter Group(s)

The entities constituting the promoter group of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(pp) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations, as described in “Our Promoters and Promoter Group” on page 247

Promoter Selling Shareholders

Collectively, Bank of Baroda and Carmel Point Investments India Private Limited

Promoters

Promoters of our Company, namely Bank of Baroda and Carmel Point Investments India Private
Limited

Registered and Corporate Office

12% and 13™ Floor, North C Wing, Tower 4, Nesco IT Park, Western Express Highway, Goregaon
(East), Mumbai 400 063, Maharashtra, India

“Registrar of Companies” or “RoC”

Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai

“Restated Financial Information” or
“Restated Financial Statements”

The financial information prepared by the management of our Company from its audited financial
statements for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and for the financial years ended March 31, 2022,
March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 (prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP, the Insurance Act,
the IRDA Act and the IRDAI Preparation of Financial Statements Regulations) and examined by the
Joint Statutory Auditors in accordance with the requirements of the relevant provisions of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations and the IRDAI Issuance of Capital Regulations and the Guidance Note on “Reports
in Company Prospectuses (Revised 2019)” issued by ICAIL, as amended from time to time

Risk Management Committee

Risk management committee of our Board, as described in “Our Management — Committees of the
Board” on page 234

Shareholder(s)

Equity shareholder(s) of our Company from time to time

Shareholders’ Agreement

Subscription and shareholders’ agreement dated March 4, 2008 entered into by and amongst our
Company, Bank of Baroda, Andhra Bank (now Union Bank) and Legal & General Group PLC, as
amended pursuant to a letter dated March 5, 2009. Our Company was made party to the shareholders’
agreement pursuant to a deed of adherence dated September 25, 2009, and the shareholders’ agreement
was further amended by the second amendment agreement dated October 9, 2009, third amendment
agreement dated October 10, 2016, fourth amendment agreement dated May 26, 2017, fifth
amendment agreement dated July 4, 2019, sixth amendment agreement dated September 6, 2022 and
further amended pursuant to the amendment cum termination agreement dated October 21, 2022

Selling Shareholders Collectively, the Promoter Selling Shareholders and the Other Selling Shareholder
Stakeholders’ Relationship | Stakeholders’ relationship committee of our Board, as described in “Our Management — Committees
Committee of the Board” on page 234

“UBI” or “Union Bank” or “Union
Bank of India”

Union Bank of India, one of the Shareholders of our Company

Warburg Pincus Group

The investment funds (whether incorporated or not) that are managed or advised by Warburg Pincus
LLC, provided that the portfolio companies of such investment funds shall not form part of the
Warburg Pincus Group

Warburg Pincus LLC

A limited liability company organized under the laws of New York and whose registered office is
situated at 450 Lexington Avenue, New York NY 10017, USA




Term

Description

With Profits Committee

With profits committee of our Board, as described in “Our Management — Committees of the Board”
on page 234

Offer Related Terms

Term

Description

Acknowledgement Slip

The slip or document issued by the relevant Designated Intermediary(ies) to a Bidder as proof of
registration of the Bid cum Application Form

Allot, Allotment or Allotted

Unless the context otherwise requires, allotment (in case of the Fresh Issue) or transfer (in case of the
Offered Shares pursuant to the Offer for Sale), of the Equity Shares pursuant to the Offer to the
successful Bidders

Allotment Advice A note or advice or intimation of Allotment sent to the successful Bidders who have been or are to be
Allotted the Equity Shares after the Basis of Allotment has been approved by the Designated Stock
Exchange

Allottee A successful Bidder to whom the Equity Shares are Allotted

Ambit Ambit Private Limited

Anchor Investor

A Qualified Institutional Buyer, applying under the Anchor Investor Portion in accordance with the
requirements specified in the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Red Herring Prospectus and who has
Bid for an amount of at least 100 million

Anchor Investor Allocation Price

The price at which Equity Shares will be allocated to the Anchor Investors in terms of the Red Herring
Prospectus, which will be decided by our Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with
the Book Running Lead Managers during the Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period

Anchor Investor Application Form

The application form used by an Anchor Investor to make a Bid in the Anchor Investor Portion in
accordance with the requirements specified under the SEBI ICDR Regulations and which will be
considered as an application for Allotment in terms of the Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus

Anchor Investor Bidding Date

The day, being one Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Opening Date, on which Bids by Anchor
Investors shall be submitted, prior to and after which the Book Running Lead Managers will not accept
any Bids from Anchor Investors, and allocation to Anchor Investors shall be completed

Anchor Investor Offer Price

The final price at which the Equity Shares will be Allotted to the Anchor Investors in terms of the Red
Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, which price will be equal to or higher than the Offer Price but
not higher than the Cap Price.

The Anchor Investor Offer Price will be decided by our Company and the Selling Shareholders, in
consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers

Anchor Investor Pay-in Date

With respect to Anchor Investor(s), the Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period, and in the event the Anchor
Investor Allocation Price is lower than the Anchor Investor Offer Price, not later than two Working
Days after the Bid/ Offer Closing Date

Anchor Investor Portion

Up to 60% of the QIB Portion or up to [®] Equity Shares which may be allocated by our Company
and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, to the Anchor
Investors on a discretionary basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

One-third of the Anchor Investor Portion shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds, subject to valid
Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price, in
accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations

“Application Supported by Blocked

An application, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders, to make a Bid and authorising

Amount” or | an SCSB to block the Bid Amount in the relevant ASBA Account and will include amounts blocked

“ASBA” by the SCSB upon acceptance of UPI Mandate Request by UPI Bidders using the UPI Mechanism

ASBA Account A bank account maintained by ASBA Bidders with an SCSB and specified in the ASBA Form
submitted by such ASBA Bidder in which funds will be blocked by such SCSB to the extent as
specified in the ASBA Form submitted by such ASBA Bidder and includes a bank account maintained
by a UPI Bidder linked to a UPI ID, which will be blocked by the SCSB upon acceptance of the UPI
Mandate Request in relation to a Bid by a UPI Bidder Bidding through the UPI Mechanism

ASBA Bid A Bid made by an ASBA Bidder

ASBA Bidders All Bidders except Anchor Investors

ASBA Form An application form, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders to submit Bids, which
will be considered as the application for Allotment in terms of the Red Herring Prospectus and the
Prospectus

Banker(s) to the Offer Collectively, the Escrow Collection Bank, Refund Bank, Public Offer Bank and Sponsor Bank, as the

case may be

Basis of Allotment

The basis on which Equity Shares will be Allotted to successful Bidders under the Offer. For details,
see “Offer Procedure” beginning on page 430




Term

Description

Bid(s)

An indication to make an offer during the Bid/ Offer Period by an ASBA Bidder pursuant to
submission of the ASBA Form, or during the Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period by an Anchor
Investor, pursuant to submission of the Anchor Investor Application Form, to subscribe to or purchase
the Equity Shares at a price within the Price Band, including all revisions and modifications thereto as
permitted under the SEBI ICDR Regulations and in terms of the Red Herring Prospectus and the Bid
cum Application Form. The term “Bidding” shall be construed accordingly

Bid Amount

The highest value of optional Bids indicated in the Bid cum Application Form and payable by the
Bidder or blocked in the ASBA Account of the ASBA Bidder, as the case may be, upon submission
of the Bid, as applicable.

However, RIBs can apply at the Cut-off Price and the Bid amount shall be Cap Price, multiplied by
the number of Equity Shares Bid for by such RIBs mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form.

Eligible Employees applying in the Employee Reservation Portion can apply at the Cut-off Price and
the Bid amount shall be Cap Price multiplied by the number of Equity Shares Bid for by such Eligible
Employee and mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form.

The maximum Bid Amount under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible Employee shall
not exceed ¥500,000. However, the initial Allotment to an Eligible Employee in the Employee
Reservation Portion shall not exceed 200,000 in value. Only in the event of under-subscription in the
Employee Reservation portion, the unsubscribed portion will be available for allocation and
Allotment, proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of 200,000, subject to
the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee not exceeding 3500,000.

Eligible BOB Sharcholders applying in the Shareholder Reservation Portion (subject to the Bid
Amount being up to 3200,000) can apply at the Cut-off Price and the Bid amount shall be Cap Price
multiplied by the number of Equity Shares Bid for by such Eligible BOB Shareholder and mentioned
in the Bid cum Application Form

Bid cum Application Form

Anchor Investor Application Form or the ASBA Form, as the context requires

Bid Lot

[®] Equity Shares and in multiples of [®] Equity Shares thereafter

Bid/ Offer Closing Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the date after which the Designated
Intermediaries will not accept any Bids, being [e], which shall be notified in all editions of [e], an
English national daily newspaper, all editions of [®], a Hindi national daily newspaper and [®] editions
of [e], a Marathi daily newspaper (Marathi being the regional language of Maharashtra, where our
Registered and Corporate Office is located), each with wide circulation.

In case of any revisions, the extended Bid/ Offer Closing Date will be widely disseminated by
notification to the Stock Exchanges, by issuing a public notice, and also by indicating the change on
the websites of the Book Running Lead Managers and at the terminals of the other members of the
Syndicate and by intimation to the Designated Intermediaries and the Sponsor Bank(s), which shall
also be notified in an advertisement in the same newspapers in which the Bid/ Offer Opening Date
was published, as required under the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Our Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers,
may consider closing the Bid/ Offer Period for QIBs one Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Closing
Date in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, which shall also be notified by advertisement in
the same newspapers where the Bid/ Offer Opening Date was published, in accordance with the SEBI
ICDR Regulations

Bid/ Offer Opening Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the date on which the Designated
Intermediaries shall start accepting Bids, being [e], which shall be notified in all editions of [e], an
English national daily newspaper, all editions of @], a Hindi national daily newspaper and [®] editions
of [e], a Marathi daily newspaper (Marathi being the regional language of Maharashtra, where our
Registered and Corporate Office is located), each with wide circulation

Bid/ Offer Period

Except in relation to Anchor Investors, the period between the Bid/ Offer Opening Date and the Bid/
Offer Closing Date, inclusive of both days, during which Bidders can submit their Bids, including any
revisions thereof, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, provided that such period shall be
kept open for a minimum of three Working Days.

Our Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers,
may consider closing the Bid/ Offer Period for QIBs one Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Closing
Date in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Bidder/Applicant

Any prospective investor who makes a Bid pursuant to the terms of the Red Herring Prospectus and
the Bid cum Application Form and unless otherwise stated or implied, which includes an ASBA Bidder
and an Anchor Investor

Bidding Centres

The centres at which the Designated Intermediaries shall accept the Bid cum Application Forms, being
the Designated Branches for SCSBs, Specified Locations for the Syndicate, Broker Centres for
Registered Brokers, Designated RTA Locations for RTAs and Designated CDP Locations for CDPs

BNP

BNP Paribas

BOBCAPS

BOB Capital Markets Limited




Term

Description

Book Building Process

Book building process, as provided in Part A of Schedule XIII of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, in terms
of which the Offer is being made

“Book Running Lead Managers” or
“BRLMs”

The book running lead managers to the Offer namely, I-Sec, Ambit, BNP, BOBCAPS*, HSBC,
Jefferies and JM Financial

*BOBCAPS is an associate of Bank of Baroda, one of the Promoter Selling Shareholders, in terms of
the SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations. Accordingly, in compliance with the proviso to Regulation
21A(1) of the SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations read with Regulation 23(3) of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, BOBCAPS would be involved only in the marketing of the Offer. BOBCAPS has signed
the due diligence certificate and has been disclosed as a Book Running Lead Manager.

Broker Centres

Broker centres notified by the Stock Exchanges where ASBA Bidders can submit the ASBA Forms to
a Registered Broker.

The details of such Broker Centres, along with the names and the contact details of the Registered
Brokers are available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and
www.nseindia.com)

Cap Price

The higher end of the Price Band, subject to any revisions thereto, above which the Offer Price and
Anchor Investor Offer Price will not be finalised and above which no Bids will be accepted. The Cap
Price shall be at least 105% of the Floor Price

Cash Escrow and Sponsor Bank
Agreement

The cash escrow and sponsor bank agreement dated [®], to be entered into among our Company, the
Selling Shareholders, the Book Running Lead Managers, the Registrar to the Offer, the Banker(s) to
the Offer and the Syndicate Members for, inter alia, collection of the Bid Amounts from the Anchor
Investors, transfer of funds to the Public Offer Account and where applicable, refunds of the amounts
collected from the Anchor Investors, on the terms and conditions thereof, in accordance with the UPI
Circulars

Client ID

The client identification number maintained with one of the Depositories in relation to dematerialized
account

“Collecting Depository Participant”
or “CDP”

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996, registered with SEBI and who
is eligible to procure Bids from relevant Bidders at the Designated CDP Locations in terms of SEBI
circular number CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015 as per the list available
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchanges, as updated from time to time

“Confirmation of Allocation Note”
or “CAN”

A notice or intimation of allocation of the Equity Shares sent to Anchor Investors, who have been
allocated Equity Shares, on or after the Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period

CRISIL Report

Report titled “Analysis of Life Insurance Industry in India” dated October 20, 2022 issued by CRISIL
Limited and commissioned by our Company

Cut-off Price

The Offer Price, finalised by our Company and the Selling Shareholders in consultation with the Book
Running Lead Managers, which shall be any price within the Price Band.

Only Retail Individual Bidders Bidding in the Retail Portion, Eligible Employees Bidding in the
Employee Reservation Portion and Eligible BOB Shareholders Bidding in the Shareholder
Reservation Portion (subject to the Bid Amount being 3200,000) are entitled to Bid at the Cut-off
Price. QIBs (including the Anchor Investors), Non-Institutional Bidders and Eligible BOB
Shareholders submitting Bid Amount of more than 200,000 under the Shareholder Reservation
Portion are not entitled to Bid at the Cut-off Price

Demographic Details

The demographic details of the Bidders including the Bidders’ address, name of the Bidders’ father or
husband, investor status, occupation, bank account details, PAN and UPI ID, where applicable

Designated Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the ASBA Forms from relevant Bidders, a list of
which is available on the website of SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmId=35, at
such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time

or

Designated CDP Locations

Such locations of the CDPs where relevant ASBA Bidders can submit the ASBA Forms.

The details of such Designated CDP Locations, along with names and contact details of the CDPs
eligible to accept ASBA Forms are available on the websites of the Stock Exchanges
(www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com)

Designated Date

The date on which the Escrow Collection Bank(s) transfer funds from the Escrow Account to the
Public Offer Account or the Refund Account, as the case may be, and the instructions are issued to the
SCSBs (in case of UPI Bidders using UPI Mechanism, instruction issued through the Sponsor Bank(s)
for the transfer of amounts blocked by the SCSBs in the ASBA Accounts to the Public Offer Account,
in terms of the Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, following which the Equity Shares will be
Allotted in the Offer

Designated Intermediary(ies)

Collectively, the members of the Syndicate, sub-syndicate or agents, SCSBs (other than in relation to
RIBs using the UPI Mechanism), Registered Brokers, CDPs and RTAs, who are authorised to collect
Bid cum Application Forms from the relevant Bidders, in relation to the Offer.

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by RIBs with an application size of up to ¥200,000, Eligible
Employees, Eligible BOB Sharcholders and Non-Institutional Bidders Bidding with an application
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Term

Description

size of up to 500,000 (not using the UPI Mechanism) by authorising an SCSB to block the Bid
Amount in the ASBA Account, Designated Intermediaries shall mean SCSBs.

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by UPI Bidders where the Bid Amount will be blocked upon
acceptance of UPI Mandate Request by such UPI Bidders using the UPI Mechanism, Designated
Intermediaries shall mean Syndicate, sub-syndicate/agents, Registered Brokers, SCSBs, CDPs and
RTAs.

In relation to ASBA Forms submitted by QIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders (not using the UPI
Mechanism), Designated Intermediaries shall mean Syndicate, Sub-Syndicate/ agents, SCSBs,
Registered Brokers, the CDPs and RTAs

Designated RTA Locations

Such locations of the RTAs where relevant ASBA Bidders can submit the ASBA Forms to RTAs.

The details of such Designated RTA Locations, along with names and contact details of the RTAs
eligible to accept ASBA Forms are available on the websites of the Stock Exchanges
(www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com)

Designated Stock Exchange

[e]

“Draft Red Herring Prospectus” or
“DRHP”

This draft red herring prospectus dated October 21, 2022 filed with SEBI and issued in accordance
with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, which does not contain complete particulars of the price at which
the Equity Shares will be Allotted and the size of the Offer, including any addenda or corrigenda
thereto

Eligible BOB Shareholders

Individuals and HUFs who are the public equity shareholders of Bank of Baroda, one of our Promoters
(excluding such persons who are not eligible to invest in the Offer under applicable laws, rules,
regulations and guidelines) as on the date of the filing of the Red Herring Prospectus.

The maximum Bid Amount under the Shareholder Reservation Portion by an Eligible BOB
Shareholder shall not exceed the Shareholder Reservation Portion

Eligible Employee(s)

All or any of the following: (a) a permanent employee of our Company or Bank of Baroda, one of our
Promoters, working in or outside India (excluding such employees who are not eligible to invest in the
Offer under applicable laws of the jurisdictions other than India) as of the date of filing of the Red
Herring Prospectus with the RoC and who continues to be a permanent employee of our Company or
Bank of Baroda, until the submission of the Bid cum Application Form; and (b) a Director of our
Company, whether whole time or not, who is eligible to apply under the Employee Reservation Portion
under applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines as on the date of filing of the Red Herring
Prospectus with the RoC and who continues to be a Director of our Company, until the submission of
the Bid cum Application Form, but not including Directors who either themselves or through their
relatives or through any body corporate, directly or indirectly, hold more than 10% of the outstanding
Equity Shares of our Company.

The maximum Bid Amount under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible Employee shall
not exceed 3500,000. However, the initial Allotment to an Eligible Employee in the Employee
Reservation Portion shall not exceed 3200,000. Only in the event of under-subscription in the
Employee Reservation Portion, the unsubscribed portion will be available for allocation and
Allotment, proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of 200,000, subject to
the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee not exceeding 500,000

Eligible FPI(s)

FPI(s) that are eligible to participate in the Offer in terms of applicable law and from such jurisdictions
outside India where it is not unlawful to make an offer/ invitation under the Offer and in relation to
whom the Bid cum Application Form and the Red Herring Prospectus constitutes an invitation to
purchase the Equity Shares

Eligible NRI(s)

NRI(s) eligible to invest under Schedule 3 and Schedule 4 of the FEMA Rules, from jurisdictions
outside India where it is not unlawful to make an offer or invitation under the Offer and in relation to
whom the Bid cum Application Form and the Red Herring Prospectus will constitute an invitation to
purchase the Equity Shares

Employee Reservation Portion

The portion of the Offer being up to [e] Equity Shares, aggregating up to I[e] available for allocation
to Eligible Employees, on a proportionate basis. Such portion shall not exceed 5.00% of the post-Offer
Equity Share capital of our Company

Escrow Account(s)

The ‘no-lien’ and ‘non-interest bearing’ account(s) opened with the Escrow Collection Bank and in
whose favour the Bidders (excluding the ASBA Bidders) will transfer money through direct
credit/NEFT/RTGS/NACH in respect of the Bid Amount when submitting a Bid

Escrow Collection Bank(s)

Bank(s), which are clearing members and registered with SEBI as a banker to an issue under the SEBI
BTI Regulations and with whom the Escrow Account will be opened, in this case being, [®]

First Bidder/Sole Bidder

The Bidder whose name shall be mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form or the Revision Form
and in case of joint Bids, whose name also appears as the first holder of the beneficiary account held
in joint names

Floor Price

The lower end of the Price Band, subject to any revision thereto, not being less than the face value of
the Equity Shares at or above which the Offer Price and the Anchor Investor Offer Price will be
finalised and below which no Bids will be accepted
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Term

Description

Fraudulent Borrower

Fraudulent borrower as defined under Regulation 2(1)(11l) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Fresh Issue

Fresh issue of up to [®] Equity Shares aggregating up to 35,000 million by our Company.

Our Company may, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, consider a Pre-IPO
Placement of such number of Equity Shares for cash consideration aggregating up to % 1,000 million,
prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken,
will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead
Managers. If the Pre-IPO Placement is undertaken, the minimum Offer size (comprising the Fresh
Issue so reduced by the amount raised from the Pre-IPO Placement, and the Offer for Sale) shall
constitute at least [®]% of the post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company

Fugitive Economic Offender

An individual who is declared a fugitive economic offender under Section 12 of the Fugitive Economic
Offenders Act, 2018

“General Information Document”
or “GID”

The General Information Document for investing in public issues, prepared and issued in accordance
with the SEBI circular (SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2020/37) dated March 17, 2020, as updated and
the UPI Circulars. The General Information Document shall be available on the websites of the Stock
Exchanges and the Book Running Lead Managers

HSBC HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India) Private Limited
I-Sec ICICI Securities Limited

Jefferies Jefteries India Private Limited

M Financial JM Financial Limited

Minimum Non-Institutional | Bid Amount of more than 200,000

Bidders Application Size

Mutual Fund Portion 5% of the Net QIB Portion or [e®] Equity Shares which shall be available for allocation to Mutual
Funds only on a proportionate basis, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price

Mutual Funds Mutual funds registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds)
Regulations, 1996

Net Offer The Offer less the Employee Reservation Portion and the Shareholder Reservation Portion

Net Proceeds Proceeds of the Fresh Issue less our Company’s share of the Offer expenses. For details in relation to
use of the Net Proceeds and the Offer expenses, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 104

Net QIB Portion The portion of the QIB Portion less the number of Equity Shares Allotted to the Anchor Investors

“Non-Institutional ~ Bidders” or | All Bidders that are not QIBs, RIBs or Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation

“NIBs” Portion and who have Bid for Equity Shares, for an amount of more than 200,000 (but not including

NRIs other than Eligible NRIs)

Non-Institutional Portion

The portion of the Offer being not more than 15% of the Net Offer comprising [®] Equity Shares
which shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis or any other manner as introduced in
accordance with applicable laws, to Non-Institutional Bidders, subject to valid Bids being received at
or above the Offer Price. One-third of the portion available to Non-Institutional Bidders shall be
reserved for applicants with application size of more than 3200,000 and up to 31,000,000 and two-
third of the portion available to Non-Institutional Bidders shall be reserved for applicants with
application size of more than %1,000,000, provided that the unsubscribed portion in either of the sub-
categories, may be allocated to applicants in the other sub-category of Non-Institutional Bidders in
accordance with SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer
Price

Non-Resident

A person resident outside India, as defined under FEMA and includes NRIs, FPIs and FVClIs

“Non-Resident Indians” or | A non-resident Indian as defined under the FEMA Rules

“NRI(S)”

Offer The initial public offer of Equity Shares comprising the Fresh Issue and the Offer for Sale. The Offer
comprises the Net Offer, the Employee Reservation Portion and the Shareholder Reservation Portion

Offer Agreement The offer agreement dated October 21, 2022 entered into between our Company, the Selling
Shareholders, and the Book Running Lead Managers, pursuant to which certain arrangements are
agreed upon in relation to the Offer

Offer for Sale The offer for sale of up to 89,015,734 Equity Shares aggregating up to 3[®] million by Bank of Baroda,
up to 39,227,273 Equity Shares aggregating up to X[e] million by Carmel Point Investments India
Private Limited and up to 13,056,415 Equity Shares aggregating up to X[e] million by Union Bank

Offer Price The final price at which Equity Shares will be Allotted to ASBA Bidders in terms of the Red Herring

Prospectus. Equity Shares will be Allotted to Anchor Investors at the Anchor Investor Offer Price in
terms of the Red Herring Prospectus.

The Offer Price will be decided by our Company and the Selling Shareholders in consultation with the
Book Running Lead Managers on the Pricing Date in accordance with the Book Building Process and
the Red Herring Prospectus




Term

Description

Offered Shares

Up to 141,299,422 Equity Shares aggregating up to I[e] million offered for sale by the Selling
Shareholders in the Offer for Sale

Pre-IPO Placement

The private placement, preferential allotment, rights issue or issue of equity shares through such other
method as may be permitted under applicable law, of such number of Equity Shares for cash
consideration aggregating up to X 1,000 million, which may be undertaken by our Company in
consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with
the RoC. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in
consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers.

If the Pre-IPO Placement is undertaken, the minimum Offer size (comprising the Fresh Issue so
reduced by the amount raised from the Pre-IPO Placement, and the Offer for Sale) shall constitute at
least [®]% of the post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company

Price Band

The price band of a minimum price of X[®] per Equity Share (Floor Price) and the maximum price of
X[ @] per Equity Share (Cap Price) including revisions thereof.

The Price Band and the minimum Bid Lot for the Offer will be decided by our Company and the
Selling Shareholders in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers and will be advertised in
all editions of [e], an English national daily newspaper, all editions of [e®], a Hindi national daily
newspaper and [e] editions of [e], a Marathi daily newspaper (Marathi being the regional language of
Mabharashtra, where our Registered and Corporate Office is located), each with wide circulation at
least two Working Days prior to the Bid/ Offer Opening Date and shall be available to the Stock
Exchanges for the purpose of uploading on their respective websites

Pricing Date

The date on which our Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Book Running
Lead Managers, will finalise the Offer Price

Prospectus

The prospectus to be filed with the RoC on or after the Pricing Date in accordance with Section 26 of
the Companies Act, and the SEBI ICDR Regulations containing, inter alia, the Offer Price that is
determined at the end of the Book Building Process, the size of the Offer and certain other information
including any addenda or corrigenda thereto

Public Offer Account

The ‘no-lien” and ‘non-interest bearing’ account to be opened, in accordance with Section 40(3) of the
Companies Act, with the Public Offer Bank to receive monies from the Escrow Account and the ASBA
Accounts on the Designated Date

Public Offer Bank(s)

Bank(s) which are a clearing member and registered with SEBI as a banker to an issue, and with whom
the Public Offer Account for collection of Bid Amounts from Escrow Accounts and ASBA Accounts
will be opened, in this case being [®]

QIB Portion

The portion of the Offer (including the Anchor Investor Portion) being not less than 75% of the Net
Offer comprising [®] Equity Shares which shall be allocated to QIBs (including Anchor Investors),
subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price or Anchor Investor Offer Price (for
Anchor Investors)

“QIBs” or “QIB Bidders”
“Qualified Institutional Buyers”

or

Qualified institutional buyers as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

“Red Herring Prospectus”
“RHP”

or

The red herring prospectus to be issued by our Company in accordance with Section 32 of the
Companies Act, and the provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, which will not have complete
particulars of the price at which the Equity Shares will be offered and the size of the Offer, including
any addenda or corrigenda thereto.

The Red Herring Prospectus will be filed with the RoC at least three Working Days before the Bid/
Offer Opening Date and will become the Prospectus upon filing with the RoC after the Pricing Date

Refund Account(s) The ‘no-lien’ and ‘non-interest bearing’ account opened with the Refund Bank, from which refunds,
if any, of the whole or part, of the Bid Amount to the Anchor Investors shall be made
Refund Bank(s) The Banker(s) to the Offer with whom the Refund Account(s) will be opened, in this case being [®]

Registered Brokers

The stockbrokers registered with the stock exchanges having nationwide terminals, other than the
members of the Syndicate and eligible to procure Bids from relevant Bidders in terms of the SEBI
circular number CIR/CFD/14/2012 dated October 4, 2012 issued by SEBI and the UPI Circulars

Registrar Agreement

Registrar agreement dated October 21, 2022 entered into between our Company, the Selling
Shareholders and the Registrar to the Offer, in relation to the responsibilities and obligations of the
Registrar pertaining to the Offer

“Registrar to the Offer”

“Registrar”

or

KFin Technologies Limited

“Retail Individual Bidder(s)”
“Retail Individual Investor(s)”
“RII(s)” or “RIB(s)”

or
or

Individual Bidders submitting Bids, who have Bid for the Equity Shares for an amount not more than
%200,000 in any of the bidding options in the Offer (including HUFs applying through their Karta and
Eligible NRIs)

Retail Portion

The portion of the Offer being not more than 10% of the Net Offer comprising [®] Equity Shares,
which shall be available for allocation to RIBs in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject
to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price




Term

Description

Revision Form

The form used by Bidders to modify the quantity of the Equity Shares or the Bid Amount in any of
their Bid cum Application Forms or any previous Revision Form(s), as applicable.

QIB Bidders and Non-Institutional Bidders are not allowed to withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms
of quantity of Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage. RIBs bidding in the Retail Portion,
Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion (subject to their Bid Amount being
up to X500,000) and Eligible BOB Shareholders Bidding in the Shareholder Reservation Portion
(subject to the Bid Amount being up to ¥200,000) can revise their Bid(s) during the Bid/ Offer Period
and withdraw their Bid(s) until Bid/ Offer Closing Date

“RTAs” or “Registrar and Share
Transfer Agents”

The registrar and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and eligible to procure Bids from relevant
Bidders at the Designated RTA Locations in terms of SEBI circular number
CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015 issued by SEBI and available on the
websites of the Stock Exchanges at www.nseindia.com and www.bseindia.com

SEBI SCORES

Securities and Exchange Board of India Complaints Redress System

“Self Certified Syndicate Bank(s)”
or “SCSB(s)”

The banks registered with SEBI, offering services (i) in relation to ASBA (other than through UPI

Mechanism), a list of which is available on the website of SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmId=34 or
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmlId=35, as

applicable, or such other website as updated from time to time, and (ii) in relation to ASBA (through
UPI Mechanism), a list of which 1is available on the website of SEBI at
https://sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=40 or such other
website as may be prescribed by SEBI and updated from time to time

Share Escrow Agent

The share escrow agent to be appointed pursuant to the Share Escrow Agreement namely, [®]

Share Escrow Agreement

Share escrow agreement dated [®] to be entered into between our Company, the Selling Shareholders
and the Share Escrow Agent in connection with the transfer of Equity Shares under the Offer for Sale
by the Selling Shareholders for the purposes of credit of such Equity Shares to the demat accounts of
the Allottees in accordance with the Basis of Allotment

Sharecholder Reservation Portion

The portion of the Offer being up to [e] Equity Shares, aggregating up to I[e] million available for
allocation to Eligible BOB Shareholders, on a proportionate basis. Such portion shall not exceed
10.00% of the Offer size

Specified Locations

The Bidding centres where the Syndicate shall accept Bid cum Application Forms from relevant
Bidders, a list of which is available on the website of SEBI (www.sebi.gov.in), and updated from time
to time

Sponsor Bank(s)

[®], being Banker to the Offer registered with SEBI, appointed by our Company to act as a conduit
between the Stock Exchanges and NPCI in order to push the mandate collect requests and/ or payment
instructions of UPI Bidders using the UPI Mechanism, in terms of the UPI Circulars

Syndicate Agreement

Syndicate agreement to be entered into between our Company, the Selling Shareholders, the Registrar
and the members of the Syndicate in relation to collection of Bid cum Application Forms by the
Syndicate

Syndicate Member(s)

Intermediaries (other than the Book Running Lead Managers) registered with SEBI who are permitted
to accept bids, applications and place order with respect to the Offer, namely [®]

“Syndicate” or “members of the
Syndicate”

The Book Running Lead Managers and the Syndicate Members

Underwriters

[e]

Underwriting Agreement

Underwriting agreement to be entered into between our Company, the Selling Shareholders and the
Underwriters, on or after the Pricing Date, but prior to filing the Prospectus with the RoC

UPI

Unified payments interface, which is an instant payment mechanism, developed by NPCI

UPI Bidder(s)

Collectively, individual investors applying as (i) Retail Individual Bidders in the Retail Portion, (ii)
Eligible Employees in the Employee Reservation Portion, (iii) Eligible BOB Shareholders in the
Shareholder Reservation Portion (subject to the Bid Amount being 3500,000), and (iv) Non-
Institutional Bidders with an application size of up to 500,000 in the Non-Institutional Portion, and
Bidding under the UPI Mechanism through ASBA Form(s) submitted with Syndicate Members,
Registered Brokers, Collecting Depository Participants and Registrar and Share Transfer Agents.

Pursuant to Circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/45 dated April 5, 2022 issued by SEBI, all
individual investors applying in public issues where the application amount is up to ¥500,000 shall
use UPI and shall provide their UPI ID in the bid-cum-application form submitted with: (i) a syndicate
member, (ii) a stock broker registered with a recognized stock exchange (whose name is mentioned
on the website of the stock exchange as eligible for such activity), (iii) a depository participant (whose
name is mentioned on the website of the stock exchange as eligible for such activity), and (iv) a
registrar to an offer and share transfer (whose name is mentioned on the website of the stock exchange
as eligible for such activity)

UPI Circulars

SEBI circular number SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2018/138 dated November 1, 2018, SEBI circular
number SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/50 dated April 3, 2019, SEBI circular number
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/76 ~ dated June 28, 2019, SEBI circular number
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Term

Description

SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85  dated July 26, 2019,
SEBI/HO/CFD/DCR2/CIR/P/2019/133 dated November 8, 2019,
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2020  dated March 30, 2020, SEBI
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2021/2480/1/M  dated March 16, 2021,
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2021/47  dated March 31, 2021,
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/2021/570 ~ dated  June 2, 2021,
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/45 dated  April 5, 2022, SEBI  circular  no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/51 dated April 20, 2022, SEBI circular no. SEBI/
HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/2022/75 dated May 30, 2022 and any subsequent circulars or notifications issued
by SEBI in this regard

SEBI
SEBI

number
circular number
circular  number
SEBI circular no.
SEBI  circular  no.
SEBI circular  no.

circular

UPIID

ID created on the UPI for single-window mobile payment system developed by the NPCI

UPI Mandate Request

A request (intimating the UPI Bidder by way of a notification on the UPI application and by way of a
SMS for directing the UPI Bidder to such UPI mobile application) to the UPI Bidder initiated by the
Sponsor Bank to authorise blocking of funds on the UPI application equivalent to Bid Amount and
subsequent debit of funds in case of Allotment

UPI Mechanism

Process for applications by UPI Bidders submitted with intermediaries with UPI as mode of payment,
in terms of the UPI Circulars

Wilful Defaulter

A company or person, as the case may be, categorised as a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial
institution or consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the
RBI

Working Day

All days on which commercial banks in Mumbai are open for business; provided however, with
reference to (a) announcement of Price Band; and (b) Bid/ Offer Period, the term Working Day shall
mean all days, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, on which commercial banks in
Mumbai are open for business; and (c) the time period between the Bid/ Offer Closing Date and the
listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges, “Working Day” shall mean all trading days of
the Stock Exchanges, excluding Sundays and bank holidays, as per circulars issued by SEBI, including
the UPI Circulars

Technical, Industry Related Terms or Abbreviations

Term Description
ALM Asset-liability management, which in the context of life insurance involves setting out a framework
to ensure assets are in line with the nature and term of policy liabilities
APE Annualised Premium Equivalent, being 100% of annualised regular premium for new business plus
10% of single premium
AUM Assets under management, being the total market / realizable value of all financial assets held by an

insurance company of policyholders’ and shareholders’ funds

Banca or Bancassurance

Bancassurance, being an arrangement entered into by a bank and an insurance company (either through
corporate agency or as a master policyholder), through which the bank sells/ enrols the insurance
products of the company to its customer base

BI Business Intelligence

Bonus An amount which is determined at the end of every financial year and declared as simple reversionary
bonus, if declared, and/or terminal bonus, if declared, as the case may be for participating life
insurance policies. It is the way in which policyholders receive their share of profits

CAD Current Account Deficit

CAPEX Capital Expenditure

Conservation Ratio

Conservation Ratio is total renewal premium income in the current year divided by first year premium
and renewal premium income in the previous year

CPI

Consumer Price Index

Critical Illness Basic Table

Critical Illness Basic Table 1993 issued by the Actuarial Society of India (now known as Institute of
Actuaries of India) with respect to incidence rates and morbidity assumptions

CSC

Common Service Centres, being centers established under National e-Governance Plan by CSC e-
Governance Services India Limited. They are front-end delivery points for government, private and
social sector services to citizens of India

Death claims

Claims for amounts payable on death as specified in the policy document

Death Claims Repudiation Ratio

Death Claims Repudiation Ratio is the number of claims repudiated or not found admissible out of the
total number intimated for individual products in India, expressed as a ratio

Death Claims Settlement Ratio

Death Claims Settlement Ratio is calculated as the number of claims paid out of the total intimated

Discounted Fund

A segregated fund of the insurer that is set aside and is constituted by the fund value of all discontinued
policies determined in accordance with the IRDA (Linked Insurance Products) Regulations, 2013
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Description

EV

Embedded Value, which is calculated as the sum of Adjusted Net Worth and Value of In-Force
business.

Adjusted Net Worth is the sum of the Free Surplus and Required Capital. This is the value of all assets
allocated to the covered business that are not required to back the liabilities of the covered business.

Value of In-Force business consists of the following components:

—  Present Value of Future Profits expected to emerge from the covered business;
—  Less Frictional Cost of Capital,

—  Less Time Value of Financial Options and Guarantees;

—  Less Cost of Residual Non-Hedgeable Risks.

Embedded Value Report

The embedded value report dated September 12, 2022 prepared by the Independent Actuary

Fair Value Change Account

Unrealised gains/losses arising due to changes in the fair value of investment assets including listed
equity shares, mutual funds, debt securities and derivative instruments

First year premium

Insurance premium that is due in the first policy year of a life insurance contract

FPI Foreign Portfolio Investor
GDP Gross Domestic Product
GWP Gross Written Premium, being the total premium written by our Company before deductions for

reinsurance ceded

“GWP” or “Gross Written
Premium”

The total premium written by our Company before reinsurance ceded by our Company

Gross Incurred Claims

The total claims incurred by our Company before reinsurance ceded by our Company

IMF

Insurance Marketing Firm

Independent Actuary

Willis Towers Watson Actuarial Advisory LLP

Indian Assured Lives Mortality
Table 2012-2014

Published Mortality Table as published by the Institute of Actuaries of India, effective from April 1,
2019, within the meaning of regulation 4 of Insurance and Regulatory Development Authority of India
(Assets, Liabilities and Solvency Margin of Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016

Individual Annuitant’s Mortality
Table (2012-2015)

Published Mortality Table for annuitants as published by the Institute of Actuaries of India, within the
meaning of regulation 4 of Insurance and Regulatory Development Authority of India (Assets,
Liabilities and Solvency Margin of Life Insurance Business) Regulations

Individual NBP

Individual New Business Premium, being insurance premium that is due in the first policy year of an
individual life insurance contract

Individual Surrender Ratio

Individual Surrenders / Individual AUM or Individual AUM

IRP

Individual Rated Premium, being premiums written by our Company under individual products and
weighted at the rate of 10.00% for single premiums

AY Joint Venture
LIC Life Insurance Corporation of India
Linked liabilities Represents the liability for units held under the life insurance contracts and is part of the liability that

is held under the unit linked business

Life insurers with PSU bank
parentage

Life insurers with PSU bank as one of the shareholders

MFI

Microfinance institutions

Mis-selling Ratio

Grievances with respect to unfair business practice that are reported to our Company divided by
policies issued by our Company in the same period represented as a percentage.

MOSPI Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation

MPC Monetary Policy Committee

NAV Net Asset Value in the context of the unit-linked business of our Company is computed as the price
per unit of each segregated fund as defined under IRDAI Investment Regulations. Segregated fund
level NAV is calculated as market value of investment held by the fund, plus value of current assets,
less value of current liabilities and provisions, if any, divided by number of units existing on valuation
date (before creation / redemption of units)

NBM New Business Margin

NBP New Business Premium, being insurance premium that is due in the first policy year of a life insurance

contract or a single lump sum payment from the policyholder

Net Incurred Claims

The total claims incurred by our Company net of reinsurance ceded by our Company

Net Premium

The total premium written by our Company after deductions for reinsurance ceded

Net Written Premium

The total premium written by our Company net of reinsurance ceded by our Company
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Description

New Business IRP

New Business Individual Rated Premium, New Business Individual Rated Premium is calculated as
10% of individual single premium plus 100% of individual non-single premium

Non-Participating or Non-Par
Product

Policies without participation in profits, means policies which are not entitled to any share in surplus
(profits) during the term of the policy as defined under Regulation 2(k) of IRDAI Actuarial Report
and Abstract for Life Insurance Business Regulations

NSO

National Statistical Office

Operating Expense Ratio

Operating expenses as a percentage of total premium

Participating or Par Products

A life insurance policy where the policyholder is entitled to at least a 90.00% share of the surplus
emerging in the participating fund

Persistency ratio

The ratio of life insurance policies remaining in force to all policies issued in a fixed period.
Persistency can be measured in terms of number of policies or in terms of premium

PLI Production-Linked Incentive

PMJIBY Pradhan Mantri Jeevan Jyoti Bima Yojana

PMLI PNB MetLife India Insurance Company Limited

POS Point of Sales

PPP Purchasing Power Parity

Premium The consideration the policyholder will have to pay in order to secure the benefits offered by the

insurance policy

Private life insurers

All Indian life insurance companies other than the Life Insurance Corporation of India

PSU

Public Sector Undertaking

RBI

Reserve Bank of India

Reinsurance ceded

Reinsurance means an insurance contract between one insurance company (cedant) and another
insurance company (reinsurer) to indemnify against losses on one or more contracts issued by the
cedant in exchange for a consideration. The consideration paid is termed as reinsurance ceded. The
intent of reinsurance is for an insurance company to reduce the risks associated with underwritten
policies by spreading risks across alternative institutions

Renewal Premium

Life insurance premiums falling due in the years subsequent to the first year of the policy

Rider

The add-on benefits which are in addition to the benefits under a basic policy

SDF

Standing Deposit Facility

Single Premium

Those policies that require only a single lump sum payment from the policyholder

Solvency Ratio

Ratio of the amount of Available Solvency Margin to the amount of Required Solvency Margin as
specified in form-KT-3 of IRDAI Actuarial Report and Abstracts for Life Insurance Business
Regulations

Sum assured

The guaranteed amount payable during the policy term and based on which the premium is calculated
while applying for the policy

Surplus The excess of the value placed on a life insurance company’s assets over the value placed on its
liabilities
Surrender Complete withdrawal/ termination of the entire policy

Terminal bonus

Bonus declared under the policy in the year when the policy results into a claim either by death,
surrender or maturity, post completion of premium paying term

ULIP Unit Linked Insurance Plan, being plans where the benefits of policies are based on notional part,
which represents a specific and proportionate part of the unit account
VNB or VONB Value of New Business, being the present value of expected future earnings from new policies written

during a specified period and it reflects the additional value to shareholders expected to be generated
through the activity of writing new policies during a specified period

VNB Margin or VONB Margin or
New Business Margin

Value of New Business Margin, being the ratio of VNB to APE.

Conventional and General Terms or Abbreviations

Term

Description

“T” or “Rs.” or “Rupees” or “INR”

Indian Rupees

“AS” or “Accounting Standards”

Accounting standards issued by the ICAI

AGM

Annual General Meeting

AIF

Alternative Investment Fund as defined in and registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange
Board of India (Alternative Investments Funds) Regulations, 2012
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Term Description

“Bn” or “bn” Billion

BSE BSE Limited

CAGR Compound annual growth rate

Category I AIF AlFs who are registered as “Category I Alternative Investment Funds” under the SEBI AIF
Regulations

Category 1 FPIs FPIs who are registered as “Category I foreign portfolio investors” under the SEBI FPI Regulations

Category II AIF AlFs who are registered as “Category II Alternative Investment Funds” under the SEBI AIF
Regulations

Category 1I FPIs FPIs who are registered as “Category I foreign portfolio investors” under the SEBI FPI Regulations

Category III AIF AlFs who are registered as “Category III Alternative Investment Funds” under the SEBI AIF
Regulations

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

CIN Corporate Identity Number

“Companies Act” or “Companies
Act, 20137

Companies Act, 2013, as applicable, along with the relevant rules, regulations, clarifications and
modifications made thereunder

Companies Act, 1956

Companies Act, 1956, along with the relevant rules made thereunder

Consolidated FDI Policy

Consolidated Foreign Direct Investment Policy notified by the DPIIT under DPIIT File Number
5(2)/2020-FDI Policy dated the October 15, 2020, effective from October 15, 2020

Depositories

Together, NSDL and CDSL

Depositories Act

Depositories Act, 1996

DIN

Director Identification Number

DP ID

Depository Participant’s Identification

“DP” or “Depository Participant”

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

DPIT

Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade, Ministry of Commerce and Industry,
Government of India (formerly known as Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion)

EGM Extraordinary general meeting

EPS Earnings per share

FDI Foreign direct investment

FEMA The Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, read with rules and regulations thereunder
FEMA Rules Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments) Rules, 2019

“Financial Year” or “Fiscal”

“Fiscal Year” or “FY”

or

Unless stated otherwise, the period of 12 months ending March 31 of that particular year

FIR First Information Report
FPI Foreign portfolio investors as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations
FVCI Foreign venture capital investors as defined and registered under the SEBI FVCI Regulations

“Gol” or “Government” or “Central
Government”

Government of India

GST Goods and services tax

ICAI The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Income Tax Act The Income-tax Act, 1961

Ind AS Indian Accounting Standards notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act and referred to in the
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended and other relevant provisions of
the Companies Act, 2013

India Republic of India

“Indian GAAP/IGAAP”

Accounting Standards notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act and referred to in the
Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2014

Insurance Act

Insurance Act, 1938 as amended

IPO Initial public offering
IRDA Act Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority Act, 1999 as amended
IRDAI Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India
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Term

Description

IRDAI CG Guidelines

Guidelines on corporate governance for insurers in India issued by IRDAI by way of circular no.
IRDA/F&A/GDL/CG/100/05/2016 dated May 18, 2016

IRDAI Investment Regulations

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Investment) Regulations, 2016 as amended

IRDAI  Issuance of
Regulations

Capital

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Issuance of Capital by Indian Insurance
Companies transacting Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2015 as amended

IRDAI Preparation of Financial
Statements Regulations

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Preparation of Financial Statements and
Auditor’s Report of Insurance Companies) Regulations, 2002 as amended

IRDAI Transfer of Equity Shares
Regulations

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Transfer of Equity Shares of Insurance
Companies) Regulations, 2015

IST Indian Standard Time

IT Information Technology

IT Act The Information Technology Act, 2000
KYC Know Your Customer

Listed Indian Insurance Companies
Guidelines

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Listed Indian Insurance Companies)
Guidelines, 2016

MCA Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India
“Mn” or “mn” Million

NACH National Automated Clearing House

NAV Net Asset Value

NBFC Non-Banking Financial Companies

NCD(s) Non-convertible debentures

NEFT National Electronic Fund Transfer

Negotiable Instruments Act

The Negotiable Instruments Act, 1881

NPCI

National Payments Corporation of India

NRE Non- Resident External

NRI An individual resident outside India, who is a citizen of India.
NRO Non-Resident Ordinary

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited

“OCB” or “Overseas Corporate
Body”

A company, partnership, society or other corporate body owned directly or indirectly to the extent of
at least 60% by NRIs including overseas trusts, in which not less than 60% of beneficial interest is
irrevocably held by NRIs directly or indirectly and which was in existence on October 3, 2003 and
immediately before such date had taken benefits under the general permission granted to OCBs under
FEMA. OCB:s are not allowed to invest in the Offer

p.a. Per annum

P/E Ratio Price to Earnings Ratio

PAN Permanent Account Number
RBI Reserve Bank of India

RBI Act Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934

Regulation S

Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act

RoE Return on equity

RoNW Return on Net Worth

RTGS Real Time Gross Settlement

Rule 144A Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act

SARFAESI Act Securitisation and Reconstruction of Financial Assets and Enforcement of Security Interest Act, 2002
SCRA Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956

SCRR Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957

SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India constituted under the SEBI Act

SEBI Act Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI AIF Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012
SEBI BTI Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Bankers to an Issue) Regulations, 1994

SEBI FPI Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2019
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Term Description
SEBI FVCI Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investors) Regulations, 2000
SEBI ICDR Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,

2018

SEBI Listing Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015

SEBI Merchant Bankers

Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992

SEBI Mutual Fund Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996

SEBI SBEB Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat Equity)
Regulations, 2021

SEBI Takeover Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers)
Regulations, 2011

SEBI VCF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Venture Capital Fund) Regulations, 1996 as repealed
pursuant to the SEBI AIF Regulations

State Government

The government of a state in India

Stock Exchanges

BSE and NSE

STT

Securities Transaction Tax

Systemically Important NBFC or
NBFC-SI

Systemically important non-banking financial company as defined under Regulation 2(1)(iii) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations

TAN

Tax deduction account number

U.S. Securities Act

United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended

“U.S.” or “USA” or “United States”

United States of America including its territories and possessions, any State of the United States, and
the District of Columbia

“U.S.” or “USA” or “United States”

United States of America

“USD” or “US$”

United States Dollars

VCFs

Venture capital funds as defined in and registered with the SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Venture Capital Fund) Regulations, 1996 or the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Alternative Investment Funds) Regulations, 2012, as the case may be
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SUMMARY OF THE OFFER DOCUMENT

The following is a general summary of the terms of the Offer and is not exhaustive, nor does it purport to contain a summary
of the disclosures in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus or all details relevant to prospective investors. This summary should
be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus, including “Risk Factors”, “The Offer”, “Capital Structure”, “Objects of the Offer”, “Industry
Overview”, “Our Business”, “Our Promoters and Promoter Group”, “Financial Information”, “Outstanding Litigation and

Material Developments”, “Olffer Procedure” and “Description of Equity Shares and Terms of Articles of Association”
beginning on pages 28, 75, 92, 104, 125, 167, 247, 257, 372, 430 and 449, respectively.

Primary business of our Company

We were among the fastest growing private life insurers in India in terms of New Business Individual Rated Premium in Fiscal
2022 and recorded a CAGR of 27.3% for the five-years ended Fiscal 2022, the highest growth in terms of New Business
Individual Rated Premium amongst life insurers with PSU bank parentage (Source: CRISIL Report). We reported 23.10% Value
of New Business Margin in Fiscal 2022. We are supported by bancassurance networks of Bank of Baroda and Union Bank, the
third and fifth largest PSU banks in India based on total assets, as of March 31, 2022 (Source: CRISIL Report).

Industry in which our Company Operates

As of 2021, the Indian life insurance industry is the ninth largest in the world and the fourth largest in Asia in terms of life
insurance premiums. High GDP growth, rising income, younger population, rapid urbanization, focus on financial inclusion,
preference towards financial savings, increasing financial literacy and increasing adoption of insurance through digital channels
are key factors for the growth of the Indian life insurance sector. The total premium for life insurers is expected to grow from
26,926 billion to X 13,500 billion between Fiscal 2022 and Fiscal 2027, at a CAGR of 14% - 15% (Source: CRISIL Report).

Our Promoters

Our Promoters are Bank of Baroda and Carmel Point Investments India Private Limited. For details, see “Our Promoters and
Promoter Group” on page 247.

Offer Size

The following table summarizes the details of the Offer:

Offer for Equity Shares Up to [e] Equity Shares aggregating up to X[e] million

of which:

Fresh Issue®® Up to [e] Equity Shares aggregating up to Z5,000 million

Offer for Sale® Up to 141,299,422 Equity Shares aggregating up to [ e] million
The Offer may include:

Employee Reservation | Up to [e] Equity Shares aggregating up to X[ e] million
Portion®

Shareholder Reservation | Up to [e®] Equity Shares aggregating up to ¥[e®] million
Portion®

Net Offer Up to [e] Equity Shares aggregating up to Z[e] million

@) The Offer (including the Fresh Issue) has been authorized by our Board of Directors pursuant to the resolutions passed at their meetings dated July 18,
2022 and October 18, 2022, and our Shareholders pursuant to the resolution passed at their meeting held on October 20, 2022. Our Board has taken on
record the consent of the Selling Shareholders to participate in the Offer for Sale pursuant to a resolution passed in its meeting held on October 18, 2022.

(2 4 Pre-IPO Placement may be undertaken by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers of such number of Equity Shares for
cash consideration aggregating up to < 1,000 million, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken,
will be at a price to be decided by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers. If the Pre-IPO Placement is undertaken, the
minimum Offer size (comprising the Fresh Issue so reduced by the amount raised from the Pre-IPO Placement, and the Offer for Sale) shall constitute at
least [®]% of the post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company.

() The Equity Shares being offered by the Selling Shareholders are eligible for being offered for sale in terms of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Each of the
Selling Shareholders has authorized the sale of its respective portion of the Offered Shares. For details on the authorisation of the Selling Shareholders
in relation to the Offered Shares, see “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures” on page 394.

@ In the event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion (if any), the unsubscribed portion will be available for allocation and Allotment,
proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of 200,000, subject to the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee
not exceeding 3500,000. The unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion (after allocation up to Z500,000), shall be added to the
Net Offer. The Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed 5.00% of our post-Offer paid-up Equity Share Capital. For further details, see “Offer
Structure” on page 426.

() The Shareholder Reservation Portion shall not exceed 10.00% of the Offer size. The unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Shareholder Reservation Portion,
shall be added to the Net Offer. For further details, see “Offer Structure” on page 426.

The Offer and Net Offer shall constitute [®]% and [®]% of the post-Offer paid up Equity Share capital of our Company,
respectively.

For further details, see “The Offer”, “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures” and “Offer Structure” on pages 75, 394 and
426, respectively.
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Objects of the Offer

Particulars
Augmentation of capital base to support solvency levels

Net Proceeds
(1)

Amount (X in million)
5,000(1)(2)
[.](2)
Includes the proceeds, if any, received pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement. Upon allotment of Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Pre-IPO Placement,
we may utilise the proceeds from such Pre-IPO Placement towards the Objects of the Offer prior to completion of the Offer.
To be finalised upon determination of the Offer Price and updated in the Prospectus prior to filing with the RoC.

2)

For further details, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 104.

Aggregate pre-Offer shareholding of our Promoters and the Selling Shareholders and members of the Promoter Group

Category of Shareholders Pre-Offer Post-Offer*
No. of Equity Shares | Percentage of pre- | No. of Equity Shares | Percentage of post-
Offer paid up Offer paid up
Equity Share capital Equity Share
(%) capital (%)
Promoters (also the Promoter Selling Shareholders)
Bank of Baroda®) 490,340,909 65.00 [e] [e]
Carmel Point Investments India Private 196,136,364 26.00 [o] [®]
Limited
Promoter Group
Entities forming part of the Promoter Group | Nil
of our Company
Other Selling Shareholder
Union Bank of India® 67,893,357 9.00 [e] [e]
Total 754,370,630 100.00 [e] [e]

(1) Inclusive of 10 Equity Shares each held by Purshotam, Rajesh Inder Malhotra and Subrat Kumar as nominees of Bank of Baroda.
(2)  Inclusive of 10 Equity Shares each held by Arun Kumar and Vikas Babu Chittiprolu as nominees of Union Bank.
* To be updated in the Prospectus.

For further details, see “Capital Structure” on page 92. For details in relation to the entities forming part of the Promoter Group
of our Company, see “Our Promoters and Promoter Group — Promoter Group” on page 251.

Summary of Restated Financial Information
A summary of the financial information of our Company as per the Restated Financial Statements is as follows:

(% in million, unless otherwise stated)

Sr. Particulars As at and for the | As at and for the | As at and for the | As at and for the
No. three months Financial Year | Financial Year | Financial Year
ended June 30, | ended March 31, | ended March 31, | ended March 31,
2022 2022 2021 2020
1. Equity Share capital 6,634.62 6,634.62 6,634.62 6,350.00
2. Net worth 4,509.75 4,932.70 7,755.26 7,169.36
3. Revenue 9,079.68 51,865.64 40,555.02 33,604.36
4. Profit after tax (418.27) (2,816.20) 301.89 (974.15)
5. Basic earnings per share (in ) (0.63) (4.24) 0.46 (1.55)
6. Diluted earnings per share (in ) (0.63) (4.24) 0.46 (1.55)
7. Net Asset Value per Equity Share (in ) 6.80 7.43 11.69 11.29
8. Total borrowings (as per restated balance sheet) 2,250.00 2,250.00 1,000.00 1,000.00
Notes:
(1) Basic earnings per share (in %) = Restated profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders / weighted average number of equity shares.

2

Diluted earnings per share (in %) = Restated profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders / weighted average number of diluted equity shares.
“Net worth” represents the shareholders’ funds and is computed as sum of share capital and reserves including share premium share application money
and fair value change account net of debit balance in profit and loss account.

Net asset value per Equity Share (in Z) = Restated net worth at the end of the year/period / Total number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the
year/period.

)
“

For further details in relation to the Restated Financial Statements, see “Restated Financial Information” on page 257.
Qualifications of the Joint Statutory Auditors which have not been given effect to in the Restated Financial Statements

There are no qualifications included by the Joint Statutory Auditors in their audit reports and hence no effect is required to be
given in the Restated Financial Statements.
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Summary of Outstanding Litigation

A summary of outstanding litigation proceedings involving our Company, Promoters and Directors as on the date of this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus as disclosed in “Outstanding Litigation and Other Material Developments” on page 372 in terms of
the SEBI ICDR Regulations is provided below:

Name of Entity Criminal | Tax proceedings| Statutory or | Disciplinary actions | Material Aggregate
proceedings Regulatory by SEBI or Stock civil amount
Proceedings Exchanges against | litigations involved
our Promoters (X in million)*

Company

By the Company 6 - - - 1 242.46"

Against the Company 2 208 - - 1 810.00%"

Directors

By the Directors - - - - - -

Against the Directors - 2 - - - 8.54

Promoters

By Bank of Baroda - - - - 7 219,519.01

Against Bank of Baroda 86" 87 7 - - 130,193.39"

By Carmel Point - - - - - -

Investments India Private

Limited

Against  Carmel  Point - - - - - -

Investments India Private

Limited

* The amounts indicated above are approximate amounts and have been disclosed to the extent ascertainable.
The material civil litigation by our Company includes a counter-claim to the extent of I 5,218.87 million against our Company. For details, see
“Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation involving our Company — Litigation by our Company” on page 374.

" Includes < 0.4 million involved in a criminal litigation against our Company and an aggregate of % 5.83 million involved in criminal litigations by our
Company. For details, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” beginning on page 372.

$  Aggregate amount involved in the direct tax proceedings against our Company does not include the simple interest of one per cent for every month or
part of a month, on the amount in dispute calculated in accordance with the demand notice dated February 15, 2021 and the aggregate amount involved
in indirect tax proceedings against our Company includes two pending cases of refund of tax amount, amounting to % 8.31 million.

** Includes X 4.97 million involved in criminal litigations against Bank of Baroda and % 27.74 million in statutory and regulatory proceedings against Bank
of Baroda. For further information, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation against our Promoters — Criminal Litigation ”
and “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation against our Promoters — Actions taken by Regulatory and Statutory Authorities ” on
pages 379 and 386, respectively.

Note: The above table does not include X 76.39 million paid by our Company in relation to an ongoing enquiry by the Directorate General of GST Intelligence

Zonal Unit, Mumbai, in relation to the input tax credit availed by our Company. For details, please see “Risk Factors — 34. There are outstanding actions and

litigation proceedings against our Company, Promoters and Directors. Any adverse outcome in such proceedings may have an adverse impact on our

reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.” on page 54.

As on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, there are no outstanding litigation proceedings involving our Group
Companies, the outcome of which may have a material impact on our Company.

For further details of the outstanding litigation proceedings, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” on page
372.

Risk Factors

Specific attention of the Bidders is invited to “Risk Factors” on page 28 to have an informed view before making an investment
decision.

Summary of Contingent Liabilities

The details of our contingent liabilities as derived from our Restated Financial Statements are set forth in the table below:

(% in million)
Sr. No. Particulars As at June 30, 2022
1. Partly paid-up investments 63.05
2. Statutory demands / liabilities in dispute, not provided for 797.89
3. Policy related claims under litigation 638.91
Total 1,499.85

For further details in relation to our contingent liabilities, see “Restated Financial Information — Notes to Restated Financial
Information — Notes to Accounts — 1. Contingent Liabilities” on page 290.
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Summary of Related Party Transactions

A summary of related party transactions as per the Related Party Disclosures read with the SEBI ICDR Regulations entered
into by our Company with related parties, derived from our Restated Financial Statements are as follows:

Amount of (Payable) / Receivable

(R in million, unless otherwise stated)

Sr. No. | Name of the Related Party Type of transaction Amount of (Payable) / Receivable
As at and for | Asatand for | Asatand for | Asatand for
the three the Financial | the Financial | the Financial
months ended | Yearended | Yearended | Yearended
June 30, 2022 | March 31, March 31, March 31,
2022 2021 2020
1. Bank of Baroda Fixed deposit 0.10 0.09 0.09 0.08
Investments 597.30 730.48 242.58 73.37
Bank balance* 2,730.63 1,573.33 1,101.48 531.02
Interest on fixed deposit 0.00 - - -
receivable
Advertisement and publicity (1.73) - - -
fee
Directors’ sitting fees - (0.20) - -
Borrowing (1,150.00) (1,150.00) - -
Interest on borrowing (26.20) (2.12) - -
Commission (143.77) (100.27) (29.69) (25.44)
2. Union Bank of India Commission - (60.23) (15.47) (8.53)
Advertisement and publicity - - - (6.00)
Investments - 319.84 20.99 0.92
Bank balances* - 559.69 450.65 251.33
3. The Nainital Bank Limited | Commission payable (1.33) (1.10) (0.56) (0.18)
Bank balance* 0.04 5.39 0.65 1.44
4. India Infra Debt Limited Investments in bond 1,307.05 1,317.94 1,578.90 1,575.01
Interest receivable on 57.08 63.04 71.31 71.29
investment
5. Baroda U.P. Bank Commission payable (7.21) (1.52) (3.15) (0.43)
Bank balance* 345.54 106.22 69.70 61.33
6. Baroda Rajasthan Kshetriya | Commission payable (5.20) (0.66) (0.74) (0.40)
Gramin Bank Bank balance* 4.83 27.36 5.60 3.74
7. Baroda Gujarat Gramin Bank | Commission payable (5.73) (1.51) (1.54) (0.68)
Bank balance* 60.50 87.95 27.25 130.50

*Banking transactions in the normal course of business with related parties have not been considered

Transactions during the year

(% in million, unless otherwise stated)

Sr. No. | Name of the Related Party Description of As at and for | Asatand for | As at and for | Asat and for
Transactions / Categories the three the Financial | the Financial | the Financial
months ended | Year ended | Year ended Year ended
June 30, 2022 | March 31, March 31, March 31,
2022 2021 2020

1. Bank of Baroda Purchase fixed deposit (0.04) (0.09) (0.09) (0.08)
Redemption of fixed deposits 0.04 0.09 0.08 0.08
Interest on fixed deposits 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01
Dividend on Equity Shares 17.41 - - -
Commission (330.69) (1,685.66) (1,169.22) (951.84)
Directors sitting fees (0.70) (3.06) (1.63) (1.73)
Premium income as a - 1.24 0.85 -
policyholder
Bank charges (3.04) (10.03) (8.36) (7.15)
Advertisement and publicity (1.73) (6.90) (6.90) (6.90)
Reimbursement of expenses - (1.51) - -
Share Capital Issued - - 169.23 -
Other Income - 0.57 - -
Borrowing - 1,150.00 - -
Interest on Borrowing (24.08) (2.12) - -

2. Union Bank of India Commission - (411.37) (278.42) (283.13)
Directors sitting fees - - (0.90) (1.40)
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Sr. No. | Name of the Related Party Description of As at and for | Asat and for | As at and for | Asat and for
Transactions / Categories the three the Financial | the Financial | the Financial
months ended | Year ended | Year ended Year ended
June 30, 2022 | March 31, March 31, March 31,
2022 2021 2020
Reimbursement of expenses - - 3.50 -
Advertisement and publicity - (6.90) (6.90) (6.00)
Bank charges - (0.03) (0.08) (7.77)
Share capital issued - - 115.38 -
Health prepaid card - - - (0.03)
Other income - 0.41 - -
3. Carmel Point Investments | Share capital issued - - - 1,500.00
India Private Limited Other income - 0.34 - -
4. The Nainital Bank Limited | Payment of commission (0.23) (0.71) (1.18) (0.81)
Bank charges (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) -
5. BOB Financial Solutions | Premium income as a 0.07 1.78 0.27 0.24
Limited policyholder
6. BOB Capital Markets | Brokerage (1.12) (3.99) (3.55) (1.91)
Limited
7. Baroda  Global  Shared | Premium income as a 0.05 5.35 - -
Services Limited policyholder
8. India Infra Debt Limited Redemption of bonds - 250.00 - 100.00
Interest income on 26.05 106.75 125.64 125.90
investments
9. Baroda U.P. Bank Payment of commission (17.52) (68.73) (28.98) (17.71)
Bank charges (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) -
10. Baroda Rajasthan Kshetriya | Payment of commission (4.53) (21.19) (17.97) (18.79)
Gramin Bank Bank charges (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) -
Premium income as policy 0.17 - - -
holder
11. Baroda Gujarat Gramin Bank | Payment of commission (4.22) (19.16) (16.91) (11.82)
Bank charges (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) -
12. R.M. Vishakha Premium income - - 0.10 0.10
Managerial remuneration (21.72) (57.10) (47.03) (37.02)
13. Relative of Key Managerial | Premium income 0.02 0.06 0.06 0.06
Personnel

For details of the related party transactions, see “Restated Financial Information — Notes to Restated Financial Information —
Notes to Account: 21. Related Party Disclosure” on page 305.

Issue of Equity Shares made in the last one year for consideration other than cash

Our Company has not issued any Equity Shares for consideration other than cash in the one year preceding the date of this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus.

Split or consolidation of Equity Shares in the last one year

Our Company has not undertaken split or consolidation of the equity shares of our Company in the last one year preceding the
date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Financing Arrangements

There have been no financing arrangements whereby the Promoters, members of our Promoter Group, directors of our
Promoters, our Directors or any of their relatives, have financed the purchase by any other person of securities of our Company
during a period of six months immediately preceding the date of filing of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Weighted average price at which the Equity Shares were acquired by the Promoters and the Selling Shareholders of the
Company in the last one year

The weighted average price at which the Equity Shares were acquired by the Promoters and the Selling Shareholders in the one
year preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is as follows:

Name of the Promoter / Selling Shareholder | Number of Equity Shares acquired in the one
year preceding the date of this Draft Red

Herring Prospectus*

Weighted average price of
acquisition per Equity Share (in
3)*

Promoters (also the Promoter Selling Shareholders)
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Name of the Promoter / Selling Shareholder | Number of Equity Shares acquired in the one Weighted average price of
year preceding the date of this Draft Red acquisition per Equity Share (in
Herring Prospectus* )*
Bank of Baroda 198,417,832 55.00
Carmel Point Investments India Private Limited 23,636,364 55.00
Other Selling Shareholder
Union Bank | 8,181,818 ] 55.00

* As certified by Mehta Chokshi & Shah LLP and N S Gokhale & Company, our Joint Statutory Auditors, pursuant to the certificate dated October 20, 2022.

For further details, see “Capital Structure — Notes to the Capital Structure — Equity share capital history of our Company” on
page 92.

Average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares for the Promoters and the Selling Shareholders

The average cost of acquisition per Equity Share acquired by the Promoters and the Selling Shareholders, as on the date of this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus is as follows:

Name of the Promoter / Selling Shareholder Number of Equity Shares held Average cost of Acquisition per
Equity Share (in X)*

Promoters (also the Promoter Selling Shareholders)

Bank of Baroda" 490,340,909 28.21

Carmel Point Investments India Private Limited 196,136,364 50.50

Other Selling Shareholder

Union Bank® | 67,893,357 | 15.42

*  As certified by Mehta Chokshi & Shah LLP and N S Gokhale & Company, our Joint Statutory Auditors, pursuant to the certificate dated October 20,
2022.

(1) Inclusive of 10 Equity Shares each held by Purshotam, Rajesh Inder Malhotra and Subrat Kumar as nominees of Bank of Baroda.
(2)  Inclusive of 10 Equity Shares each held by Arun Kumar and Vikas Babu Chittiprolu as nominees of Union Bank.

Details of price at which Equity Shares were acquired by our Promoters, members of the Promoter Group, Selling
Shareholders and other Shareholders with special rights in the last three years preceding the date of this Draft Red

Herring Prospectus

The details of the price at which Equity Shares were acquired by our Promoters, members of the Promoter Group, Selling
Shareholders and other Shareholders with special rights in the last three years preceding the date of this Draft Red Herring

Prospectus are as follows:

Name of the Date of acquisition | Number of Equity | Nature of allotment/ | Face value per | Acquisition price
acquirer/shareholder of Equity Shares Shares acquired acquisition Equity Share | per Equity Share
(in 3)*
Promoters (also the Promoter Selling Shareholders)
Bank of Baroda** April 18, 2020 16,923,077 | Rights Issue 10 10
March 31, 2022 139,326,923 | Transfer of Equity 10 55
Shares from Union
Bank of India
July 12, 2022 59,090,909 | Rights Issue 10 55
Carmel Point Investments July 12, 2022 23,636,364 | Rights Issue 10 55

India Private Limited**
Promoter Group

Entities forming part of the | Nil
Promoter Group of our

Company
Other Selling Shareholder
Union Bank April 18,2020 11,538,462 | Rights Issue 10 10
July 12,2022 8,181,818 | Rights Issue 10 55
*  As certified by Mehta Chokshi & Shah LLP and N S Gokhale & Company, our Joint Statutory Auditors, pursuant to the certificate dated October 20,
2022.

**  Also Shareholders with nominee director rights.

For details, see “Capital Structure — Notes to the Capital Structure — Equity share capital history of our Company” on page 92.
For details in relation to the entities forming part of the Promoter Group of our Company, see “Our Promoters and Promoter

Group — Promoter Group” on page 251.
Details of Pre-1PO placement

Our Company may, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, consider a private placement, preferential allotment,

rights issue or issue of equity shares through such other method as may be permitted under applicable law, of such number of

Equity Shares for cash consideration aggregating up to ¥ 1,000 million, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the

RoC. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company, in consultation with the Book

Running Lead Managers. If the Pre-IPO Placement is undertaken, the minimum Offer size (comprising the Fresh Issue so
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reduced by the amount raised from the Pre-IPO Placement, and the Offer for Sale) shall constitute at least [#]% of the post-
Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company.

Exemption from complying with any provisions of securities laws, if any, granted by SEBI

Our Company has not received or sought any exemption from SEBI from complying with any provisions of securities laws, as
on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.
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CERTAIN CONVENTIONS, PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL, INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA
Certain Conventions

All references to “India” contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are to the Republic of India and its territories and
possessions and all references herein to the “Government”, “Indian Government”, “Gol”, “Central Government” or the “State
Government” are to the Government of India, central or state, as applicable. All references to the “U.S.”, “US”, “U.S.A” or
“United States” are to the United States of America and its territories and possessions.

Unless otherwise specified, any time mentioned in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is in Indian Standard Time (“IST”).
Unless indicated otherwise, all references to a ‘year’ in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are to a calendar year.

Unless stated otherwise, all references to page numbers in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are to the page numbers of this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus.

Financial Data

Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the financial information and financial ratios in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus have been derived from our Restated Financial Information. For further information, see “Restated Financial
Information” on page 257.

The Restated Financial Information comprises of audited financial statements for the three month period ended June 30, 2022
and for the financial years ended March 31, 2022, March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 (prepared in accordance with Indian
GAAP, the Insurance Act, the IRDA Act and the IRDAI Preparation of Financial Statements Regulations) and examined by the
Joint Statutory Auditors in accordance with the requirements of the relevant provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the
IRDALI Issuance of Capital Regulations and the Guidance Note on “Reports in Company Prospectuses (Revised 2019)” issued
by ICAI, as amended from time to time.

Our Company’s financial year commences on April 1 and ends on March 31 of the next year. Accordingly, all references in
this Draft Red Herring Prospectus to a particular FY, Financial Year, Fiscal or Fiscal Year, unless stated otherwise, are to the
12-month period ended on March 31 of that particular calendar year.

There are significant differences between Indian GAAP, U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Our Company does not provide reconciliation
of its financial information to IFRS or U.S. GAAP. Our Company has not attempted to explain those differences or quantify
their impact on the financial data included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and it is urged that you consult your own
advisors regarding such differences and their impact on our financial data. Accordingly, the degree to which the financial
information included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus will provide meaningful information is entirely dependent on the
reader’s level of familiarity with Indian accounting policies and practices, the Companies Act, Indian GAAP and the SEBI
ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian accounting policies and practices on the financial
disclosures presented in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus should, accordingly, be limited. For risks relating to significant
differences between Indian GAAP and other accounting principles, see “Risk Factors — 65. Significant differences exist between
Indian GAAP and other accounting principles, such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS, which investors may be more familiar with and
may consider material to their assessment of our financial condition” on page 67.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, any percentage amounts or ratios (excluding certain operational metrics), relating to the
financial information of our Company in the sections “Risk Factors”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” beginning on pages 28, 167 and 337, respectively, and elsewhere
in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus have been calculated on the basis of our Restated Financial Information. Further, in this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus, any discrepancies in any table between the total and the sums of the amounts listed are due to
rounding off. All figures in decimals have been rounded off to the second decimal and all percentage figures have been rounded
off to two decimal places.

Our Company has obtained the Embedded Value Report from Willis Towers Watson Actuarial Advisory LLP, Independent
Actuary in accordance with the IRDAI Issuance of Capital Regulations. For details, see “Embedded Value Report” on page
468.

Our Company has also obtained a certificate dated June 2, 2022 from our Appointed Actuary in relation to actuarial report and
abstract for Fiscal 2022, under the Insurance Act and the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial
Report and Abstract for Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016. Additionally, our Company has obtained a certificate dated
July 25, 2022 from our Appointed Actuary in relation to actuarial valuation of liabilities of our Company as at June 30, 2022,
as required under the IRDAI Issuance of Capital Regulations.

Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures

Certain non-GAAP financial measures relating to our financial performance such as, EBITDA, EBITDA margin, RoCE, RoE,
fixed asset turnover, net asset value per equity share and debt equity ratio (“Non-GAAP Measures”) have been included in
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this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. These Non-GAAP Measures are not a measurement of our financial performance or liquidity
under Indian GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to cash flows, profit/ (loss) for the
year/ period or any other measure of financial performance or as an indicator of our operating performance, liquidity,
profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or financing activities derived in accordance with Indian GAAP.
In addition, these Non-GAAP Measures are not a standardised term, hence a direct comparison of similarly titled Non-GAAP
Measures between companies may not be possible. Other companies may calculate the Non-GAAP Measures differently from
us, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. Although the Non-GAAP Measures are not a measure of performance
calculated in accordance with applicable accounting standards, our Company’s management believes that it is useful to an
investor in evaluating us because it is a widely used measure to evaluate a company’s operating performance. See “Risk Factors
—59. We have in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus included certain non-GAAP financial measures and certain other industry
measures related to our operations and financial performance. These non-GAAP measures and industry measures may vary
from any standard methodology that is applicable across the industry in which we operate, and therefore may not be
comparable with financial or industry related statistical information of similar nomenclature computed and presented by other
companies” on page 64.

Currency and Units of Presentation

All references to:

. “Rupees” or “X” or “INR” or “Rs.” are to Indian Rupee, the official currency of the Republic of India; and
. “USD” or “US$” are to United States Dollar, the official currency of the United States.

Our Company has presented certain numerical information in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus in “million” units. One million
represents 1,000,000 and one billion represents 1,000,000,000.

However, where any figures that may have been sourced from third-party industry sources are expressed in denominations other
than millions, such figures appear in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus in such denominations as provided in the respective
sources.

In this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, any discrepancies in any table between the total and the sums of the amounts listed are
due to rounding off. All figures derived from our Restated Financial Information in decimals have been rounded off to the two
decimal place. However, where any figures may have been sourced from third-party industry sources, such figures may be
rounded off to such number of decimal places as provided in such respective sources.

Exchange Rates

This Draft Red Herring Prospectus contains conversion of certain other currency amounts into Indian Rupees that have been
presented solely to comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. These conversions should not be construed as a representation
that these currency amounts could have been, or can be converted into Indian Rupees, at any particular rate or at all.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, information with respect to the exchange rate between the Rupee and
the other currencies:

(Amount in 3, unless otherwise specified)
Currency As of June 30, 2022 As of March 31, 2022 As of March 31, 2021 As of March 31, 2020
1 US$ 78.94 75.81 73.50 75.39

(Source: www.fbil.org.in)

Industry and Market Data

Unless stated otherwise, industry and market data used throughout this Draft Red Herring Prospectus has been obtained from
various industry publications and sources, including the report titled “Analysis of Life Insurance Industry in India” dated
October 20, 2022 issued by CRISIL Limited (“CRISIL Report”), which has been paid for and commissioned by our Company
for an agreed fee and which will be available on the website of our Company at https://www.indiafirstlife.com/Investor-
Relations from the date of the Red Herring Prospectus till the Bid/ Offer Closing Date. CRISIL Limited has been exclusively
commissioned by our Company for the purposes of confirming our understanding of the industry in which our Company
operates, in connection with the Offer and was appointed by our Company pursuant to an engagement letter dated September
14, 2022. CRISIL Limited is an independent agency which has no relationship with our Company, any of our Directors or the
Book Running Lead Managers.

Industry publications generally state that the information contained in such publications has been obtained from publicly

available documents from various sources believed to be reliable but accuracy, completeness and underlying assumptions of

such third-party sources are not guaranteed. Although the industry and market data used in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus

is believed to be reliable, the data used in these sources may have been re-classified by us for the purposes of presentation,

however, no material data in connection with the Offer has been omitted. Data from these sources may also not be comparable.

Accordingly, no investment decisions should be based solely on such information. Such data involves risks, uncertainties and
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numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed in “Risk Factors — 51.
Industry information included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus has been derived from an industry report prepared by
CRISIL Limited exclusively commissioned and paid for by us for such purpose” on page 62.

The extent to which the market and industry data used in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is meaningful depends on the
reader’s familiarity with and understanding of the methodologies used in compiling such data. There are no standard data
gathering methodologies in the industry in which business of our Company is conducted, and methodologies and assumptions
may vary widely among different industry sources.

In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the section “Basis for Offer Price” on page 109 includes information relating
to our peer group companies. Such information has been derived from publicly available sources specified herein. Accordingly,
no investment decision should be made solely on the basis of such information.

The CRISIL Report is subject to the following disclaimer:

“CRISIL Market Intelligence & Analytics (MI&A), a division of CRISIL Limited (CRISIL) has taken due care and caution in
preparing this report (Report) based on the Information obtained by CRISIL from sources which it considers reliable (Data).
However, CRISIL does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Data/ Report and is not responsible for
any errors or omissions or for the results obtained from the use of Data/ Report. This Report is not a recommendation to invest/
disinvest in any entity covered in the Report and no part of this Report should be construed as an expert advice or investment
advice or any form of investment banking within the meaning of any law or regulation. CRISIL especially states that it has no
liability whatsoever to the subscribers/ users/ transmitters/ distributors of this Report. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, nothing in the Report is to be construed as CRISIL providing or intending to provide any services in jurisdictions
where CRISIL does not have the necessary permission and/or registration to carry out its business activities in this regard.
IndiaFirst Life Insurance Company Limited will be responsible for ensuring compliances and consequences of non-compliances
for use of the Report or part thereof outside India. CRISIL MI&A operates independently of, and does not have access to
information obtained by CRISIL Ratings Limited, which may, in their regular operations, obtain information of a confidential
nature. The views expressed in this Report are that of CRISIL MI&A and not of CRISIL Ratings Limited. No part of this Report
may be published/reproduced in any form without CRISIL’s prior written approval.”

Notice to Prospective Investors In The United States

The Equity Shares have not been recommended by any U.S. federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority.
Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus or approved or disapproved the Equity Shares. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United
States. In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of our Company and the terms of the
Offer, including the merits and risks involved. The Equity Shares have not been and will not be registered under the United
States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”) or any other applicable law of the United States and,
unless so registered, may not be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a
transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.
Accordingly, the Equity Shares are being offered and sold (a) in the United States only to persons reasonably believed to be
“qualified institutional buyers” (as defined in Rule 144 A under the U.S. Securities Act and referred to in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus as “U.S. QIBs”) in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and (b) outside
the United States in “offshore transactions” (as defined under Regulation S) in compliance with Regulation S and the applicable
laws of the jurisdictions where those offers and sales are made. For the avoidance of doubt, the term “U.S. QIBs” does not refer
to a category of institutional investors defined under applicable Indian regulations and referred to in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus as “QIBs”.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Draft Red Herring Prospectus contains certain “forward-looking statements”. These forward-looking statements generally

9 CEINT3 LRI CEINT3 9

can be identified by words or phrases such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “are likely”, “believe”, “continue”, “can”, “could”, “expect”,
“estimate”, “intend”, “may”, “likely”, “objective”, “plan”, “propose”, “project”, “seek” “will”, “will achieve”, “will continue”,
“will likely”, “will pursue” or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our strategies,
objectives, plans or goals are also forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties,
expectations and assumptions about us that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the
relevant forward-looking statement. All statements in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus that are not statements of historical

fact are ‘forward—looking statements’.

Actual results may differ materially from those suggested by forward-looking statements due to risks or uncertainties associated
with expectations relating to and including, regulatory changes pertaining to the industries in India and other overseas
jurisdictions in which we operate and our ability to respond to them, our ability to successfully implement our strategy, our
growth and expansion, technological changes, our exposure to market risks, general economic and political conditions in India
which have an impact on its business activities or investments, the monetary and fiscal policies of India, inflation, deflation,
unanticipated turbulence in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices or other rates or prices, the performance of the
financial markets in India and globally, changes in domestic laws, regulations and taxes and changes in competition in the
industries in which we operate.

Certain important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not limited
to, the following:

. termination or adverse changes in our bancassurance agreements;

. adverse persistency metrics or an adverse variation in persistency metrics;

. complex regulatory requirements applicable to our Company which, if not complied with, may disrupt our operations;
. actual claims experienced and other parameters are different from the assumptions used in pricing our products and

setting reserves for our products;
. the continuing effect of the COVID-19 pandemic;

. occurrence of natural or man-made disasters or catastrophes, which could materially increase our liabilities for claims
by policyholders and result in losses in our investment portfolios;

° interest rate fluctuations; and

. significant technical complexity involved in embedded value calculations and the estimates used in the Embedded
Value Report, which could vary materially if key assumptions are changed or if our experience differs from our
assumptions used to calculate our Embedded Value.

For further details regarding factors that could cause actual results to differ from expectations, see “Risk Factors”, “Industry
Overview”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
on pages 28, 125, 167 and 337, respectively. By their nature, certain market risk disclosures are only estimates and could be
materially different from what actually occurs in the future. As a result, actual gains or losses could materially differ from those
that have been estimated.

There can be no assurance to Bidders that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements will prove to be correct.
Given these uncertainties, Bidders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements and not to
regard such statements to be a guarantee of our future performance.

Forward-looking statements reflect current views as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus and are not a guarantee
of future performance. These statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions, which in turn are based on
currently available information. Although we believe the assumptions upon which these forward-looking statements are based
are reasonable, any of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate, and the forward-looking statements based on these
assumptions could be incorrect. Neither our Company, our Directors, the Selling Shareholders, the Syndicate nor any of their
respective affiliates have any obligation to update or otherwise revise any statements reflecting circumstances arising after the
date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of underlying events, even if the underlying assumptions do not come to fruition.

In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, our Company and the Book Running Lead Managers will ensure that the

Bidders in India are informed of material developments until the time of the grant of listing and trading permission by the Stock
Exchanges for the Offer.
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In accordance with regulatory requirements including requirements of SEBI and as prescribed under applicable law, each of
the Selling Shareholders shall, severally and not jointly, ensure that the Bidders in India are informed of material developments,
in relation to statements and undertakings specifically undertaken or confirmed by it in relation to itself as a Selling Shareholder
and its respective portion of the Offered Shares in the Red Herring Prospectus until the time of the grant of listing and trading
permission by the Stock Exchanges. Only statements and undertakings which are specifically confirmed or undertaken by each
Selling Shareholder in relation to itself as a Selling Shareholder and its respective portion of the Offered Shares, in this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus shall be deemed to be statements and undertakings made by such Selling Shareholder.

27



SECTION II: RISK FACTORS

An investment in equity shares involves a high degree of risk. Investors should carefully consider all the information in this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before making an investment in the Equity
Shares. We have described the risks and uncertainties that we believe are material, but the risks described below are not the
only ones relevant to us or our Equity Shares, the industry in which we operate or to India. Additional risks and uncertainties,
not currently known to us or that we currently do not deem material may also adversely affect our business, results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition. If any of the following risks, or other risks that are not currently known or are not currently
deemed material, actually occur, our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition could be adversely
affected, the price of our Equity Shares could decline, and investors may lose all or part of their investment. To the extent the
novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") pandemic adversely affects our business and financial results, it may also have the effect of
heightening many of the other risks described in this section. In order to obtain a complete understanding of our Company and
our business, prospective investors should read this section in conjunction with “Industry Overview”, “Our Business”,
“Restated Financial Information”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and “Embedded Value Report” on pages 125, 167, 257, 337 and 468, respectively, as well as the other financial
and statistical information contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. In making an investment decision, prospective
investors must rely on their own examination of us and our business and the terms of the Offer including the merits and risks
involved.

Prospective investors should consult their tax, financial and legal advisors about the particular consequences of investing in
the Offer. Unless specified or quantified in the relevant risk factors below, we are unable to quantify the financial or other
impact of any of the risks described in this section. Prospective investors should pay particular attention to the fact that our
Company is incorporated under the laws of India and is subject to a legal and regulatory environment, which may differ in
certain respects from that of other countries.

This Draft Red Herring Prospectus also contains certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
Investors should read with “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 26 for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties related
to those statements and also the sections entitled “Industry Overview”, “Restated Financial Information” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 125, 257 and 337, respectively, as well
as financial and other information contained in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus as a whole, for a discussion of certain factors
that may affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Our actual results may differ materially from those

expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements.

Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information included herein is based on our Restated Financial Statements included
in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. For further information, see “Restated Financial Information” on page 257. Unless the

context otherwise requires, in this section, references to “the Company”, “our Company”, “we”, “us” and “our”, are to
IndiaFirst Life Insurance Company Limited.

Unless otherwise indicated, industry and market data used in this section has been derived from the industry report titled
“Analysis of Life Insurance Industry in India” dated October 20, 2022 (the “CRISIL Report”) prepared and issued by CRISIL
Limited, appointed by us on September 14, 2022 and exclusively commissioned and paid for by us in connection with the Offer.
The data included herein includes excerpts from the CRISIL Report and may have been re-ordered by us for the purposes of
presentation. There are no parts, data or information (which may be relevant for the proposed Offer), that has been left out or
changed in any manner. Unless otherwise indicated, financial, operational, industry and other related information derived
from the CRISIL Report and included herein with respect to any particular year refers to such information for the relevant
calendar year. For further information, see “Certain Conventions, Use of Financial Information and Market Data and
Currency of Presentation — Industry and Market Data” on page 24.

Internal Risks
Risks relating to the business of our Company

1. Any termination of, or adverse change in, our bancassurance arrangements, and in particular our bancassurance
agreement with one of our Promoters, Bank of Baroda, or a decline in performance standards of our bancassurance
partners, may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We have an extensive multi-channel distribution network across India, and bancassurance represents our largest
distribution channel. We have in recent years experienced a significant increase in sales through our bancassurance
channels, supported by the expansive distribution network of our bancassurance partners and significant access to
potential customers. In particular, we have entered into a bancassurance arrangement with Bank of Baroda, which was
India’s third largest public sector bank and an arrangement with Union Bank of India, which was India’s fifth largest
public sector bank, each in terms of total asset size as of March 31, 2022 (Source: CRISIL Report). Bancassurance
contributed T 7,782.69 million, T 8,204.24 million, X 12,285.51 million and X 2,676.88 million, representing 91.57%,
91.76%, 91.34% and 90.48% of our New Business IRP in Fiscal 2020, 2021 and 2022, and the three months ended
June 30, 2022, respectively. Our existing bancassurance agreement with Bank of Baroda was renewed with effect from
April 1, 2022 and is valid up to March 31, 2025, and our existing bancassurance agreement with Union Bank of India
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was renewed with effect from April 1, 2022 and is valid up to March 31, 2024. We have historically relied and expect
to continue to rely primarily on Bank of Baroda, in particular, as well as on Union Bank of India, for generation of our
New Business IRP in our bancassurance channel. In Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and in the three months ended June 30,
2022, New Business IRP generated through Bank of Baroda represented 73.55%, 73.51%, 70.15% and 69.73%,
respectively, of our New Business IRP in such periods. NBP generated through Bank of Baroda may increase in the
future as we strategically expand our bancassurance business through additional branches, enhancing our reliance on
the channel.

IRDALI regulations permit our bancassurance partners to enter into distribution arrangements with up to three life
insurers, and we may therefore compete with other life insurers to promote our products through our bancassurance
partners. As of the date of this DRHP, Union Bank of India acts as a bancassurance partner for other insurers, such as
Life Insurance Corporation of India and Star Union Dai-ichi Life Insurance Company Limited. There can be no
assurance that, subject to regulatory limits on bancassurance partners, our bancassurance partners will not enter into
similar bancassurance arrangements with other life insurers in the future. For instance, the IRDAI in a recent exposure
draft to amend the IRDAI (Insurance Intermediaries) Regulations has contemplated permitting corporate agents to tie
up with nine insurers each in the general, life and health insurance sectors, instead of the existing limit of three insurers
in each sector.

In addition, if a bancassurance partner is merged with any other entity, any right of first preference for our products
may not be applicable or such right may be foregone. For instance, in 2020, Andhra Bank, our erstwhile bancassurance
partner, was merged into Union Bank of India as per a scheme notified by the Government of India, in consultation
with the Reserve Bank of India. While we have also entered into bancassurance arrangements with eight regional rural
banks in India as of June 30, 2022, these arrangements are also not exclusive in nature, and they currently do not, and
may not in the future, contribute a significant proportion of our bancassurance channel business. Any termination of,
disruption to, or any other adverse change affecting, our relationship with our bancassurance partners, and in particular
Bank of Baroda, could materially and adversely affect our product sales and the growth of our business. An inability
to enter into additional bancassurance arrangements, maintain our relationship with existing partners over competing
life insurers with similar arrangements, fully capitalize on the distribution channels presented by our existing
bancassurance partners, or a lack of qualified and experienced representatives of our bancassurance partners at their
branches could adversely affect our product sales. Further, the bancassurance arrangements with Bank of Baroda
contain certain restrictive activities, such as our Company cannot use Bank of Baroda’s name and logo for
advertisement of the products, marketing and distribution without the prior written approval of Bank of Baroda. For
further information, see “- 28. We use the logo of one of our Promoters, Bank of Baroda, and one of our Shareholders,
Union Bank of India, for marketing and communication purposes, through trade logo agreements. If these agreements
are terminated or we are unable to renew these agreements in a timely manner on commercially viable terms, or at all,
our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations may be adversely affected” on page 52.

Our bancassurance partners may be entitled to terminate the agreements with us in circumstances including (i) any
breach of applicable law or the terms and conditions of the respective agreements, by us; (i) our failure to pay, or
wrongful withholding of commission beyond specified periods; (iii) our submission of any information pertaining to
the agreements that is intentionally false or misleading or in violation of specified regulations, among others.

Amongst major channels of life insurance distribution, insurers with PSU parentage benefit from high share of NBP
from bancassurance channels, which aids commission costs. (Source: CRISIL Report) Through our corporate agency
(including bancassurance and other corporate agents) we had the lowest commission ratio amongst our peer set, at
18.9%, in Fiscal 2022. (Source: CRISIL Report) As the bancassurance market becomes increasingly competitive,
distribution banks, including one of our Promoters, Bank of Baroda, may demand permissible higher commission rates
subject to any regulatory caps as may be applicable, which could increase our cost of sales, thereby reducing
profitability. Our bancassurance partners are subject to the Master Direction- Reserve Bank of India (Financial Services
provided by Banks) Directions, 2016, which are distinct from the regulatory regime applicable to insurance companies
in India. Any regulatory changes affecting the bancassurance business and distribution of insurance products by banks
could adversely affect our arrangements with bancassurance partners or restrict our ability to further grow our business
through the bancassurance channel, and may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

Adverse persistency metrics or an adverse variation in persistency metrics could have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our product pricing and expected future profitability of our business is based on assumptions of future persistency of
the policies. These estimates are based on our historical experience and the product features. If the actual persistency
of our policies is different from our persistency assumptions, it could have a material adverse impact on our business,
profitability and financial condition.

Persistency can be affected by overall customer satisfaction and market sentiments. Events such as changes in
regulatory policies, volatility in capital markets, loss of customer confidence in the insurance industry or in us, or
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decline in our customers’ financial position due to a deterioration in economic conditions, may cause discontinuations
of insurance policies by our customers, lowering persistency. If we do not achieve satisfactory investment returns or
underperform in relation to our competitors, or if the market environment changes such that our products become less
attractive, or if there is an actual or perceived deterioration in our financial strength, our customers may decide to
surrender their policies. In the extreme scenario where a large number of our customers surrender their policies, leading
to pay-outs exceeding our cash flows, we may have to dispose of our investment assets in order to make the significant
amount of surrender payments. Some of our investment assets may have low liquidity and we may be forced to sell
such investment assets at below market value to cover the surrendered payments, which could materially and adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operations. In the last three Fiscals and the three months ended June 30,
2022, we have not been forced to sell any assets at below market prices due to the surrender of policies by our
customers.

While the probability of higher surrenders at the end of the lock-in period (when policyholders no longer have to pay
surrender penalties) for unit-linked policies has been included in the actuarial assumptions used for the calculation of
future projected profits, we may encounter higher than expected surrenders or experience concentrated surrenders at
times other than at the end of such lock-in period. For Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30,
2022, our Company derived New Business IRP of % 2,605.16 million, X 2,589.11 million, % 3,827.47 million and X
838.97 million, respectively, from unit-linked insurance policies, which represented 30.65%, 28.96%, 28.46% and
28.36%, respectively, of our Company’s New Business IRP in such periods. For further information, refer to the
sensitivity analysis in “Embedded Value Report” on page 468.

The following table sets forth our Persistency Ratios (by premium) by product categories for our retail products in the
periods indicated:

Product Period Fiscal Three months
2020 2021 2022 ended June 30,
2022
ULIPS 13" month 79.83% 78.29% 78.74% 80.75%
25" month 70.17% 69.36% 69.97% 71.11%
37" month 65.99% 63.46% 64.93% 65.81%
49" month 61.84% 61.08% 61.05% 61.51%
615 month 36.05% 46.27% 42.05% 44.55%
Participating products 13" month 73.25% 79.12% 78.99% 79.52%
25" month 66.59% 64.48% 71.32% 73.53%
37" month 62.19% 60.05% 60.29% 61.16%
49" month 51.06% 56.58% 57.27% 57.38%
615 month 38.74% 39.79% 44.97% 47.54%
Non-participating, savings | 13" month 71.41% 76.35% 84.35% 86.32%
products 25" month 61.64% 61.09% 67.01% 69.15%
37" month 59.35% 56.78% 58.01% 58.88%
49" month 53.70% 54.19% 52.02% 52.59%
615 month 26.91% 45.42% 46.22% 50.69%
Non-participating,  protection | 13" month 77.39% 93.90% 93.36% 94.13%
products 25" month 64.34% 72.80% 90.31% 88.71%
37" month 66.88% 47.60% 67.92% 70.75%
49" month 50.42% 59.32% 43.69% 43.73%
615 month 42.31% 49.89% 61.81% 61.61%

Maintaining Persistency Ratios in line with pricing assumptions is important for our results of operations, as a large
block of in-force policies provides us with regular revenue in the form of Renewal Premiums. We have an in-house
system for analysing and monitoring Persistency Ratios. For Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June
30, 2022, our Renewal Premiums were % 14,936.48 million, X 20,049.32 million, X 24,203.52 million and X 4,069.21
million, which were 44.45%, 49.44%, 46.67% and 44.82% of our total premium, respectively.

Further, set forth below are details of our individual policies surrendered, compared to our individual AUM in each of
the corresponding periods:

Fiscal 2020 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Three months ended
June 30, 2022
Individual 6.50% 5.04% 4.88% 1.65%
Surrender/
Individual AUM

Deviation from our expected Persistency Ratios would have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.
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Our Company is subject to complex regulatory requirements and if we fail to comply with these regulatory
requirements, our operations could be disrupted or we may become subject to significant penalties.

Our Company is governed by exhaustive and complex laws, regulations, rules and guidelines issued from time to time
by the IRDALI and other regulatory/statutory/governmental authorities in India, which include the following:

Investment Restrictions: In terms of the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Investment)
Regulations, 2016 (“IRDAI Investment Regulations”) read with the Investments — Master Circular issued by the
IRDAI in May 2017 and other rules, guidelines and circulars issued by the IRDAI under the IRDAI Investment
Regulations, our Company is bound to invest a fixed percentage of our Company’s controlled fund for certain products
in specified categories of assets and instruments, including bonds and securities issued by various government
institutions. For example, our Company is required to invest a minimum of 50% of our life fund (funds other than
those relating to our pension, general annuity and group businesses and unit reserves of all categories of our unit-
linked business) in government securities or other “Approved Securities” as defined in the IRDAI Investment
Regulations, which could have a negative impact on our income since interest earned on this portion are at rates that
are generally less favourable than those received on our other interest-earning assets. Our Company is also required to
invest a minimum of 15% of our life funds in the housing and infrastructure sectors. As of June 30, 2022, we have
invested 16.25% of our life funds in the housing and infrastructure sector. Additionally, the IRDAI prescribes exposure
norms and prudential norms which govern the types and categories of securities in which our Company is permitted
to invest. Other investments are restricted to 15% of our Company’s total investments. While the term “Other
Investments” is not defined under the IRDAI Investment Regulations, such term is used to include those investments
of an insurer which are other than the “Approved Investments.” The term “Approved Investments” is defined under
Regulation 3(a) of the IRDAI Investment Regulations. The investments that are ‘deemed’ Approved Investments are
listed in Regulation 3(b) of the IRDAI Investment Regulations. Investment in the insurance business may be subject
to further restrictions in light of an exposure draft issued by IRDAI dated October 13, 2022, which would require an
insurer, its promoters and investors to meet the stipulated “fit and proper” criteria prior to receiving a certificate of
registration as an insurer. The exposure draft also proposes a lock-in period for the promoters and investors of the
insurer in addition to limits on number of insurance entities the investor may invest in. Further, the exposure draft
imposes eligibility criteria on private equity investors, which could limit their ability to make investments in an
insurance business.

Issuance of Capital: The issuance of capital by our Company is governed by the IRDAI Issuance of Capital
Regulations, according to which insurers are required to obtain prior approval of the IRDALI for issuance of capital by
way of public issue or any subsequent issue of equity shares. The aforementioned regulations, inter alia, prescribe the
manner and procedure for the issuance of capital, timelines for IRDAI approval and the conditions which may be
attached to the approval from the IRDAI. Our Company has received in-principle approval dated October 20, 2022
from IRDALI to undertake a public offer in accordance with the provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, under the
provisions of the IRDAI Issuance of Capital Regulations. For details, see “Other Regulatory and Statutory
Disclosures” beginning on page 394. For further information, see “Key Regulations and Policies” on page 204.

Transfer Restrictions: The DPIIT has introduced an amendment to the FDI Policy by issuance of Press Note no. 2
(2021 Series) dated June 14, 2021, permitting FDI to up to 74% in our Company through the automatic route, subject
to verification by IRDAI. However, there are certain restrictions on transfers of Equity Shares of our Company.
Pursuant to the IRDAI Transfer of Equity Shares Regulations, insurers are required to obtain prior approval of the
IRDALI in the event (i) the total paid up capital held by the transferee is likely to exceed 5% of the paid up capital after
the transfer, or (ii) the nominal value of equity shares intended to be transferred by any individual, firm, group,
constituents of a group or body corporate under the same management, jointly or severally, exceeds 1% of the paid up
capital of the insurance company. The IRDAI Transfer of Equity Shares Regulations define ‘Transfer of Shares’ to
include (i) a transfer of shares from an existing shareholder of an insurance company to another person, (ii)
transmission of shares of an insurance company, and (iii) fresh issuance of equity shares which leads to a change in
the shareholding pattern of an insurance company as set out in the preceding sentence. In the event there are one or
more investors (excluding foreign investors) in an insurance company, an investor can hold shares not exceeding 10%
of the paid up equity share capital of such an insurance company. Additionally, the IRDAI has issued the Listed Indian
Insurance Companies Guidelines, which are applicable to all insurance companies whose equity shares are listed on
the stock exchanges and to the allotment process pursuant to a public issue. Accordingly, as regards such insurance
companies the transfer of equity shares shall be in the manner prescribed under the aforementioned guidelines. Further,
in accordance with the IRDAI Circular on Transfer of Shares of the Insurance Companies dated July 22, 2020
(“Transfer Circular”), for acquisitions of more than 1% and up to 5% of the paid up share capital of a listed insurance
company (inclusive of existing holdings), in addition to providing a “fit and proper” declaration as specified in the
Listed Indian Insurance Companies Guidelines, the transferor must inform the insurer immediately on execution of
the transaction. For further details in relation to the Transfer Circular, see “Key Regulations and Policies” on page 204.
For further information, see “- 79. Under Indian law, foreign investors are subject to investment restrictions that limit
our ability to attract foreign investors, which may adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares” on page 72.
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Solvency Ratio Requirement: IRDAI regulations require our Company to have a minimum Solvency Ratio of 1.50x,
calculated as the ratio of Available Solvency Margin to Required Solvency Margin, with both calculated and valued in
accordance with the Insurance Act read with the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Assets,
Liabilities and Solvency Margin of Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016. For more details, see “- 17. If we do
not meet solvency ratio requirements, our Company could be subject to regulatory actions and could be forced to raise
additional capital. We may need additional capital in the future, and we cannot assure investors that we will be able
to obtain such capital on acceptable terms or at all” on page 44.

Restrictions on Place of Business: The Insurance Act and the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of
India (Places of Business) Regulations, 2015 (“IRDAI Places of Business Regulations”) require that IRDAI’s
approval be obtained prior to opening a place of business within India, or a representative/liaison/foreign branch office
outside India.

Caps on Commission or Remuneration to Agents and Insurance Intermediaries: The Insurance Regulatory and
Development Authority of India (Payment of Commission or Remuneration or Reward to Insurance Agents and
Insurance Intermediaries) Regulations, 2016 limits our ability to incentivise our insurance intermediaries in India (e.g.,
individual agents, corporate agents, insurance brokers, bancassurance partners, brokers and insurance marketing firms)
by imposing limits on the payment of commission or remuneration to such agents and intermediaries. The aforesaid
regulations are also subject to change in light of the notification issued by the IRDALI in relation to an exposure draft
of the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Payment of Commission or Remuneration or Reward
to Insurance Agents and Insurance Intermediaries) Regulations, 2022.

Regulations for Unit-linked and Non-linked Insurance Products: The Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India (Unit-Linked Insurance Products) Regulations, 2019 and the Insurance Regulatory and
Development Authority of India (Non-Linked Insurance Products) Regulations, 2019 set forth various regulations
regarding, among others, minimum death benefits and policy terms, discontinuance terms, caps on various charges
under products, surrender value offered under unit-linked and non-linked products and administration and disclosure
norms of such products, with the objective of protecting the interests of policyholders and ensuring that insurers follow
prudent practices while designing and pricing life insurance products.

Obligations to Rural and Social Sectors: The Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Obligation
of Insurers to Rural and Social Sectors) Regulations, 2015, requires an insurer to undertake certain insurance related
business in rural and social sectors, and require life insurers, including our Company, to underwrite a certain percentage
of our number of policies underwritten to persons in the rural sector. Our Company is required to underwrite 20% of
the total policies underwritten by us in a Fiscal Year to the rural sector. Further, our Company is required to ensure that
5% of the business procured in a Fiscal Year are underwritten to identified social sectors.

Regulations in relation to preparation of financial statements: The IRDAI Preparation of Financial Statements
Regulations require insurance companies to prepare financial statements in a prescribed format. Accordingly, any
profit/loss on sale of investments would include accumulated changes in the carrying amount previously recognised
under the Revaluation Reserves. The IRDAI may issue directions specifying the amount to be released from the
Revaluation Reserves for declaring bonus to the policyholders. Further, except for the amount that is released to
policyholders as per the IRDAI’s direction, no other amount can be distributed to shareholders out of Revaluation
Reserves.

Appointed Actuary System: The Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Appointed Actuary)
Regulations, 2017, as amended, require every insurer to appoint an actuary, who renders actuarial advice to the
management of the insurer, particularly in the areas of product designing and pricing, insurance contract wording,
investments and reinsurance. The appointed actuary certifies all statutory valuations required to be provided in the
Actuarial Report and Abstract (including valuation of the insurer’s assets and liabilities) as well as other returns as
required under the laws and confirms that in his/her opinion, the assumptions for such statutory valuations are in
accordance with the respective applicable provisions in the acts, regulations and guidelines of the IRDAI and actuarial
practice standards issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India. The statutory actuarial valuation presented in our
Company’s financial statements and elsewhere of statutory liabilities for our policies with outstanding liabilities as of
March 31, 2022 and as of June 30, 2022, are certified by the Appointed Actuary, Bhavna Verma. Statutory liabilities
for our policies with outstanding liabilities as of March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2021 were certified by our appointed
actuary at the relevant time.

Retention of Information: Pursuant to the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Minimum
Information Required for Investigation and Inspection) Regulations, 2020, our Company is required to maintain
various records to enable an investigating officer to effectively discharge his or her duties as per the Insurance Act,
including a record of all insurance proposals received, a record of cover notes issued, a record of all insurance policies
issued, details of each insurance agent, attendance records of staff, a record of all claims intimated and a record of
premiums received, among others.
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Qutsourcing of activities: The Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Outsourcing of Activities
by Indian Insurers) Regulations, 2017 restrict our ability to outsource core activities to third party service providers,
which could have an adverse impact on costs.

Advertising: Our advertising and marketing campaigns are subject to the Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India (Insurance Advertisements and Disclosure) Regulations, 2021, as amended, read with the IRDAI
Master Circular on Insurance Advertisements dated October 17, 2019 (collectively referred to as “IRDAI
Advertisement Regulations”), which among other things, limits the involvement of third parties in our advertising,
requires us to file a copy of each advertisement with the IRDAI and establish and maintain certain policies and
procedures related to our advertisements. In addition, revisions to the IRDAI Advertisement Regulations could further
restrict our ability to effectively conduct our advertising and marketing campaigns, which could impair our ability to
improve brand recognition and build brand loyalty. In addition to the IRDAI Advertisement Regulations, our Company
is also subject to the Consumer Protection Act, 2019 and the regulatory purview of Central Consumer Protection
Authority.

Expenses of Management: The Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Expenses of Management
of Insurers Transacting Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016 (“EOM Regulations™) prescribe the limit and
scope of the expenses of the management in life insurance business, i.e., all operating expenses, including
commission/brokerage payable to intermediaries, that are charged to the revenue account (policyholders’ account).
The EOM Regulations prescribe the percentage of the allowable expenses under various segments of life insurance
business and the insurers are obligated to ensure that the expenses of management are within the allowable limits on
an overall as well as segmental basis. While these are subject to change based on the exposure draft of the Insurance
Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Expenses of Management of Insurers Transacting Life Insurance
Business) Regulations, 2022, if the expenses of management exceed the allowable limits, the excess is required to be
charged to the Shareholders’ Account.

Any new laws promulgated by the IRDAI relating to, among other matters, product guidelines, rules regarding
insurance intermediaries, distribution or provisioning norms affecting our business etc., may result in increased
operational expenses, including the cost of regulatory compliance. For example, IRDAI vide notification dated August
3, 2022, has issued ‘Exposure Draft — Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Insurance
Intermediaries) (Amendment) Regulations, 2022, which seeks to, among others, increase the maximum limit of tie-
ups with insurers for corporate agents from the existing three for each category of insurance to nine, increase the
maximum limit of tie-ups with insurers for insurance marketing firms from the existing two for each category of
insurance to six and remove restriction on corporate agent (general) to place commercial lines of products having a
total sum insured not exceeding X 50 million per risk for all insurances combined.

Further, the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Protection of Policyholders Interests)
Regulations, 2017 prescribe the form and content in relation to, inter alia, policy documents and proposal forms, and
specify procedures for expeditiously settling claims. The IRDAI Master Circular on Unclaimed Amount of
Policyholders, issued in July 2017 and November 2020, requires our Company to transfer unclaimed amounts (that
have remained outstanding for more than ten years) of policyholders to the Senior Citizens’ Welfare Fund. For more
information on the laws and regulations applicable to our Company, see “Key Regulations and Policies” on page 204.

There have not been any penalties or warnings issued against us in the three preceding Fiscals and the three months
ended June 30, 2022, and all advisories arising from inspections have been implemented. For further information, see
“- 10. Our Company is subject to periodic inspections by the IRDAI Inspection by the IRDAI is a regular exercise for
all insurance companies and we may be subject to inspections from the IRDAI in the future. Non-compliance with the
IRDAI's observations could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows”
on page 39. However, the frequent enactment/repeal of, or amendments to, interpretations of laws and regulations
could, among other things, require us to implement changes to our types of coverage, or prevent us from innovating
and evolving; increase our administrative costs; impose additional capital and surplus requirements; make it more
difficult to obtain regulatory approvals to operate our business or maintain existing regulatory approvals; prevent or
delay us from entering into new service areas or product lines; and increase or change our liability to policyholders in
the event of malpractice by our distributors, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. Regulatory changes have resulted in changes to our business practices
in the past and could continue to do so in the future. There can be no assurance that we will be able to overcome the
disruptions successfully or promptly, and this may impact our results of operations, financial conditions and cash
flows.

If actual claims experienced and other parameters are different from the assumptions used by us in pricing and
setting reserves for our products, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

As is customary in the life insurance industry, we price our products based on assumptions and estimates for future
claim payments as per policy conditions, expenses and commission, expected investment return in future and other
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parameters. The assumptions regarding mortality/morbidity are derived from our historical experience, expected future
outcomes, industry data and data from reinsurers. Similarly, other parameters are also based on our own emerging
experience and anticipated future outcomes. Further, we determine liabilities that provide for future obligations relating
to our products based on certain assumptions and estimates. Our earnings therefore are dependent on the extent to
which our experience with actual benefits, claims and other parameters emerge consistently with the assumptions and
estimates we have used in the pricing of our products and in the determination of the appropriate amount of policy
reserves. The estimates and actual experience are also affected by other factors beyond our control, such as regulatory
developments or judicial determination relating to insurance claims and damages, any change in the political
environment or general macroeconomic trends affecting the Indian economy, including inflation. There may be a risk
that the model and parameter assumptions we make are not appropriate, despite our efforts to ensure the accuracy of
such models and assumptions, including through peer review mechanisms in place for verification. We also utilize
policyholder information and other third-party data in our modelling exercise, which could be inaccurate or
incomplete.

Mortality risk, or the risk of there being higher mortality rates than expected, is more significant for our pure protection
products as compared to our other products that offer both protection benefits and savings. Similarly, if actual mortality
rates are lower than expected for annuitants, it could have a material adverse effect on the profitability of our annuity
portfolio. The actual to expected death strain ratios for Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30,
2022 in respect of non-linked life assurance par business were 110.00%, 112.00%, 169.00% and 102.00%, respectively,
where the actual to expected death strain ratio is (amount paid on death less reserve) as a percentage of ((death benefit
less reserve) multiplied by the mortality rate). The increase in Fiscal 2022 was owing to the increased death claims we
experienced as a result of the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. The morbidity/mortality rates considered for
pricing certain products for which we have limited experience, among others, involve an elevated degree of uncertainty,
as we have limited experience as compared to making assumptions for certain other existing products.
Mortality/morbidity risks have increased in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, as we experienced in Fiscal 2022. If
actual outcomes are not consistent with historical data or our actual investment performance is worse than the
underlying assumptions, our profitability may be materially and adversely affected, which may cause negative variance
in our Embedded Value and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Moreover, based on our risk assessment, if we under-price our products, our profitability could be adversely affected,
while if we overprice our products, our competitiveness, sales, market share and business prospects may be materially
and adversely affected. In addition, various assumptions related to future investment returns are used in pricing our
products and setting reserves. Actual investment returns that are lower than those projected could result in significant
losses on particular products, causing us to increase the price of our products, thereby affecting future business. While
we have not experienced any such instance in the past, we may be required to withdraw product offerings owing to
their lack of financial feasibility. If we do not optimally price our insurance products, it could adversely affect our
results of operations and financial condition.

We establish and carry reserves as balance sheet liabilities to pay future policyholder benefits and claims. Due to the
nature of the underlying risks and the high degree of uncertainty associated with the determination of the liabilities for
unpaid benefits and claims, we cannot precisely determine the amount that we will ultimately pay to settle these
liabilities. These amounts may vary from the estimated amounts, particularly when payments may not occur until well
into the future. In addition, actual experience, such as lapse, mortality, expense and morbidity, investment returns and
inflation can be different from the assumptions used when we establish reserves for and price our products or otherwise
use such assumptions in conducting our business. While we have not witnessed any instance of reserves depleting
significantly owing to failure to predict risks in the past, there can be no assurance that this will not occur in future.

Significant deviations in actual experience from our assumptions could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. For instance, premiums for one-year renewable group term assurance
products are guaranteed for one year and are reviewed and revised at subsequent renewal dates. However, it is difficult
to forecast and allow for unusual events, such as COVID-19, in pricing and such events may cause significant deviation
in actual experience leading to a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The COVID-19 pandemic, and similar events, could adversely affect all aspects of our business, including: (i)
restricting our ability to sell our products; (ii) significantly increasing our expenses due to changes in laws and
regulations and investing in new methodologies to overcome the restrictions brought in to address the spread of
COVID-19 and the adverse changes in population mortality/morbidity or utilization behaviours; (iii) adversely
affecting our investment portfolio; and adversely affecting our operational effectiveness overall.

The World Health Organization (“WHQO”) declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a global pandemic on March 11, 2020.
The Government initiated a nation-wide lockdown from March 25, 2020 for three weeks on all services except essential
services (which included insurance offices), which was extended to May 31, 2020. Vide its circular dated May 9, 2020,
the IRDAI extended the deadline to pay insurance premiums on all life insurance policies to May 31, 2020, for all
policies where the premium was due in the month of March 2020, in line with the nation-wide lockdown. The IRDAI
further allowed insurers to permit delays in the renewal of health insurance policies for up to 30 days. Although the
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nation-wide lockdown was lifted in a phased manner from June 1, 2020, in the aftermath of the second wave witnessed
in the first quarter of Fiscal 2022, many states implemented localized restrictions and lockdowns to prevent the spread
of infections. (Source: CRISIL Report). While the insurance sector was exempted from COVID-19-related state
curfews and lockdowns, we automated relevant processes and closed certain of our branch offices at different points
of time in order to comply with state and local COVID-19-related regulations. Our offices were permitted to remain
open with restricted attendance, starting with up to 10% attendance and gradually increasing up to 15%, 33% and 50%
attendance, following which the attendance restrictions were lifted.

Our Company was mandated by the IRDAI to take, among others, the following measures: (i) submit details of all
branch closures or partial closures every fortnight, (ii) keep track of data in respect of claims related to COVID-19,
(iii) create and submit to the IRDAI a business continuity plan to manage processes, transactions, reporting and
customer service, (iv) form a crisis management committee comprising Key Managerial Personnel to decide certain
COVID-19 related decisions pertaining to our business operations, (v) put systems in place to enable policyholders to
pay premiums via digital methods, which we already had in place, and (vi) adopt a simplified and expedited claim
procedure for claims arising on account of COVID-19. The COVID-19 pandemic has created a low interest rate
environment, with the RBI bringing the reverse repo rate to 3.35% and the repo rate to 4.00% on May 22, 2020, with
the repo rate increasing to 4.90% as of June 30, 2022. To tide over any unwarranted volatility, the RBI also increased
borrowing limits under the marginal standing facility of the liquidity adjustment facility window from 2% to 3% as at
June 30, 2020, which was again reduced to 2% of net demand and time liabilities for overnight borrowings under the
marginal standing facility vide notification dated December 10, 2021, issued by RBI. Investment returns are typically
expected to remain subdued when interest rates stay low for longer, thereby impacting life insurance products.

The COVID-19 pandemic, the nationwide lockdown and other restrictions and regulatory actions taken by the IRDAI
have had, and may continue to have, the following adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows:

Our and our distribution partners’ ability to distribute our products was adversely affected due to lockdowns and social
distancing measures limiting in-person interactions. For Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30,
2022, we procured X 8,499.36 million, X 8,940.65 million, X 13,450.72 million and X 2,958.42 million of New Business
IRP.

Our 37" month Persistency Ratios decreased as of March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2022, compared to March 31, 2020.
The lower 37" month Persistency Ratios for retail products stood at 62.74% as of March 31, 2020, compared to 60.61%
as at March 31, 2021 and 61.93% as at March 31, 2022 was primarily due to declines in some our customers’ financial
positions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, which has improved subsequently.

Our insurance claims by death increased during the pandemic. In Fiscal 2020, the number of death claims reported
stood at 14,066, which increased to 17,969 in Fiscal 2021 and 31,963 in Fiscal 2022 and our Death Claims Settlement
Ratio was 98.56%, 98.70% and 98.83% in each of the relevant periods. In the three months ended June 30, 2022 the
number of death claims reported was 7,237, with a Death Claims Settlement Ratio of 98.21%.

For Fiscal 2022, a separate mortality reserve of ¥ 300.00 million was provided for the COVID-19 pandemic, which
we continue to hold as on June 30, 2022. Currently, we believe the mortality loading in premium rates is adequate for
the long term due to the expected end of the pandemic. The uncertainties related to the pandemic are currently being
addressed through our COVID-19 reserve and we are observing the impact of COVID-19 as it unfolds by comparing
the actual to expected claims experience. We cannot guarantee that our COVID-19 reserves will be adequate to cover
the excess claims arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly as new variants are found.

Further, our operations could be disrupted if key members of management, a significant percentage of our workforce,
or the workforce of certain third parties (including our distribution partners, agents, brokers or service providers) are
unable to continue to work because of illness, government directives or otherwise. The interruption of system
capabilities for our distribution partners, agents, brokers, or service providers could result in deterioration of our ability
to perform necessary business functions, and the shift to remote work arrangements by us, our business partners, and
our service providers could heighten the risk of cybersecurity or data security incidents.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to affect the Indian or global economy, our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in the future will depend on future developments, which are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the pandemic and actions taken by
governmental authorities and other third parties in response to the pandemic. Further, to the extent the COVID-19
pandemic continues to impact our business, results of operations, financial position or liquidity, it may also have the
effect of increasing the likelihood or magnitude of the other risks described in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus.
Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we deem to be immaterial also may materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial position or liquidity.

35



The occurrence of natural or man-made disasters and catastrophes, could materially increase our liabilities for
claims by policyholders and result in losses in our investment portfolios, which could in turn have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition results of operations and cash flows.

The insurance industry, particularly the health and life insurance markets, is exposed to the risk of catastrophes, such
as pandemics or other catastrophic events that causes a large number of hospitalizations and deaths. The occurrence
and severity of many catastrophic events is inherently unpredictable. Our insurance business exposes us to claims
arising out of such events and catastrophes affecting a large segment of the population. In our group insurance business,
a localised event that affects the workplace of one or more of our group insurance customers could cause a significant
loss due to mortality or morbidity claims. In particular, our life insurance business is exposed to the risk of catastrophic
mortality due to events that cause a large number of hospitalizations and deaths, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.
Such events could also result in losses in our investment portfolios, due to, among others, the failure of our
counterparties to perform their obligations or significant volatility or disruption in the financial markets, and could in
turn have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Such events could
adversely affect all aspects of our business, including: (i) restricting the ability of our agents to sell our products; (ii)
significantly increasing our expenses due to changes in laws and regulations and investing in new methodologies to
overcome the restrictions brought in to address the spread of such disasters and the adverse changes in population
mortality/morbidity or utilization behaviours; (iii) adversely affecting our investment portfolio; (iv) adversely affecting
our operational effectiveness; and (v) heightening the risks we face in our business. The extent of losses from a
catastrophe is a function of both the total amount of insured exposure in the area affected by the event and the severity
of the event. Most catastrophes are restricted to small geographic areas; however, pandemics, hurricanes, earthquakes
and man-made catastrophes may produce significant damage in larger areas, especially those that are heavily
populated. Such catastrophic events could also harm the financial condition of our reinsurers and thereby increase the
probability of default on reinsurance recoveries and could also reduce our ability to write new business. In addition,
any catastrophe could lead to regulatory changes in India that may force us to cover healthcare costs for customers for
which we would not typically be responsible, such as through the promulgation of emergency regulations requiring
insurers to relax prior authorization requirements and cover the cost of vaccinations. Furthermore, pandemics, natural
disasters, terrorism and fires could disrupt our operations, increase the numbers of claims, result in uncertainty in
pricing our premiums and result in significant loss of property, key personnel and information about our clients and
their respective businesses if their business continuity plans fail to cope with the scale or nature of the catastrophe.
Such events could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Apart from
the losses caused by the effects of COVID-19 as set forth in “- 5. The COVID-19 pandemic, and similar events, could
adversely affect all aspects of our business, including: (i) restricting our ability to sell our products; (ii) significantly
increasing our expenses due to changes in laws and regulations and investing in new methodologies to overcome the
restrictions brought in to address the spread of COVID-19 and the adverse changes in population mortality/morbidity
or utilization behaviours; (iii) adversely affecting our investment portfolio,; and adversely affecting our operational
effectiveness overall” on page 34, we have not experienced any material losses from the occurrence of natural or man-
made disasters or catastrophes in the last three Fiscal Years and the three months ended June 30, 2022.

We have not set aside a catastrophe reserve and our Company does not have reinsurance cover specifically to reduce
our exposure to claims arising out of catastrophic losses. If catastrophic events covered by our insurance occur with
greater frequency and severity than expected, claims arising from such catastrophic events could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, catastrophic events
may materially and adversely affect market prices for our investments, thereby causing decreased asset values during
a period in which we may also experience increases in claims incurred. A decrease in asset value could result in, among
other things, a write-down in the fair value of assets and other changes to our earnings, which would reduce our
profitability.

Interest rate fluctuations may materially and adversely affect our profitability. In addition, there are limited
amounts and types of long-term fixed income products in the Indian capital markets. The legal and regulatory
requirements on the types of investment and amount of investment assets that insurance entities are permitted to
make could limit our ability to closely match the duration of our assets and liabilities.

Depending on the nature of our asset and liability portfolio, our results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected either by rising interest rates or decreasing interest rates. We seek to manage interest rate risk by matching, to
the extent commercially practicable, the average duration of our investment assets and the corresponding insurance
policy liabilities they support. Matching the duration of our assets to the corresponding liabilities reduces our exposure
to changes in interest rates, because the effect of the changes could largely be offset against each other. However,
restrictions under Indian insurance laws and related regulations, including the IRDAI Investment Regulations, on the
type of investments and amount of investment assets in which we may invest, as well as the limited amounts and types
of long-term investment assets in the Indian capital markets capable of matching the duration of our liabilities, may
result in a shorter duration of assets compared to liabilities with respect to certain investments. We cannot assure you
that the investment restrictions imposed in insurance companies in India will not be strengthened or the sizes and types
of long-term fixed income products available in the Indian securities market may increase in the future. Our failure to
closely match the duration of our assets to that of the corresponding liabilities will continue to expose us to risks related
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to interest rate changes, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

Interest rates are highly sensitive to various factors, including monetary and taxation policies, domestic and
international economic and political considerations including RBI’s monetary and government’s fiscal policies,
balance of payments, inflationary factors, fiscal deficits, trade surpluses or deficits, regulatory requirements and other
factors beyond our control. For example, since April 1, 2018, the RBI reduced the repo rate several times. However,
in recent times, the RBI has increased the repo rate and as of the date of August 30, 2022, the repo rate was 5.40%.

The following table sets forth the composition of our funds by asset class on the basis of carrying value as of June 30,
2022:

Asset Class As of June 30, 2022
Policyholders’ Funds Shareholders’ Total
Linked Funds Non-Participating | Participating Funds Funds
Funds

Carryin | Percentag | Carryin | Percentag |Carrying| Percentag | Carryin | Percentag | Carrying | Percentag

g value |eof Total | g value | e of Total | value |eof Total | g value | e of Total value | eof Total

R®in |AUM (%)| ®in AUM ®in AUM ®in AUM R in AUM

million) million) (%) million) (%) million) (%) million) (%)
Equity 41,519.0 61.36%| 816.83 1.76%| 1,625.95 2.40%| 158.71 3.44%| 44,120.53 23.67%

4
Government| 12,532.8 18.52%| 28,652.8 61.79%| 45,516.2 67.21%| 2,407.65 52.16%| 89,109.64 47.81%
Securities 5 9 6
Debentures | 4,460.87 6.59%| 10,330.9 22.28%| 12,721.5 18.78%| 1,729.60 37.47%| 29,242.97 15.69%
and Bonds 4 5
Fixed - - - - - - 2.60 0.06% 2.60 -
Deposits
Money 8,724.84 12.89%| 5,756.47 12.41%| 6,600.28 9.75%| 963.74 20.88%| 22,045.33 11.83%
Market
Instruments
Investment 426.74 0.63%| 816.85 1.76%| 1,258.02 1.86%| (646.25)| (14.00)%| 1,855.36 1.00%
Net Current
Assets
Total 67,664.3| 100.00%| 46,373.9| 100.00%| 67,722.0| 100.00%| 4,616.05| 100.00%| 1,86,376.4| 100.00%
4 7 7 3

Further, in periods of increasing interest rates, yield on existing portfolios may lag relative to the interest rate
environment, making it difficult to offer crediting rates that will compete with products that account for the interest
rate hike. To account for change in interest rates, we might be required to revise the premium rates for certain product
categories. As a result of such price adjustment we may not remain competitive with peer groups in similar product
categories, who may be able to account for changes in interest rates through other means, without affecting their
product pricing.

Some of our insurance and investment contracts have guaranteed features. These contracts carry the risk that interest
income from the financial assets backing such liabilities are insufficient to fund the guaranteed benefits payable as
interest rates fall or fail to meet customer expectations for participating and non-participating products. During periods
of sharply declining interest rates, we may not be able to fully meet the guaranteed liabilities of our non-participating
contracts.

Non-participating products have insurance and investment guarantees. We use assumptions on future investment
returns when pricing our non-participating products and setting our reserves. Actual investment returns that are lower
than those projected could lead to us incurring losses on non-participating products and cause us to increase the prices
of our non-participating products in the future, thereby affecting future business. The RBI or the Government of India
may implement further measures in response to changes in the macroeconomic environment, which may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. For the three months
ended June 30, 2022, our simple average yield on investments for participating products was (7.02)%, our simple
average yield on investments for non-participating products was (5.85)% and our simple average yield on investments
for linked products, was (21.77)%, in each case including unrealised gains/ losses on investments. For Fiscal 2020,
2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30, 2022, our New Business IRP from non-participating products was I
1,319.12 million, X 3,389.56 million, % 6,664.81 million and % 1,556.80 million, which represented 15.52%, 37.91%,
49.55% and 52.62% of our total New Business IRP in each of the corresponding periods. Our exposure to interest rate
risk with respect to non-participating products will increase if we increase sales of non-participating products. For
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further information, see “Our Business — Business Strategies — Enhance our product mix and build economies of scale
to further improve our profitability and cost efficiencies” on page 174.

For participating products, a decline in interest rates may result in lower bonus rates for policyholders, which may lead
to policyholder dissatisfaction and therefore, an increase in surrenders and a decrease in sales of new policies. For
Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30, 2022, our individual surrender ratio, which is calculated
on the basis of individual surrender amount divided by individual AUM/ individual investments during the period, was
6.50%, 5.04%, 4.88% and 1.65%, respectively. For Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30, 2022,
our New Business IRP from participating products was X 4,575.08 million, % 2,961.98 million, X 2,958.44 million and
% 562.65 million, respectively, which represented 53.83%, 33.13%, 21.99% and 19.02% of our New Business IRP,
respectively.

A sustained or sharp decline in interest rates may result in the reduction of our interest rate assumption used to calculate
the statutory policy liabilities, which would increase mathematical reserves. Increases in mathematical reserves could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of our operations, and could require us to take
actions, such as realigning discretionary benefits to our policyholders or capital funding from Shareholders, or a
combination of both. Rising interest rates could lead to higher levels of surrenders and withdrawals of existing policies
as policyholders seek to buy products with perceived higher returns. While there have been no such instances in the
past, we may be required to sell our invested assets and make cash payments to policyholders at a time when prices of
those assets are declining, which may lead us to incur losses.

In addition, we use assumptions on the future investment returns when pricing our products and setting our reserves.
Actual investment returns that are lower than those projected could lead to us suffering significant losses on certain
products and also cause us to increase the price of our products in the future, thereby affecting future business.

For further information on the effect of interest rates being different from that assumed for the base value of our
Company’s Embedded Value and VNB included in the Embedded Value Reports and herein, see the sensitivity analysis
in “Embedded Value Reports” on page 468.

There is significant technical complexity involved in embedded value calculations and the estimates used in the
Embedded Value Reports could vary materially if key assumptions are changed or if our experience differs from
our assumptions used to calculate our Embedded Value. In addition, there may be a risk that the model used to
calculate Embedded Value itself may not be appropriate despite taking due care to ensure that models are
appropriate. Our VNB may vary as future experience may be different from the assumptions used in calculating
our VNB and may not be comparable to similar information reported by our peers.

In order to provide investors with an additional tool to understand our economic value and business results, information
regarding our Embedded Value has been discussed in “Embedded Value Report” on page 468. While we have obtained
the reports from the Independent Actuary, there is significant technical complexity involved in embedded value
calculations and the estimates used in such Embedded Value Reports could vary materially if key assumptions are
changed or if our experience differs from the assumptions used to calculate our Embedded Value. The Embedded
Value Report, dated September 12, 2022, has been prepared by the Independent Actuary on the basis of the Indian
embedded value method as specified by the IRDAI and in accordance with the requirements and principles prescribed
in the Actuarial Practice Standard 10 (“APS 10”) issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India, which differ from
methodologies that may be used in other jurisdictions, such as the European embedded value method, the traditional
embedded value method and the market consistent embedded value method, and may not be comparable to the
embedded value methodology adopted by our peers. The calculation of the values necessarily includes numerous
assumptions and estimates with respect to, among other things, mortality and morbidity, policy/premium
discontinuance rates and revival/reinstatement rates, commission and expenses, inflation, policyholder
bonuses/crediting rates, reinsurance, asset values, reference rates, investment returns and discount rates, stochastic
asset model, taxation as well as statutory reserving and capital requirements, many of which are beyond our control.

In addition, there may be a risk that the model used to calculate Embedded Value itself may not be appropriate despite
taking due care to ensure that models are appropriate as set out in “Embedded Value Report” on page 468. Our
Embedded Value results may not be comparable with those of insurers in other jurisdictions. Moreover, the values
shown in the Embedded Value Reports do not encompass the full range of potential outcomes.

We have appointed an Independent Actuary to calculate our Embedded Value as at March 31, 2021 and March 31,
2022 for the purposes of the Offer.

Our VNB may vary as future experience may be different from the assumptions used in calculating our VNB. Since

our actual market value is determined by investors based on a variety of information available to them, our Indian

Embedded Value and our VNB should not be construed as a direct reflection of our actual market value and

performance, nor should they be construed to have any correlation with the price of the Equity Shares. Investors should

read the discussion in “Embedded Value Report”, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations — Embedded Value” on pages 468 and 345, respectively, and use special care when
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interpreting Embedded Value and VNB results and should not place undue reliance on them. The inclusion of these
values should not be regarded as a representation of our future profitability by us, the Independent A ctuary, the BRLMs
or any other person. Furthermore, we do not intend to update or otherwise revise these values in the future, whether as
a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Investors should read the Embedded Value Reports in their
entirety, including the disclaimers, context and assumptions set forth therein. It should also be recognised that
assumptions and estimates involve judgment and are forward-looking, actual future results may vary from those
shown, on account of changes in the operating and economic environments and natural variations in experience and
such differences may be material. We cannot assure investors that the future experience will be in line with the
assumptions made. See “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 26.

Any inability to verify the accuracy and completeness of information provided by or on behalf of our customers and
counterparties for pricing and the underwriting of our insurance policies, handling claims and maximizing
automation may subject us to fraud, misrepresentation and other similar risks, which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. We are obliged to collect certain information in relation to
our customers and counterparties and depend on the accuracy and completeness of information provided by or on
behalf of such persons.

In deciding whether to issue policies to customers, pay out claims or enter into other transactions with counterparties,
we necessarily have to rely on information furnished to us by or on behalf of our customers and counterparties,
including, personal details, their medical histories, income statements and other financial information. Our financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by relying on any incorrect, misleading or incomplete
information sourced from customers and counterparties. Such information might include non-disclosure of pre-existing
medical conditions, inaccurate, incomplete or forged income and financial statements, KYC documents, thereby
leading to violation of laws including anti-money laundering (“AML”) related laws.

In addition, pursuant to an amendment to Section 45 of the Insurance Act, no life insurance policy can be called into
question on any grounds, including misstatement of facts or fraud, at any time after three years from the date of the
policy, i.e., the later of (i) date of issuance of policy, (ii) commencement of risk or (iii) revival of policy (or any rider
to the policy). If we are unable to detect any such misstatement or fraud within the stipulated period, we could be
subjected to higher morbidity, mortality and credit risks than those we have assumed. Even if we subsequently believe
or discover that certain representations were made fraudulently, we may not be able to challenge such policies after
the three year period has lapsed. As we continue to increase our dependence on digital modes for dissemination of our
policies, and allow for policy approval and claims settlement online, there is a possibility of increased fraud through
documents being uploaded digitally for KYC purposes, which we may not be able to detect in time. This could lead to
higher claim payments to customers and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

While we have implemented internal controls and fraud monitoring mechanisms to detect and prevent material
misconduct in a timely manner, and seek to implement corrective and preventive measures for recurrence of any such
action, we may not be able to avoid minor incidents of operational errors and frauds, which could harm our reputation
and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. For instance, we
repudiated the policies to the tune of X 52.07 million obtained by certain of our customers in Fiscal 2022 due to
inadequate disclosure provided by these customers. We also cannot assure investors that such incidents will not recur,
and any such recurrences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and reputation. Although we perform regular checks to see if any such party uses or attempts to use our operations for
money-laundering or other illegal activities, nevertheless, our business, financial condition, results of operations and
reputation could suffer, and we may be subjected to regulatory action or litigation. If any such party so uses or attempts,
or if we are unable to timely detect or report such incidents to the relevant regulatory authorities, it could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our Company is subject to periodic inspections by the IRDAI Inspection by the IRDAI is a regular exercise for all
insurance companies and we may be subject to inspections from the IRDAI in the future. Non-compliance with the
IRDAI’s observations could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our Company is subject to periodic inspections by the IRDAI and may be subject to such inspections from the IRDAI
in the future in the course of which the IRDAI may report on divergences (if any) from regulatory requirements
applicable to life insurance companies. In certain of its past inspection reports, the IRDAI has made observations in
relation to, among others: (i) redressal of policyholders’ grievances; (ii) adherence to certain regulations issued by the
IRDALI; (iii) alleged deficiencies in the conduct of our corporate agents; (iv) delays in settlement of claims; (v) non-
payment of maturity amounts within prescribed timelines; (vi) maintenance of internal policies; (vii) excess payments
to corporate agents; and (viii) possible discrepancies in timely refunds of unallocated premium amounts. We have
submitted a response to the IRDAI’s last report dated March 12, 2021 issued in relation to its most recent inspection
of our Company from June 14, 2021 to June 18, 2021 vide letter dated September 14, 2021 and we are currently
awaiting the IRDAI observation/ inspection report. Additionally, the IRDAI conducted an on-site inspection of our
Company between September 16, 2019 and September 27, 2019 pursuant to which it issued its final report dated April
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20, 2020 and an advisory letter dated May 6, 2021. The IRDAI inter alia observed the violation of various provisions
of IRDAI (Protection of Policyholders’ Interest) Regulations, 2017 (“Policyholders Regulations”) and IRDAI
(Actuarial Report and Abstracts for Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016. We have responded to the aforesaid
report on October 16, 2020 and March 23, 2021. In this regard, we have also received a show-cause notice dated May
6, 2021 wherein the IRDAI observed that the Company has kept the amounts of policyholders/customers as unallocated
premium without refunding the same, which implied that the policyholder protection committee had not ensured that
all refunds are paid in a timely manner. Accordingly, the IRDAI alleged a violation of Regulation 8(6) of the
Policyholders Regulations and clauses 3(2) and 5 of Master Circular on Unclaimed Amounts of Policyholders dated
July 25, 2017. The Company responded to the aforesaid show-cause notice on May 26, 2021 wherein it submitted that
the Company has a process of continuous follow up to refund all excess and/or unallocated premium and efforts were
ongoing towards identifying the valid accounts and making refunds to the policyholders. Further communication from
the IRDALI in this regard is awaited and the matter is currently pending. For further information, see “Outstanding
Litigation and Other Material Developments” on page 372.

While we have responded to the observations made by the IRDALI in their inspection reports, advisory letters and show-
cause notice on an ongoing basis and our Board and Audit Committee, as applicable, continue to review such
observations and take steps to improve our internal systems, there can be no assurance that we will be able to respond
to the observations made by the IRDAI in their inspection reports in the future to their satisfaction, within the
prescribed timelines, or that the IRDAI will not make an adverse remark or impose a penalty as a consequence of such
inspections. While there have been no such instances of penalties being imposed on us in the three preceding years
and the three months ended June 30, 2022, in the event we are unable to satisfactorily address the observations of the
IRDALI or are unable to comply with any specified requirements, for any reason, we may be subject to proceedings/
monetary sanctions/ penalties/ regulatory actions such as the mandatory recall of products or the issuance of negative
reports or opinions. Any such outcome may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and reputation.
In the event of, or to the extent that, any grave deficiencies are found in the future, which we are unable to rectify, any
levy of fines or penalties against us, or the suspension or cancellation of our registration with the IRDAI, our reputation,
cash flows, business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations, and the trading price of our Equity Shares
may be adversely affected. Regardless of the ultimate outcome, regulatory action can be long drawn, requiring
significant investment of time and resources.

A significant proportion of our Company’s New Business IRP is increasingly generated by non-participating
products, even as participating products continue to contribute to a portion of our revenues. Any significant
regulatory changes or market developments that adversely affect sales of such products could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and may also require us to
make changes to our existing product designs.

We have increasingly focused on non-participating policies in our business strategy. However, participating products
continue to contribute to a portion of our Company’s revenue. For Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended
June 30, 2022, New Business IRP of our retail participating products was X 4,575.08 million, X 2,961.98 million,
2,958.44 million and X 562.65 million, respectively, which contributed 53.83%, 33.13%, 21.99% and 19.02% to our
New Business IRP in each of the corresponding periods.

As we have focussed on non-participating products to improve our margins, for Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three
months ended June 30, 2022, our New Business IRP from non-participating products was X 1,319.12 million, X
3,389.56 million, X 6,664.81 million and X 1,556.80 million, which represented 15.52%, 37.91%, 49.55% and 52.62%
of our total New Business IRP in each of the corresponding periods.

In the past, IRDAI has introduced new product regulations, namely the Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India (Linked Insurance Products) Regulations, 2019 and the Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India (Non-Linked Insurance Products) Regulations, 2019 (collectively the “IRDAI Product
Regulations 2019”). In accordance with the IRDAI Product Regulations 2019, we were required to make certain
modifications and adjustments to our products sold to ensure that they were compliant with the new regulations. For
more details on the salient provisions under the IRDAI Product Regulations 2019 and the changes that we were
required to make, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Key Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations— Regulatory and fiscal environment — IRDAI Regulations™ on page
340. While the IRDAI has recently prescribed a ‘Use and File’ approach for protection products, which is beneficial
for us, any significant adverse regulatory changes may have an adverse effect our business, financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows and may also require us to make changes to our existing product designs.

In addition, if our participating products generate lower than expected returns to policyholders, this may result in
increased surrenders, which would have an adverse effect on our total premium and thereby on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows. See “- 2. Adverse persistency metrics or an adverse variation in persistency
metrics could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows” on page
29.
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13.

We have incurred net loss in the past, and we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
Further, any negative cash flows from operating activities in the future would adversely affect our cash flow
requirements, which may adversely affect our ability to operate our business and implement our growth plans,
thereby affecting our financial condition.

We have in the past incurred, and may in the future incur, net losses. Further, we have in the past witnessed negative
cash flows from operating activities.

The following table sets forth certain information relating to our net profits and cash flows for the periods indicated:

Particulars Fiscal 2020 Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2022 Three months ended
June 30, 2022

(X in million)
Profit/ (Loss) after tax (974.15) 301.89 (2,816.20) (418.27)
Net cash flows from (5,698.00) (473.67) (20.70) 136.10
operating activities

Negative operating cash flows over extended periods, or significant negative cash flows in the short term, could
materially impact our ability to operate our business and implement our growth plans. As a result, our cash flows,
business, future financial performance and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. We may
not generate sufficient revenue for various reasons, including increasing competition, challenging macro-economic
environment, the ramifications of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as other risks discussed elsewhere in this Draft
Red Herring Prospectus. If we fail to sustain or increase profitability, our business, results of operations and cash flows
could be adversely affected.

For further information, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Operating Activities” and “Summary of Restated Financial
Information” on pages 368 and 77, respectively.

Our previous joint statutory auditors had included an emphasis of matter in their audit report for the financial year
ended March 31, 2020 and our Joint Statutory Auditors have included certain other matters in their examination
report.

Our Joint Statutory Auditors have included certain other matters in their examination report:
Three months ended June 30, 2022

“The actuarial valuation of liabilities for life policies in force and policies where premium is discontinued is the
responsibility of the Company’s Appointed Actuary (the “Appointed Actuary”). The actuarial valuation of these
liabilities for life policies in force and for policies in respect of which premium has been discontinued but liability
exists on financial statements of the Company as at June 30, 2022 has been duly certified by the Appointed Actuary
and in her opinion, the assumptions for such valuation are in accordance with the guidelines and norms issued by the
IRDAI and the Institute of Actuaries of India in concurrence with the IRDAI. We have relied on the Appointed
Actuary’s certificate in this regard for forming our opinion on the valuation of liabilities for life policies in force and
for policies in respect of which premium has been discontinued but liability exists, as contained in the financial
statements of the Company.”

Fiscal 2022

“The actuarial valuation of liabilities for life policies in force and policies where premium is discontinued is the
responsibility of the Company’s Appointed Actuary (the “Appointed Actuary”). The actuarial valuation of these
liabilities for life policies in force and for policies in respect of which premium has been discontinued but liability
exists on financial statements of the Company as at March 31, 2022 has been duly certified by the Appointed Actuary
and in her opinion, the assumptions for such valuation are in accordance with the guidelines and norms issued by the
IRDAI and the Institute of Actuaries of India in concurrence with the IRDAI. We have relied on the Appointed
Actuary’s certificate in this regard for forming our opinion on the valuation of liabilities for life policies in force and
for policies in respect of which premium has been discontinued but liability exists, as contained in the financial
statements of the Company.”

Fiscal 2021

“The actuarial valuation of liabilities for life policies in force and policies where premium is discontinued is the
responsibility of the Company’s Appointed Actuary (the “Appointed Actuary”). The actuarial valuation of these
liabilities for life policies in force and for policies in respect of which premium has been discontinued but liability
exists on financial statements of the Company as at March 31, 2021 has been duly certified by the Appointed Actuary
and in her opinion, the assumptions for such valuation are in accordance with the guidelines and norms issued by the
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IRDAI and the Institute of Actuaries of India in concurrence with the IRDAI. We have relied on the Appointed
Actuary’s certificate in this regard for forming our opinion on the valuation of liabilities for life policies in force and
for policies in respect of which premium has been discontinued but liability exists, as contained in the financial
statements of the Company.”

Fiscal 2020

“The actuarial valuation of liabilities for life policies in force and policies where premium is discontinued is the
responsibility of the Company’s Appointed Actuary (the “Appointed Actuary”). The actuarial valuation of these
liabilities for life policies in force and for policies in respect of which premium has been discontinued but liability
exists on financial statements of the Company as at March 31, 2020 has been duly certified by the Appointed Actuary
and in her opinion, the assumptions for such valuation are in accordance with the guidelines and norms issued by the
IRDAI and the Institute of Actuaries of India in concurrence with the IRDAI. We have relied on the Appointed
Actuary’s certificate in this regard for forming our opinion on the valuation of liabilities for life policies in force and
for policies in respect of which premium has been discontinued but liability exists, as contained in the financial
statements of the Company.”

Our previous joint statutory auditors have also included the following emphasis of matter paragraph in their report on
the financial statements for Fiscal 2020:

“We draw attention to Note 3.37 to the financial statements which explain that there have been no material changes
in the control or processes followed in the financial statement closing process of the company for the year ended
March 31, 2020. In view of the highly uncertain economic environment due to COVID-19 pandemic situation, a
definitive assessment of the impact on the financial statements on the subsequent periods is highly dependent upon the
circumstances as they evolve. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.”

There can be no assurance that any similar emphasis of matters or other observations will not form part of our financial
statements for the future fiscal periods, which could subject us to additional liabilities due to which our reputation and
financial condition may be adversely affected.

We may be unable to implement our growth strategies and develop and distribute an appropriate product mix for
specific customer segments through our distribution channels.

The Indian life insurance sector is highly competitive and the success of our business in India depends greatly on our
ability to effectively manage our business and implement our growth strategies. Our assets under management
(“AUM”) increased at a CAGR of 13.40% from X 147,228.76 million in Fiscal 2020 to % 189,318.10 million in Fiscal
2022 and was X 186,376.43 million in the three months ended June 30, 2022. Our total premium increased at a CAGR
of 24.23% from X 33,604.36 million in Fiscal 2020 to X 51,865.64 million in Fiscal 2022, and was % 9,079.68 million
in the three months ended June 30, 2022. However, these rates of growth may not be indicative of future growth. We
may not be able to sustain our growth amidst intense competitive pressures, consolidation among competitors, or due
to macroeconomic and other factors beyond our control. Any decrease in our growth rates, whether in absolute terms
or relative to industry standards, could adversely affect our market share and future prospects. Any of the foregoing
events may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have a broad, diversified product portfolio, covering segments across the retail and group categories. Retail
products include participating products, non-participating protection products, non-participating savings products,
annuity products and other unit-linked insurance products, while group products include group protection products
and corporate funds. As our capital requirements, pricing assumptions reserving requirements, profitability, and the
profit patterns vary across our products, changes in the product mix for new business may affect our financial condition
and results of operations. While we have strategically focused on certain products, such as protection, annuity and
group fund-based products, and endeavour to create an optimal mix between participating, non-participating and unit-
linked products, there can be no assurance that our strategies will improve profitability and increase the value of our
new business. An inability to continue to grow our product portfolio, achieve an increase in the relative proportion of
our high margin products in our new business, maintain the proportion of products critical for our profitability or
maintain our overall growth levels while developing additional products may adversely affect our market position,
profitability and our VNB.

Our ability to develop and distribute appropriate insurance products for specific customer segments through our
multiple distribution channels on a timely basis affects our business prospects and financial performance. We typically
incur losses in the initial period of new life insurance policies when much of our development and marketing costs are
incurred, while the profits, if any, from such policies emerge over the term of the insurance contract. A significant
growth in new business, while potentially beneficial for our business in the long term, could result in us incurring
significant losses in the short term, thereby affecting our results of operations and financial condition. For further
information on our strategies, see “Our Business — Business Strategies” beginning on page 173. For further information
on competition, see “-23. We face significant competition and our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows could be materially harmed if we are unable to compete effectively” and “Our Business — Competition”
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on pages 50 and 201, respectively. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully implement our growth
strategies or that if we do implement those strategies, it will result in an improvement in our financial condition and
results of operations.

Changes in regulation and compliance requirements could limit our ability to introduce new products, increase our
operating expenses and reduce our operating flexibility.

The regulatory and policy environment in which we operate continues to evolve and remains subject to changes which
may be beyond our control. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be adversely
affected if we are unable to suitably respond to and comply with changes in applicable law and policy.

Our business and product offerings have been affected by a number of regulatory changes pertaining to the insurance
industry in India. In 2010, IRDAI overhauled the regulations affecting unit-linked insurance products and required
insurance companies to cap charges and use prescribed minimum levels of sum assured, which caused a decrease in
new business premiums across the Indian life insurance sector. Health insurance regulations issued in 2016 prohibited
life insurance companies from offering indemnity-based products. The expenses of management regulations issued in
2016 (which specify expense limits for various categories of products) have allowed only 10% of first year premiums
as expenses (including commissions) for deferred annuity products, which has resulted in pension businesses in the
participating segment of insurance companies being unprofitable. Future regulatory changes may require us to commit
significant management resources, require significant changes to our business practices and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In addition, the IRDAI has in the past contemplated moving towards a risk-based capital regime. In such an event, we
may face increased compliance requirements and may need to modify the calculation of solvency ratios. Further,
existing regulations impose caps on the number of life insurers whose products can be distributed by a distribution
partner. Any change to such regulations may allow distribution channels to sell products from multiple life insurance
companies, impacting the quantum of business we are able to generate from the relevant channel. For instance, the
IRDALI in a recent exposure draft to amend the IRDAI (Insurance Intermediaries) Regulations has contemplated
permitting corporate agents to tie up with nine insurers each in the general, life and health insurance sectors, instead
of the existing limit of three insurers in each sector. Similarly, a proposal has been floated requiring life insurers to
formulate board-approved norms for payment of commission to agents, subject to a regulatory cap. Changes such as
these may increase the competition we face in the distribution of our products through corporate agents, as they will
be able to offer a more diverse suite of products.

Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or implementation of any amendment to, or change in, governing law,
regulation or policy, including by reason of an absence, or a limited body, of administrative or judicial precedent, may
be time consuming as well as costly for us to resolve and may impact the viability of our current business or restrict
our ability to grow our business in the future. Any inability or failure by us to comply with, or adapt adequately or
promptly to, changes in our regulatory environment may have an adverse impact on our ability to remain competitive
and have an adverse impact on our results of operations and profitability.

Our risk management policies and procedures and internal controls, as well as the risk management tools available
to us, may not be adequate or effective in identifying and responding to risks.

We have historically established a risk management system in accordance with the requirements of IRDAI by
developing internal control systems comprising an organisational framework, policies, procedures and methods to help
us identify risks and develop mitigating measures that we consider to be appropriate for the scale of our business
operations, and we endeavour to continuously improving these systems. For more details, see “Our Business — Risk
Management” on page 196. However, due to the inherent limitations in the design and implementation of such a
system, including internal control environment, risk identification and evaluation, effectiveness of risk control, and
information communication, our systems may not be adequate or effective in identifying or mitigating our risk
exposure in all market environments or against all types of risks. For instance, we were exposed to higher claims owing
to the unexpected COVID-19 pandemic. In particular, some methods of managing risk are based upon observed
historical market behaviour, statistics and claims experience. These methods may also fail to predict future risk
exposures, which could be significantly greater than those indicated by historical measures. Other risk management
methods depend upon an evaluation of available information regarding operating and market conditions and other
matters. This information may not be accurate, complete or properly evaluated. Moreover, the information and
experience data that we rely on may quickly become obsolete as a result of market and regulatory developments, and
our historical data may be unable to adequately reflect risks that may emerge from time to time in the future.

We have a risk management framework, with individual functional heads at our corporate offices monitoring and

managing the risks relating to their functions. Our Board of Directors provide overall guidance on risk management,

which includes providing oversight on key risks and measures, approving our risk management policy, our risk

management strategy, our risk appetite statement, our asset/liability management (““ALM”) policy on an annual basis

and the business continuity plan. For further information, see “Our Business — Risk Management” on page 196.

Management of operational, legal and regulatory risks requires, among other things, policies and procedures to
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properly record and verify a large number of transactions and events, as well as appropriate and consistently applied
internal control systems. As part of our risk management procedures, we use models that rely on assumptions and
projections that are inherently uncertain. These policies, procedures, internal controls and assumptions may not be
adequate or effective, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected by the corresponding increase in our risk exposure and actual losses experienced as a direct or indirect result
of failures of our risk management policies and internal controls. Any mitigation programmes that we may utilise may
also not be fully effective or may not adequately cover our liabilities and may leave us exposed to unidentified and
unanticipated risks. Any inability to implement and continuously upgrade effective risk management procedures or
non-availability of adequate information to respond to such risks in a timely manner may result in significant
operational risks including non-compliance with applicable regulations which may adversely affect our business and
financial performance.

We are mainly in the business of being paid to accept certain risks and provide relevant protection. Our employees,
intermediaries and agents do so in part by taking decisions that expose us to risks. These decisions include setting
underwriting guidelines and standards, product design and pricing, investment decisions, and pursuit of business
opportunities, among others. In addition, our employees, intermediaries and agents may make decisions beyond their
scope of authority that expose us to additional risks. For more details, see “-19. We may not be able to detect, in a
timely manner, or prevent fraud or misconduct. Any actual or alleged misconduct or fraudulent activity by our
employees, agents and other distribution partners may lead to customer claims as well as regulatory action against
us, require us to compensate customers for such fraud, pay penalties, face regulatory restrictions on our operations
or similar penalties, and damage our reputation, all of which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations” on page 46.

Any future expansion and diversification in our insurance product offerings and investments will require us to continue
to enhance our risk management and internal control capabilities. As the Indian insurance market continues to evolve,
we are likely to offer a broader and more diversified range of life insurance products and invest in a wider range of
investment assets in the future. If we fail to timely adapt our risk management and internal control policies and
procedures to our developing business, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

If we do not meet solvency ratio requirements, our Company could be subject to regulatory actions and could be
forced to raise additional capital. We may need additional capital in the future, and we cannot assure investors that
we will be able to obtain such capital on acceptable terms or at all.

Indian laws and regulations require our Company to maintain a specified level of solvency. As at March 31, 2020,
2021 and 2022, and June 30, 2022 our Company’s Solvency Ratio was 172.25%, 181.26%, 165.06% and 166.04%,
respectively. The solvency ratio is the ratio of the excess of assets over liabilities to the required capital. Under the
Insurance Act, every insurer is required to maintain, at all times, an excess of value of assets over the amount of
liabilities of not less than 50% of the amount of minimum capital as prescribed therein. IRDAI further specifies a level
of solvency ratio, which is the ratio of (i) the amount of the Available Solvency Margin, which is excess of value of
assets (as furnished in form-AA specified under Insurance Regulatory Development Authority of India (Actuarial
Report and Abstracts for Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016) over the value of life insurance liabilities (as
furnished in form-KT-3 of Insurance Regulatory Development Authority of India (Actuarial Reports and Abstracts for
Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016) and other liabilities of policyholders’ fund and shareholders’ funds to (ii)
to the amount of Required Solvency Margin as specified in form-KT-3 of Insurance Regulatory Development Authority
of India (Actuarial Report and Abstracts for Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016 (the “Solvency Ratio”). As
at June 30, 2022 the mandated Solvency Ratio was 1.50x.

If our Company fails to meet the minimum Solvency Ratio required under IRDAI regulations, in accordance with
Section 64VA(4) of the Insurance Act, we may be required to submit a financial plan to the IRDAI, indicating a plan
of action to correct the deficiency within a specified period not exceeding six months. The IRDAI may propose
modifications to the financial plan so submitted if the IRDAI deems it to be inadequate, and in such an eventuality, the
IRDAI may impose such restrictions as it may deem necessary, including restrictions with regard to transacting any
new business or the appointment of administrator with respect to our business, or both. While we have had no instances
of failure to meet the minimum Solvency Ratio, failure to do so in certain exceptional circumstances, this could also
result in a suspension of our Company’s certificate of registration as a life insurance company. For further information
on the Solvency Ratio required to be maintained by our Company, see “Key Regulations and Policies - Certain
regulations prescribed by the IRDAI” on page 2006.

Our Solvency Ratio is affected by factors such as our amount of capital, product mix, business growth, inadmissible
assets and profitability. If our share capital and profit cannot continue to support the growth of our business in the
future, or if the IRDAI increases the statutorily required Solvency Ratio or changes the solvency regime from the
current regime, if our financial condition or results of operations deteriorate including on account of the COVID-19
crisis, or there is an increase in claims due to resurgence of cases of COVID-19 in India or if we cannot comply with
the statutorily required Solvency Ratio requirements for any other reason, we may need to raise additional capital in
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order to meet such requirements. Any such change, including a change to a risk-based solvency regime, could subject
us to significant compliance costs and we may need to raise additional capital in order to achieve compliance with the
changed requirement.

India’s solvency regime may be different from those of other countries. Therefore, our Company’s calculation of
Solvency Ratio might not be comparable to that of insurance companies in other countries with which an investor in
the Equity Shares might be familiar. The present framework of determination is a factor-based approach with factors
and computational methodology prescribed in the IRDAI’s Asset Liability and Solvency Margin Regulations, 2016
(the “ALSM Regulations”). These factors include mathematical reserves before reinsurance, mathematical reserves
after reinsurance, sum at risk before reinsurance and sum at risk after reinsurance. Any shift by IRDAI away from a
factor-based approach to adopt a risk-based approach for the determination of an insurance company’s capital could
potentially affect our capital requirements and consequently our capital position, which in turn could lead to the need
for a capital infusion.

We may require additional capital in the future to absorb the loss that will be incurred when other investments forming
part of the pension and group funds are transferred to the Shareholders’ funds at amortised cost, to scale up faster and
enter into new partnerships, undertake acquisitions, remain competitive, pay operating expenses, conduct investment
activities, meet our liquidity needs, expand our base of operations and offer new products and services. To the extent
our existing sources of capital are insufficient for satisfying our needs, we will need to seek external sources for
funding. Our ability to obtain additional capital from external sources in the future is subject to a variety of
uncertainties, including but not limited to, our future financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, regulatory
approvals, changes in regulations relating to capital raising activities, our credit rating, general market conditions for
capital raising activities, and other economic and political conditions in and outside India. In addition, the IRDAI and
other regulatory bodies may not permit additional equity issuances or financing that we may wish to pursue, and may
restrict the types of investors who may provide us with equity financing, in particular foreign investors. For instance,
the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Other Forms of Capital) Regulations, 2015, provides
a limit up to which insurers can raise capital in forms other than equity. The total quantum of the instruments taken
together cannot exceed 25% of total of paid-up equity share capital and securities premium of an insurer. However,
the total quantum of the “other forms of capital” cannot exceed 50% of the net worth of an insurer. For further
information, see “Key Regulations and Policies” on page 204. Our Company has issued unsecured and listed NCDs
that are currently outstanding. For further information, see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 335. Future debt
financing could include terms that restrict our financial flexibility or restrict our ability to manage our business freely.
Furthermore, the terms and amount of any additional capital raised through issuances of equity securities may
significantly dilute our Shareholders’ equity interests. For further information, see “- 3. Our Company is subject to
complex regulatory requirements and if we fail to comply with these regulatory requirements, our operations could be
disrupted or we may become subject to significant penalties” on page 31.

Failure by us to meet the solvency ratio requirements may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects, including leading to a risk of default of interest payment on our NCDs as the
IRDAI may not permit us to make interest payments on such NCDs if the solvency ratio is below the control level of
solvency. Under a risk-based solvency regime, the solvency requirements of an insurer will depend on the risks
underwritten by the insurer and, consequently, this may result in our Company having to maintain a Solvency Ratio of
more than 1.5x in proportion to the risks underwritten. In the event of any change in the regulatory requirements on
solvency ratios, we will be required to comply with such ratios as well. Also see “- 17. If we do not meet solvency ratio
requirements, our Company could be subject to regulatory actions and could be forced to raise additional capital. We
may need additional capital in the future, and we cannot assure investors that we will be able to obtain such capital
on acceptable terms or at all” on page 44.

We may be unable to obtain external reinsurance on a timely basis at reasonable costs and are exposed to
concentration risk with individual reinsurers.

We utilise the reinsurance markets to minimize our risk exposure in order to stabilize our earnings, support our growth
and protect our capital resources. For Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30, 2022, our
reinsurance ceded to third-party reinsurers was X 1,151.40 million, % 1,545.62 million, X 2,013.59 million and I 344.52
million, respectively.

Our ability to obtain external reinsurance on a timely basis and at a reasonable cost is subject to a number of factors,
many of which are beyond our control. In particular, certain risks that we are subject to, such as epidemics or
pandemics, including the COVID-19 are difficult to reinsure. While reinsurance agreements generally bind the
reinsurer for the life of the business reinsured at fixed pricing, market conditions beyond our control determine the
availability and cost of the reinsurance protection for new business. In certain circumstances, the price of reinsurance
for business already reinsured may also increase. If we are unable to renew any expiring external coverage or obtain
acceptable new external reinsurance coverage on terms that would provide us with adequate protection, our net risk
exposure could increase or, if we are unwilling to bear an increase in net risk exposure, our overall underwriting
capacity and the amount of risk we are able to underwrite would decrease. To the extent that we are unable to utilise

45



19.

external reinsurance successfully, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

For Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30, 2022, the total amount ceded in reinsurance for
claims paid (claims by death and other benefits, and including surrenders and withdrawals) was % (1,002.97) million,
% (1,471.43) million, % (3,372.01) million and T (636.74) million, respectively, which represented 3.24%, 4.42%,
8.41% and 8.15%, respectively, of insurance claims paid. Although a reinsurer would be liable to us for the risk
transferred pursuant to a reinsurance arrangement, such an arrangement does not discharge our primary liability to our
policyholders. As a result, we are exposed to credit risk with respect to our current and future reinsurers. In particular,
our reinsurers may default in their obligations to us under our reinsurance arrangements due to bankruptcy, lack of
liquidity, downturns in the economy, operational failure, fraud or other reasons. We are also subject to the risk that our
rights against our reinsurers may not be enforceable in all circumstances. As a result, although we seek reinsurance
arrangements only with reputable and creditworthy reinsurers, a default by a reinsurer or the unenforceability of our
rights against such reinsurer would increase the financial losses arising out of a risk we have insured, which would
reduce our profitability and may have a material adverse effect on our liquidity position. We cannot assure investors
that our reinsurers will always be able to meet their obligations under our reinsurance arrangements on a timely basis,
if at all. However, if our reinsurers fail to pay us on a timely basis, or at all, our business, financial condition and results
of operations could be adversely affected.

We are exposed to concentration risk with individual reinsurers due to the nature of the reinsurance market and the
restricted range of reinsurers that have acceptable credit ratings. For more details, see “Our Business — Reinsurance”
on page 192.

We may not be able to detect, in a timely manner, or prevent fraud or misconduct. Any actual or alleged misconduct
or fraudulent activity by our employees, agents and other distribution partners may lead to customer claims as well
as regulatory action against us, require us to compensate customers for such fraud, pay penalties, face regulatory
restrictions on our operations or similar penalties, and damage our reputation, all of which could adversely affect
our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Misconduct by our employees, agents or other distribution partners could result in violations of laws and regulations,
which could bring regulatory sanctions, litigation and reputational or financial loss to us, as well as financial loss to
our customers. and expect to continue to be subjected to, fraudulent activities by employees, customers and third
parties. Although we maintain a system of internal controls to monitor, detect and prevent fraud, there can be no
assurance that we will not suffer significant losses due to fraudulent activities. Such misconduct and fraud could
include:

. engaging in mis-selling, misrepresentation or fraudulent, deceptive or otherwise improper activities when
marketing or selling products;

. binding us to transactions that exceed authorised limits;

. hiding unauthorised or unsuccessful activities, such as insider trading, resulting in unknown and unmanaged
risks or losses;

. improperly using or disclosing confidential information;

. making illegal or improper payments;

. falsifying documents or data;

. misappropriation of funds;

. engaging in unauthorised or excessive transactions to the detriment of our customers;

. intra-employee disputes or disciplinary proceedings initiated against our employees; or
. otherwise not complying with applicable laws or our internal policies and procedures.

The following table sets forth the number of fraud cases, including cases of cash embezzlement by intermediaries,
committed against our Company and the total amount of involved in such fraud cases for the periods presented:
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Fiscal 2020

Description of Unresolved cases at New cases detected Cases closed during Unresolved cases at
Fraud the beginning of the during the year the year the end of the year
ear
No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount
involved R involved R involved R involved R
in million) in million) in million) in million)
Policyholders 8 25.68 69 53.97 76 74.09 1 5.55
Fraud
Intermediary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fraud
Internal Fraud 2 0.80 1 5 3 1.30 0 0
Total 10 26.47 70 54.47 79 75.39 1 5.55
Fiscal 2021

Description of

Unresolved cases at

New cases detected

Cases closed during

Unresolved cases at

Fraud the beginning of the during the year the year the end of the year
year
No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount
involved R involved involved (% involved
in million) in million) in million) in million)
Policyholders 1 5.55 49 3598 48 34.57 2 6.95
Fraud
Intermediary 0 0 1 0.26 1 0.26 0 0
Fraud
Internal Fraud 0 0 2 9.73 1 0.49 1 9.23
Total 1 5.55 52 45.96 50 35.32 3 16.18
Fiscal 2022

Description of

Unresolved cases at

New cases detected

Cases closed during

Unresolved cases at

Fraud the beginning of the during the year the year the end of the year
ear
No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount
involved R involved R involved R involved R
in million) in million) in million) in million)
Policyholders 2 6.95 118 66.32 120 73.27 0 0
Fraud
Intermediary 0 0 6 1.00 4 0.86 2 0.14
Fraud
Internal Fraud 1 9.23 12 3.43 12 12.55 2 1.11
Total 3 16.18 136 70.75 136 86.68 4 1.25
Three months ended June 30, 2022
Description of Unresolved cases at New cases detected Cases closed during Unresolved cases at
Fraud the beginning of the during the year the year the end of the year
ear
No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount
involved involved involved R involved
in million) in million) in million) in million)
Policyholders 3 0.25 126 26.18 126 26.18 3 0.25
Fraud
Intermediary 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fraud
Internal Fraud 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 3 0.25 126 26.18 126 26.18 3 0.25

In addition, our sales intermediaries have direct contact with our customers and have knowledge of their personal and
financial information. This contact exposes our clients to various forms of possible misconduct, including unethical /
illegal sales practices, fraud, identity theft, breach of confidentiality and loss of personal information. Any such
misconduct could have a material adverse effect on our business and reputation.

For further information, see “Outstanding Litigation and Other Material Developments — Litigation involving our
Company — Litigation by our Company” on page 374.

While we have implemented an anti-fraud policy, there can be no assurance that we will be able to prevent all
misconduct and fraud by our employees, agents and other distributors, any instances of misconduct or fraud could
adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Failures of or inadequacies in our information technology systems could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business operations depend heavily on the ability of our information technology systems to process and record a
large number of transactions across different distribution channels and numerous product lines. Our technology
capabilities follow a three-pronged approach, streamlining our operations at the level of our customers; our internal
functioning and operations; and our distribution partners, and any disruption in our information technology system can
impact our overall operations. In particular, transaction processes have become increasingly complex, and the volume
of transactions continues to grow at a significant rate. The proper functioning of our financial controls, accounting,
customer database, customer service and other data processing systems, including those relating to underwriting and
claims processing functions, actuarial and risk management, and the communications systems linking our offices and
our principal IT centres, are critical to our business operations and our ability to compete effectively. For more
information on our information technology systems, see “Our Business —Technology Infrastructure and Initiatives” on
page 185.

Delays, system failures or other accidents may also occur during system upgrades or introduction of new systems.
Further, we may need to incur increased expenses due to additional license requirements for new technology or
software. In addition, upgraded or new information technology systems may not be able to achieve the projected
processing capacity and availability, and may also not be able to meet the needs of our business scale and business
growth in the future. Further, we may face risks stemming from failure of third parties to whom we outsource our
systems management and networking operations. A partial or complete failure of any of these information technology
or communications systems could result in our inability to perform, or result in prolonged delays in the performance
of, critical business and operational functions, the loss of key business information and customer data, or a failure to
comply with regulatory requirements. While our Company has experienced minor incidents of technology downtime
in the past, which ranged from 15 minutes to 240 hours which impacted certain applications, any prolonged failure
could also affect our risk management and customer service functions, resulting in a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. These failures could be caused by, among other
things, software bugs, computer virus attacks, malware and cybersecurity attacks, conversion errors due to system
upgrading, failure to successfully implement ongoing information technology initiatives, natural disasters such as
earthquakes and floods, war, terrorist attacks and unanticipated problems at our existing and future facilities.

Pursuant to the IRDAI Guidelines on Information and Cyber Security for Insurers dated April 7, 2017
(IRDA/IT/GDL/MISC/082/04/2017), certain audits are periodically conducted on life insurance companies. On
January 18, 2022, we received the report pursuant to the information and cybersecurity audit conducted on our
Company. The report noted certain key findings in our IT operations, including (i) delay in access revocation of
resigned users from the human resources team, (ii) failure in access revocation of dormant users; and (iii) absence of
data classification in relation to certain documents. While we have provided responses to the observations made in the
report and have undertaken to effect remedial and preventive measures, we cannot guarantee that any such findings in
the future will not result in penalties or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

While we have a disaster recovery facility in place in Hyderabad, Telangana, a primary data center in Navi Mumbai,
Mabharashtra and maintain tape back-ups, we cannot assure investors that our Company’s business activities would not
be materially disrupted in the event of a partial or complete failure of any of these or other information technology
systems or related processes.

Denial of claims or our failure to accurately and timely pay claims could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

We must accurately and timely evaluate and pay claims that are made under our policies. Many factors affect our
ability to pay claims accurately and timely, including but not limited to the training and experience of our in-house
claims team, our ability to develop or select and implement appropriate procedures and systems to support our claims
functions, and the functionality of the information technology systems on which we rely to pay claims. Other factors
that are beyond our control, including those specific to individuals claims or in general, may also result in delay in
payment of claims, such as lack of cooperation from external parties, including the insured, local authorities, as well
as and timely submission of required documents. If our information technology systems and claims team are unable
to effectively process our volume of claims, our ability to grow our business while maintaining high levels of customer
satisfaction could be compromised, which in turn, could adversely affect our ability to retain existing customers and
attract new ones and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. The speed
with which our technology allows us to process and pay claims is, in particular, a differentiating factor for our business
and an increase in the average time to process claims could undermine our reputation and position in the insurance
marketplace. There can be no assurance that we will be able to appropriately maintain and update our information
technology systems or retain and attract a sufficient number of members for our claims team to keep pace with an
increasing volume of claims as our business grows. Furthermore, any failure to pay claims accurately or timely could
also lead to regulatory and administrative actions, litigation, or result in damage to our reputation, any one of which
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could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

Our business involves the use, transmission and storage of confidential customer information and the failure to
properly safeguard such information could result in violations of data privacy laws and regulations and lead to
reputational harm and monetary damages, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business involves the collection, processing, storage, use and transmission of a large volume of confidential
policyholder information, as well as financial, employee and operational information, both online and offline. Despite
the security measures we have put in place, there remains a risk that such data could be lost and/or misused as a result
of intentional or unintentional acts by internal or external parties. While our Company has not experienced such
incidents in the past, our computer networks and IT infrastructure may be exposed to computer attacks or disruptions,
which may jeopardize the security of information stored in and transmitted through our computer systems or the
systems that we manage. As a result, we may be required to expend significant resources to protect against the threat
of these security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by these breaches. Techniques used to obtain unauthorized
access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target. We
may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. Even if we anticipate these
attacks, we may not be able to counteract these attacks in time to prevent them. In addition, our arrangements with our
bancassurance partners, agents and other service providers expose us to the risk of such third parties failing to maintain
and protect the security and confidentiality of our or our policyholders’ information and data. We are also at risk of a
data security breach involving another third party or by internal stakeholders, including our agents or employees, which
could result in a breakdown of such third party’s data protection processes or in cyber-attackers gaining access to our
infrastructure through the third party. To the extent that a third party or our internal stakeholders suffer a data security
breach that compromises its operations, we could incur significant costs related to litigation, service interruptions or
damage to our reputation or relationships with our policyholders. Any security breach, data theft, unauthorised access,
unauthorised usage, virus or similar breach or disruption could result in loss or disclosure of confidential information,
damage to our reputation, litigation, regulatory investigations or other liabilities, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Also see, “- 20. Failures of or
inadequacies in our information technology systems could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows” on page 48.

We are subject to various data privacy laws and regulations that regulate the use of customer data. Compliance with
these laws and regulations may restrict our business activities and require us to incur increased expenses and devote
considerable time to compliance efforts. Applicable data privacy laws and regulations could also adversely affect our
distribution channels and limit our ability to use third-party firms in connection with customer data. Certain of our
corporate agency agreements include provisions for the sharing of customer data between us and our bancassurance
partners, which agreements were made in accordance with applicable laws and regulations relating to data privacy.

Certain of these laws and regulations are relatively new and their interpretation and application remain uncertain. Data
privacy laws and regulations are also subject to change and may become more restrictive in the future. For instance,
the IRDALI issued its Guidelines on Information and Cyber Security for Insurers dated April 7, 2017, which effected a
comprehensive information and cyber security framework in the Indian insurance sector, and timelines for all insurers
to comply with certain measures, such as the finalisation of a Board-approved Information and Cyber Security Policy
and the completion of the first comprehensive Information and Cyber Security assurance audit. On February 24, 2021,
the IRDAI formed a working group committee to review and consider whether to update its cyber security guidelines
amidst the increase in cyberattacks in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Moreover, with the ongoing regulatory discussions regarding proposed Indian regulations to govern non-personal data,
the privacy and data protection laws are set to be closely administered in India, and we may become subject to
additional potential liability. The Gol is also in the process of considering legislation governing non-personal data
(defined as any data other than personal data). In September 2019, the Ministry of Electronics and Information
Technology of the Gol formed a committee of experts (“NPD Committee”) to recommend a regulatory regime to
govern non-personal data. The NPD Committee has released two reports, which recommend, among other items, a
framework to govern non-personal data, access and sharing of non-personal data with the Gol and corporations alike
who will undertake a ‘duty of care’ to the community to which the non-personal data pertains and a registration regime
for “data businesses”, meaning businesses that collect, process or store data, both personal and non-personal.

As part of our operations, we are required to comply with the Information Technology Act, 2000, which provides for
civil and criminal liability, including compensation to persons affected and penalties for various cyber-related offences,
such as the unauthorised disclosure of confidential information and failure to protect sensitive personal data. In
addition, the Gol has implemented certain privacy laws, including the Information Technology (Reasonable Security
Practices and Procedures and or Information) Rules, 2011, which impose limitations and restrictions on the collection,
use, disclosure and transfer of personal information. For further information, see “Key Regulations and Policies” on
page 204. Further restrictions and other changes in data privacy laws and regulations could have a material adverse
effect on our business and results of operations.
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We face significant competition and our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could
be materially harmed if we are unable to compete effectively.

The life insurance market is highly competitive. Competition in the insurance business is based on many factors. Closer
integration between the insurance and banking sectors may potentially better align their economic interests and
increase incentives for banks to distribute insurance products and services of their insurance business affiliates and
partners instead of ours. Such potential competitors may further increase the competitive pressures we expect to face,
especially in our bancassurance distribution channel, through which the staff of a bank offer our products to the bank’s
customers. Our competitors may also have an advantage as a result of longer operating experience and greater product
diversification than us.

We face significant competition in India with respect to our business. Our ability to compete is based on a number of
factors, including premiums charged and other terms and conditions of coverage, product features, investment
performance, services provided, product development, distribution capabilities, scale, experience, commission
structure, brand strength and name recognition, information technology and actual or perceived financial strength.

Private sector insurance companies have been growing and gaining market since entry into the Indian insurance
industry in 2001. From Fiscal 2014 to Fiscal 2020, the New Business IRP for private sector players in the life insurance
industry in India increased at a CAGR of 16%. (Source: CRISIL Report) While our Company grew at a CAGR of
27.3% in terms of New Business IRP in the five year period ending Fiscal 2022, in terms of total premium in the Indian
life insurance sector our Company had a market share of 2.00% in Fiscal 2022. (Source: CRISIL Report). In terms of
New Business IRP, our Company had a market share of 2.4% in Fiscal 2022. (Source: CRISIL Report).

Our competitors also include non-life (i.e., health and general) insurance companies (to the extent that they distribute
accident and health insurance products that overlap with ours), pension funds, mutual fund companies, reinsurance
companies, banks and other financial services providers.

We also face potential competition from commercial banks, which are permitted to invest in, or form alliances with,
insurance companies to offer insurance products and services that compete against those offered by us. With further
liberalization of the Indian economy and permitted foreign investment in the insurance sector through the recently
passed Insurance (Amendment) Act, 2021, there is an impending possibility of foreign players entering the market and
capturing market share.

Consolidation among our competitors, including acquisitions of insurance companies in India, could result in
additional or more established competitors with strong financial resources, marketing and distribution capabilities and
brand recognition. The increased competitive pressures resulting from these, our failure to respond effectively to these
various competitive pressures and other factors may materially and adversely harm our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows by, among other things, reducing our market share, decreasing our margins and
spreads, reducing the growth of our customer base and increasing our policy acquisition costs, operating expenses and
turnover of management and agents.

For more details on the competitive landscape in India, see “Industry Overview — Indian Insurance Industry — Evolution
of Life Insurance Industry” on page 128.

Our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to obtain regulatory approvals or licenses in the future,
or maintain or renew our existing regulatory approvals or licenses.

We are required to obtain and maintain various statutory and regulatory permits, licenses and approvals including
approvals under the Insurance Act to carry on the life insurance business, regulations issued by the IRDAI from time
to time, various state Shops and Establishments Acts, Employees' Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act,
1952 and various tax related regulations in respect of our existing business. For description of the regulations to which
we are subject, see “Key Regulations and Policies” on page 204.

The opening and closing or relocation of places of business by insurance companies in India are governed by the
IRDALI Places of Business Regulations. While our Company has obtained the requisite regulatory approvals for
opening each of our branches from the IRDAI, we do not have in our records all of the copies of such approvals from
IRDAL. Further, some of the registrations of our branches have expired in the ordinary course of business, and we have
made renewal applications to the relevant authorities for such registrations. For further information on these approvals,
licenses, registrations and permissions in relation to our business, see “Government and Other Approvals” on page
391. Any failure in the future to obtain or renew licenses required, or any delay in obtaining approvals in relation to
our business, may materially affect our ability to carry on or conduct our business. Further, any failure to obtain
relevant licenses or to comply with the terms of any licenses that we are currently required to maintain, could subject
us to penalties and restrict our ability to conduct certain lines of business, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and cash flows.
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Our Company also requires IRDAI approvals for the products we provide. We have withdrawn some of these products
after obtaining IRDAI approvals and have relaunched the same on future dates. We cannot assure you that these
products will not be withdrawn in the future after obtaining such approvals.

Our business reputation is critical to maintaining market share and growing our business and any adverse publicity
regarding us or our promoters and investors may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our brand equity, business reputation and market perception are critical to maintaining our market share and growing
our business. In terms of New Business IRP, our Company has a market share of 2.4% in Fiscal 2022 (Source: CRISIL
Report). While we have developed our brand and business reputation over the years, any negative incident or adverse
publicity could rapidly erode customer trust and confidence in us, particularly if such incidents receive widespread
adverse mainstream and social media publicity or attract regulatory investigation or litigation. In addition, our brand
and business reputation will be adversely affected in the event of any adverse publicity relating to one of our Promoters,
Bank of Baroda and its operations, irrespective of whether such development relates to factors within Bank of Baroda’s
control. The high level of media scrutiny and public attention that the insurance sector is subjected to, together with
increasing consumer activism in India, has significantly increased the risk of negative publicity that may affect our
reputation or the reputation of the insurance industry in general.

Any significant claim or litigation, employee misconduct, operational failure, regulatory investigation, media
speculation and adverse publicity, whether actual, unfounded or merely alleged, could damage our brand, business
reputation and confidence of customers. Our brand may also be adversely affected if our products, or the services
provided by our employees, agents and other intermediaries, do not meet customer expectations (whether legitimate
or reasonable), or if there is a change in customer expectation from the relevant insurance product. Negative publicity
could be based, for instance, on allegations that we have failed to comply with regulatory requirements, or result from
any failure in business continuity or information technology systems, from loss of confidential customer information,
inadequate customer service levels or insufficient transparency in product terms and administration of claims.

Any damage to our brand or business reputation may result in loss of existing and potential customers, and inability
to maintain existing or enter into additional distribution arrangements. Furthermore, negative publicity may result in
an increase in regulatory scrutiny of our operations, and an increase in claims litigation, which may further increase
our cost of operations and adversely affect our profitability. Negative publicity may also influence market perception
of our business and affect our ability to maintain our credit ratings. Accordingly, any adverse impact on our brand and
business reputation may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations.

The actuarial valuations of policies with outstanding liabilities are not required to be audited by a statutory auditor
and if such valuation is incorrect, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

The actuarial valuation presented in our financial statements and elsewhere, of liabilities for our policies with
outstanding liabilities, are performed by an appointed actuary, who certifies the insurance entity’s actuarial valuation,
and confirms that, in his/her opinion, the assumptions for such valuation are in accordance with the guidelines and
norms prescribed by the applicable provisions of/ issued by the IRDAI, the Insurance Act, the Institute of Actuaries of
India and the Actuarial Practice Standards. The valuation results, including policy liabilities, are approved by our
Board. Our Joint Statutory Auditors rely on the certificate by the Appointed Actuary with respect to the adequacy of
reserves. We regularly monitor the assumptions used in the calculation of reserves, such as discount rates, mortality,
morbidity and expenses, including expense inflation and persistency. If we, based on the review of assumptions,
conclude that such assumptions need to be revised, this may require us to increase our reserves and incur income
statement charges for the period during which we make the determination, as well as lead to a change in our pricing
of certain products. While there have not been any instances of inaccurate valuations in the past, any such events in
the future that may require us to make any of these changes could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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We use the logo of one of our Promoters, Bank of Baroda and one of our Shareholders, Union Bank of India, for
marketing and communication purposes, through trade logo agreements. If these agreements are terminated or we
are unable to renew these agreements in a timely manner on commercially viable terms, or at all, our business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Pursuant to the trade logo agreements dated September 8, 2022 and July 14, 2020 entered into between our Company
and Bank of Baroda and our Company and Union Bank of India, respectively, Bank of Baroda has allowed us to use
the ‘Bank of Baroda’ logo and/or name and Union Bank of India has allowed us to use the ‘Union Bank of India’ logo
and/or name (“Trademarks”) for marketing and communication of our products, with the agreement being renewable
annually on mutually acceptable terms and conditions. We are required to pay Bank of Baroda and Union Bank of
India, a stipulated license fee per annum, on a half-yearly basis, for use of the Trademarks. The right to store, copy,
use and distribute the Trademarks is non-exclusive, non-transferable and is subject to conditions set forth in the license
agreement. The trade logo agreements can be terminated inter alia if: (i) Bank of Baroda or Union Bank of India ceases
to be a shareholder of our Company; (ii) we breach any of the terms of the agreement; (iii) our Company is engaged
in engaged in any activity or commits any acts or makes any statements which are detrimental to Bank of Baroda or
Union Bank of India; or (iv) Bank of Baroda or Union Bank of India or our Company, as the case may be, provides a
written notice of 30 days for termination. We may also be required to indemnify Bank of Baroda and Union Bank of
India for all claims, losses, demands, fees, liabilities, damages, orders and expenses incurred by Bank of Baroda as a
result of failure on our Company’s part to comply with the agreement. Since the agreements need to be renewed by
mutual agreement, in the event Bank of Baroda or Union Bank of India choose not to renew their respective
agreements, or if such renewal is proposed to be on commercial terms that are not beneficial to us, we may not be able
to use the Trademarks for our business purposes, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations. Further, we may be subject to termination of the agreement, and even indemnity claims,
if we are in breach of the agreement. Such non-renewal, or delayed renewal or indemnity claim or termination of the
agreement may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows. For details of the trade
logo agreements, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Material Agreements — Trade Logo Agreements” on
page 226.

Our investments are subject to credit risks, concentration risks, market risks and liquidity risks, which could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our debt investments are subject to the risk that the counterparties whose debt we hold do not perform their obligations
owed to us, whether due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, business failure, economic downturn, fraud, or any other
reason, and if they default on their obligations to us, we could suffer significant losses. We are also subject to the risk
that our rights against these counterparties may not be enforceable in all circumstances, or at all, and such losses could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. While there have been
no write-offs for investments in Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30, 2022, we remain subject
to the risk of such write-offs, which could be for losses from defaults on debt. In addition, we are also subject to the
risk of non-payment of interest owed to us. On each of March 31, 2020, 2021, 2022 and June 30, 2022, the amount of
overdue interest payable to our Company was % 56.80 million.

Further, events or developments that have a negative effect on India in general and any particular industry, asset class,
or group of related industries in India, may have a greater negative effect on our investment portfolio to the extent that
our portfolio is concentrated. These types of concentrations in our investment portfolio increase the risk that, in the
event we experience a significant loss in any of these investments, our financial condition and results of operations
would be materially and adversely affected.

Some of our investments may not have sufficient liquidity as a result of a number of factors, including a lack of suitable
buyers and market makers, market sentiment and volatility, and the size of our investments. Due to the significant size
of some of our fixed income investments, relative to the trading volume/size and liquidity of the relevant types of
investment in relevant markets, our ability to sell certain bonds without significantly depressing market prices, or at
all, may be limited. While, to our knowledge, we have not had any circumstances since Fiscal 2020 and up to the date
of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus where we were unable to sell these or potentially illiquid assets, or were required
to sell these or the potentially illiquid assets at significantly lower prices, if, in the future, we are required to dispose
of these or the other potentially illiquid assets on short notice due to significant insurance claims to be paid, surrenders
and withdrawals of existing life and health insurance policies or other reasons, we could be forced to sell such assets
at prices significantly lower than the prices we have recorded in our financial statements.

All of our Company’s investments are governed by the IRDAI Investment Regulations and the Investment Master
Circulars issued by IRDAI from time to time. If we become subject to additional restrictions in future with regard to
the asset classes that we are permitted to invest in, our portfolio may not be sufficiently diversified to mitigate the
effects of potential concentration risk. For information on our investment composition, see “Our Business — Investment
Composition” on page 193. For further information on the regulation of our investments, see “Key Regulations and
Policies” on page 204. As a result, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be
materially and adversely affected.
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Customer preferences and market trends for life insurance, health insurance and pension products may change,
and we may be unable to respond appropriately or in time to sustain our business or our market share in the markets
in which we operate.

The life insurance, health insurance and pension markets are constantly evolving with our customers’ preferences.
Customer preferences towards insurance depends on various factors, including general economic conditions in India,
reputation of the Indian insurance industry in general, the risk appetite of our customers, concessionary tax regulations
and perceptions of the quality of customer service. If there is an adverse shift in consumer attitudes towards insurance,
our growth and existing customer base could be restricted. As a result, we must continually respond to changes in these
markets, as well as customer preferences and market trends, to remain competitive, grow our business and maintain
market share in the geographical markets in which we operate. We face many risks when introducing new products.
Our new products may also be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by competition or developments in the life
insurance, health and pension industries. Furthermore, even if our current and anticipated product offerings respond to
changing market demand, we may be unable to commercialise them. We also generally increase our marketing efforts
in connection with the introduction of new products and advertising in regional languages to reach out to more people,
which increases the costs associated with our business. These costs are likely to lead to initial losses that could have
an adverse effect on our results. The failure of new products to be profitable or become profitable over time may
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. There can be no assurance that,
in the future, regulations and/or customer preferences would not change in such a way as to restrict or limit the sale or
marketing of insurance products which we currently sell, or that in the event that such changes occur, we would be
able to redevelop our product strategy and alter our product mix in a timely manner or at all. Any restriction or
limitation on distribution of our products could cause us to become unable to maintain a profitable portfolio mix of
products and have material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Moreover, potential products may fail to receive necessary regulatory approvals, be difficult to market on a large scale,
be uneconomical to introduce, fail to achieve market acceptance or be precluded from commercialisation by
proprietary rights of third parties. An inability to commercialise our products would materially impair the viability of
our business. Accordingly, our future success will depend on our ability to adapt to changing customer preferences in
each of the distribution channels, demographic trends, industry standards and new product offerings and services. Any
of these changes may require us to re-evaluate our business model and adopt significant changes to our strategies and
business plan. Any inability to adapt to these changes would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We have limited, if any, experience in investing in certain new asset classes that have recently been permitted, and
we could lack experience in investing in other asset classes that may be permitted in the future by the IRDAIL Our
lack of investment experience in certain new asset classes could reduce our investment returns and cause our
investment returns to fall below expectations, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

From time to time, the IRDAI expands the scope of permitted investments for Indian insurance companies. For
example, vide its circular dated April 22,2021, the IRDAI allowed insurers to invest in infrastructure investment trusts
and vide its circular dated April 8, 2021, the IRDAI allowed insurers to invest in domestic fund-of-funds, including
those that invest in start-up companies. The IRDAI may continue to expand the list of permitted investments. Our
Company invested in infrastructure investment trusts and as at June 30, 2022, our Company’s investments in
infrastructure investment trusts had a carrying value of X 361.19 million, which represented 0.19% of our Company’s
investments (policyholders’ and shareholders’ together). When making investments in new asset classes, we may face
new and heightened risks due in part to our limited experience, if any, in investing in such asset classes. The risk and
liquidity profiles of these new asset classes may significantly differ from those of the asset classes that we traditionally
invest in, and investments in these asset classes may increase the overall risk exposure of our investment portfolio.
While we have an investment management framework in place that delineates our investment objectives and policies,
we may be new to investments in certain new asset classes, which could reduce our investment returns and cause our
investment returns to fall below expectations, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For further information, see “QOur Business — Investments”
on page 192.

A significant portion of our retail premium in India is concentrated in certain states. Any significant reduction in
premiums from any of these states could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows.

A significant portion of our Retail Premium in India is concentrated in the states of Uttar Pradesh, Rajasthan,
Maharashtra, Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh and Andhra Pradesh, as of June 30, 2022. In Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the
three months ended June 30, 2022, our top five states in India, which varied across the relevant periods, in terms of
Individual New Business GWP contributed X 5,522.70 million, X 5,632.13 million, X 8,935.89 million and X 1,965.39
million, respectively, which was 63.60%, 61.00%, 62.50% and 64.00% of our total New Business IRP in India,
respectively. For more details, see “Our Business—Premium Distribution” on page 191. Due to the geographic
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concentration of our retail premiums in India, any significant reduction in premium due to any materially adverse
social, political or economic developments, natural calamities, civil disruptions, or changes in the policies of the states
or local governments in these areas could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows.

The rate of growth of the life insurance and health insurance industries in India may not be as high or as
sustainable as we anticipate.

The Indian life insurance industry’s NBP increased at a CAGR of 14% from Fiscal 2014 to Fiscal 2020, while private
players recorded 18% growth in the same period. (Source: CRISIL Report). We expect the life insurance market in
India to continue to expand and the insurance penetration and insurance density to continue to rise with the continued
growth of the Indian economy, the reform of the social welfare system, favourable demographic patterns and rise in
household financial savings. (Source: CRISIL Report). However, the Indian life insurance industry has experienced
downturns in the past. For instance, between Fiscals 2011 and 2014, the total premiums of private sector insurance
companies declined at a CAGR of 4% due to regulatory changes by the IRDAI with respect to linked products, a
decline in financial savings rates and the weak performance of equity markets. (Source: CRISIL Report) According to
CRISIL Research, India’s life insurance penetration stood at 3.2% in 2021 compared to 4.4% in 2010 due to a
slowdown in economic growth and in the insurance business due to regulatory changes. (Source: CRISIL Report).
CRISIL Research forecasts the total premium for life insurers to grow at a CAGR of 14% - 15% over the five years
up to Fiscal 2027. Consequently, total premium is expected to grow from I 6,926 billion in Fiscal 2022 to
approximately X 13,500 billion by Fiscal 2027 and NBP is expected to grow at a CAGR of 17% - 18% during the same
period. (Source: CRISIL Report) As such, the rate of growth of the life and health insurance industries in India may
not be as high or as sustainable as we anticipate. In particular, the insurance industry in India may not expand, and the
low penetration rate of life insurance in India does not necessarily mean that the Indian life insurance industry will
grow or that we will succeed in increasing our penetration in the industry.

We may offer products pursuant to government policies and schemes and may in turn be subject to limitations on
pricing and premiums.

We may, from time to time, offer products pursuant to government policies. For instance, we offer insurance policies
under the Pradhan Mantri Jeevan Jyoti Bima Yojana (“PMJJBY”). These government policies and schemes may
require us to insure certain amounts but may impose ceilings or restrictions on the amount of premium we are allowed
to charge on these insurance products. Accordingly, such products that we offer may not be profitable, and may lead
us to incur loss, thereby adversely affecting our business and results of operations.

There are outstanding actions and litigation proceedings against our Company, Promoters and Directors. Any
adverse outcome in such proceedings may have an adverse impact on our reputation, business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

There are outstanding actions and legal proceedings involving our Company, Promoters and Directors, which are
pending at various levels of adjudication before various courts, tribunals and other authorities. The summary of
outstanding matters set out below includes details of criminal proceedings, tax proceedings, statutory and regulatory
actions and other material pending litigation (as defined in the section “Outstanding Litigation and Other Material
Developments” on page 372) involving our Company, Promoters and Directors.

Criminal Tax Material

Name of Entity

proceedings

proceedings

Statutory or
Regulatory
Proceedings

Disciplinary actions
by SEBI or Stock
Exchanges against
our Promoters

civil
litigations

Aggregate amount
involved
® in million)*

Company

By the Company

242.46"

Against the
Company

208

810.00%"

Directors

By the Directors

Against the
Directors

8.54

Promoters

By Bank of Baroda

219,519.01

Against Bank of
Baroda

86**

87

130,193.39™

By Carmel Point
Investments India
Private Limited

Against  Carmel
Point Investments
India Private
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Name of Entity Criminal Tax Statutory or | Disciplinary actions | Material Aggregate amount
proceedings | proceedings | Regulatory | by SEBI or Stock civil involved
Proceedings | Exchanges against | litigations (X in million)*
our Promoters

Limited

* The amounts indicated above are approximate amounts and have been disclosed to the extent ascertainable.
The material civil litigation by our Company includes a counter-claim to the extent of < 5,218.87 million against our Company. For details,
see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation involving our Company — Litigation by our Company” on page 374.

N Includes % 0.4 million involved in a criminal litigation against our Company and an aggregate of T 5.83 million involved in criminal litigations
by our Company. For details, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” beginning on page 372.

$  Aggregate amount involved in the direct tax proceedings against our Company does not include the simple interest of one per cent for every
month or part of a month, on the amount in dispute calculated in accordance with the demand notice dated February 15, 2021 and the
aggregate amount involved in indirect tax proceedings against our Company includes two pending cases of refund of tax amount, amounting
to % 8.31 million.

**  Includes X 4.97 million involved in criminal litigations against Bank of Baroda and I 27.74 million in statutory and regulatory proceedings
against Bank of Baroda. For further information, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation against our Promoters
— Criminal Litigation ” and “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation against our Promoters — Actions taken by
Regulatory and Statutory Authorities  on pages 379 and 386, respectively.

There are no litigations against our Group Companies, the outcome of which may have a material impact on our
Company. Further, in the ordinary course of business, we may subject to consumer protection claims, product liability
claims and other commercial claims related to the conduct of our business. Litigation resulting from these claims could
be expensive to resolve and require significant attention of management and key personnel. Additionally, a few of our
former employees have initiated legal proceedings against us, including for re-instatement of employment, and there
can be no assurance that these will be decided in our favour, or that no other such cases alleging violation of labour
laws will be filed against us in the future. Any adverse outcome in such litigations may increase our administrative
costs and impact our operations.

Further, our Company is also subject to an inquiry conducted by the Directorate General of GST Intelligence Zonal
Unit, Mumbeai, (“DGGI”) at our Company’s office on September 5, 2022 in relation to the input tax credit availed on
services received from certain vendors by our Company. A summon dated September 1, 2022, was received our
Company in this regard on September 7, 2022 under Section 70 of the Central Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017.
While our Company has submitted the agreements, invoices and other documents sought by DGGI, paid an amount of
% 76.39 million and our Company has not received any show cause notice or demand notice from DGGI as on the date
of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, we cannot assure you that no additional liability (including interest and penalty)
will arise on our Company or our Company will not be subject to any further scrutiny by the DGGI.

There can be no assurance that these legal proceedings and the actions initiated by regulatory authorities will be
decided in our favour or in favour of our Company, Promoters and Directors. In addition, we cannot assure investors
that no additional liability will arise out of these proceedings. Decisions in such proceedings adverse to our interests
may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If we are unable to retain and recruit highly productive individual agents on a timely basis and at reasonable cost,
there could be an adverse effect on our results of operations

We rely on a limited but highly productive agent network. As at June 30, 2022 our Company had 1,634 individual
agents. For Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30, 2022, our individual agents procured X 222.88
million, X 226.72 million, ¥ 431.05 million and ¥ 116.03 million of our New Business IRP, respectively, which was
2.62%, 2.54%, 3.20% and 3.92% of our total New Business IRP in each of the corresponding periods.

We, as with other players within the life insurance industry in India, experience high attrition levels among individual
agents. We attract and attempt to retain our agents through incentives, such as rewards and remuneration benefits,
training support, pre- and post-sale support services, diverse product range to cater all customer segments along with
the benefit of being a trusted brand with a strong financial position. Further, we enter into standardised agreements
with our agents and our agents have the right to terminate their agreements by giving a prior notice of 30 days to our
Company.

We may need to increase commission and other benefits in order to attract and retain enough agents, subject to the cap
on commission payable to our agents. Pursuant to Regulation 5 of the Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India (Payment of Commission or Remuneration or Reward to Insurance Agents and Insurance
Intermediaries) Regulations, 2016, we, as with all other players in India, are subject to various caps on commission
payable to our distribution partners. There is no guarantee that we will be able to find suitable replacements for agents
whose services we lose in a timely manner or at all and successfully implement a smooth transition of responsibilities
to them. Individual agents may resign or be terminated for various reasons, including non-procurement of minimum
business and pursuing other employment avenues for personal reasons. If we fail to attract and retain agents, our ability
to market and sell our products and provide our customers with the level of service we aim to provide them could be
adversely affected since a considerable decrease in the number of our agents could lead to us having reduced capacity
in distributing our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
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We depend on our Key Managerial Personnel and other skilled personnel, including actuaries, and the loss of their
services could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash

flows.

Our market position and success depend to a large extent on our ability to recruit and retain Key Managerial Personnel.
If we are unable to retain or suitably replace members of our Key Managerial Personnel, it could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In terms of our KMPs, we had
one attrition in Fiscal 2020, one attrition and two superannuations in in Fiscal 2021 and two attritions in Fiscal 2022.

In addition, the success of our business is in part dependent on the continued service of other skilled personnel who
have in-depth knowledge and understanding of our business, including members of our senior management,
information technology specialists, experienced investment managers and other finance professionals. We also rely on
the sound underwriting, product development, risk control, business development, investments and actuarial expertise
of our senior management members and skilled actuarial, underwriting and other personnel. In particular, we rely on
a limited number of actuarial personnel, including our Appointed Actuary. Actuaries work in a specialised profession
and there are a limited number of persons qualified to practice as an actuary in India, given the stringent eligibility
requirements prescribed for appointed actuaries under the IRDAI regulations, including the Insurance Regulatory and
Development Authority of India (Appointed Actuary) Regulations, 2017, as amended. The market for actuaries is
competitive, and we may not continue to be successful in our efforts to attract and retain actuaries. As at June 30, 2022,
our Company had three actuaries, including our Appointed Actuary.

Although the retirement of Key Managerial Personnel and actuaries has not had an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, we may need to increase compensation and other benefits in
order to attract and retain Key Managerial Personnel and other skilled personnel in the future in connection with any
future growth plans, and we may face difficulty in doing so due to the intense competition in the Indian life insurance
industry for such personnel. The loss of their services could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may be unable to adequately hedge the risks arising out of our guaranteed return products.

Certain of our non-participating products provide a minimum guaranteed return that is payable on death or maturity.
As of March 31, 2020, March 31, 2021, March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, we had issued 60,228, 59,509, 101,031
and 24,823 guaranteed return policies. Accordingly, we attempt to make adequate provisions for pay-outs under our
guaranteed return policies. Failure to accurately estimate or account for such pay-outs may in turn have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

There have been delays in relation to reporting requirements in respect of issuance of Equity Shares by our
Company and other delays and non-compliances under the Companies Act and other applicable laws. Further,
there have been certain instances of delays and non-compliances, including with respect to certain secretarial/
regulatory filings for corporate actions and there have been inadvertent inaccuracies in certain of our regulatory
filings and corporate records. Accordingly, we may be subject to regulatory actions and penalties in this regard.

We manage our internal compliance by monitoring and evaluating internal controls and ensuring all relevant statutory
and regulatory compliances. However, there can be no assurance that deficiencies in our internal controls will not arise,
or that we will be able to implement, and continue to maintain, adequate measures to rectify or mitigate any such
deficiencies in our internal controls, in a timely manner or at all.

There have been delays with respect to certain reporting obligations in respect of reporting receipt of foreign inward
remittance towards subscription to Equity Shares for the allotments made by our Company on August 27, 2009,
October 22, 2009, August 27, 2010, August 16, 2011 and October 5, 2015, respectively. The delay in reporting ranged
from two days, to nine years and twenty seven days. Subsequently, our Company had vide compounding application
dated January 29, 2019, compounded the aforesaid delays by payment of a compounding fee of ¥ 3.60 million levied
by the RBI vide order dated April 10, 2019.

Further, we were not in compliance with the provisions of Section 123 of the Companies Act, 2013, in relation to the
dividend paid by our Company for Fiscal 2019 since the losses incurred by our Company in Fiscal 2018 were not set-
off by us while declaring dividends. The non-compliance was subsequently compounded by payment of compounding
fee of X 0.03 million vide order dated September 8, 2021, passed by the Regional Director, Ministry of Corporate
Affairs. For further information, see “Dividend Policy” on page 256.

There have been certain inadvertent delays in respect of filings made by our Company in the past. For example, our
Company filed the resolution passed by our Board on May 22, 2015 in Form MGT-14 on October 6, 2022, with the
Registrar of Companies with a payment of late filing fee in relation to the allotment of Equity Shares undertaken by
our Company on October 5, 2015. While the Form MGT-14 has been approved by the Registrar of Companies vide
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service request number F27701622, we cannot assure you that the Registrar of Companies will not take any further
action against our Company in relation to the delayed filing.

Further, our Company filed Forms KMP-1 with IRDAI on October 7, 2022 in relation to the appointment of two of
our Key Managerial Personnel, Atri Chakraborty (our Chief Operating Officer) and Sankaranarayanan Raghavan (our
Chief Technology and Data Officer), who joined our Company with effect from June 30, 2020 and June 22, 2020,
respectively, as required under the IRDAI CG Guidelines. We cannot assure you that IRDAI will not initiate action
against or impose penalties on our Company in relation to such a delayed filing.

Additionally, certain corporate records maintained by our Company have had factual inaccuracies, including the
relevant resolution of our Board dated July 17, 2009 (“Board Resolution”) and resolutions of our Allotment
Committee dated August 27, 2009 and October 22, 2009 (“Allotment Resolutions™), respectively, relating to the
allotments of 36,950,000 and 163,000,000 Equity Shares, made on August 27, 2009 and October 22, 2009, which
contain a factual discrepancy in terms of the name of the shareholder being allotted the Equity Shares. The Board
Resolution had authorised the issue of shares to Legal & General Group PLC whereas the allotments were made by
way of the Allotment Resolutions, to Legal & General Middle East Limited. While we ensure implementation of
required compliance systems, we cannot assure you that such inaccuracies and non-compliances will not happen in the
future and that our Company will not be subject to any action by statutory or regulatory authorities.

We rely on third-party service providers in several areas of our operations and hence do not have full control over
the services provided to us or our customers.

Our outsourcing activities are regulated by the IRDAI and we are not permitted to outsource certain activities. Other
than these, we rely on third parties in several areas of our operations on a regular basis. In particular, we have
outsourced a portion of our operations, such as housekeeping services, printing of policy documents, data entry,
network and call centre support to third parties. Accordingly, some of these third parties have direct access to our
systems in order to provide their services to us. For further information on the risks posed by our third-party service
providers operating the majority of our communications, network, and computer hardware and software, see “- 22.
Our business involves the use, transmission and storage of confidential customer information and the failure to
properly safeguard such information could result in violations of data privacy laws and regulations and lead to
reputational harm and monetary damages, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows” on page 49.

In addition, we may have disagreements with our third-party service providers regarding the issue of who is responsible
for any failures or incidents under applicable business associate agreements or other applicable outsourcing
agreements. Any contractual remedies and/or indemnification obligations we may have for service provider failures
or incidents may not be adequate to fully compensate us for any losses suffered as a result of any vendor’s failure to
satisfy its obligations to us. In addition, our service provider arrangements could be adversely impacted by changes in
vendors’ or service providers’ operations or financial condition, or other matters outside of our control. Violations of,
or non-compliance with, laws and/or regulations governing our business or non-compliance with contract terms by
third-party service providers could increase our exposure to liability to our members, providers, or other third parties,
or could result in sanctions and/or fines from the regulators that oversee our business, and could harm our business
and reputation. Moreover, if these service provider relationships are terminated for any reason, we may not be able to
find alternative partners in a timely manner and may experience disruptions to our operations in connection with
vendor or service provider transitions. As a result, we may not be able to fully meet the demands of our intermediaries
or customers and, in turn, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be harmed.

Our operations could be delayed or our commercial activities could be harmed due to any such event despite having
continuity plans in place as required by regulations. As an insurer in India, we are subject to the Outsourcing
Regulations. The Outsourcing Regulations set forth the mode, process and manners we are obliged to follow when we
engage a third-party service provider. It also includes a list of activities we are prohibited from outsourcing. We incur
regular and additional expenses in complying with the Outsourcing Regulations. Failure to comply with the
Outsourcing Regulations may lead to a levy of penalty under section 102 of the Insurance Act, 1938 of % 0.1 million
for each day during which the contravention or failure subsists or X 0.01 billion, whichever is less. There is no assurance
that the requirements under the Outsourcing Regulation would not change or heighten in the future. If there were to
happen, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects
and we could be subject to penalty from the regulator. In addition, if our third-party providers fail to operate in
compliance with regulations or corporate and societal standards, we could suffer reputational harm.
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If we are unable to protect our intellectual property and proprietary information, or if we infringe the intellectual
property rights of others, our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

Our Company has nine registered trademarks in India under the Trademarks Act, 1999, including for the trademarks,

‘IndiaFirst Life Insurance’, ‘Magic Board’, ‘LifeTech’, ‘AutoLife’, among others, and our erstwhile logo,

under various classes of the Trademarks Act, 1999. For further information, see “Our Business” on page 167 and
“Government and Other Approvals — Intellectual Property” on page 393. We have three trademark applications
pending, for the wordmark ‘IndiaFirst Life Insurance’ (under Class 35 inter alia for advertising business management
and business administration) and our new wordmark ‘IndiaFirst Life Insurance’ and logo under classes 35 and 36
respectively, any of which may be subject to governmental or third-party objection, which could prevent the
maintenance or issuance of the same. Further, our applications for registration of “Iris” under class 35 and “you have
the power” under classes 35 and 36 are currently objected and our application for the trademark “yetohcertainhai” was
refused in the past. We cannot assure investors that we will be able to register all of the trademarks applied for in our
name, and such failure may materially and adversely affect our business and reputation. For instance, the failure to
register such trademarks could lead to unauthorized use of our trademarks by unlicensed individuals posing as our
Company’s agents, which could harm our business and reputation. We may not always be able to safeguard the same
from infringement, and may not be able to respond to infringement activity occurring without our knowledge.
Moreover, our existing trademarks may expire, and there can be no assurance that we will renew them after expiry.

If our competitors replicate our product names, or if the names used by us inadvertently infringe on the intellectual
property rights of third parties, it may expose us to legal proceedings and erode our business value and reputation. This
could materially and adversely affect our reputation, results of operations and financial condition.

If a dispute arises with respect to any of our intellectual property rights, we will be required to produce evidence to
defend or enforce our claims, and we may become party to litigation, which may strain our resources and divert the
attention of our management. We cannot assure investors that any infringement claims that are material will not arise
in the future or that we will be successful in defending any such claims when they arise. Unauthorized use of our
intellectual property rights by third parties could adversely affect our reputation. We may be required to resort to legal
action to protect our intellectual property right, which may strain our resources and divert the attention of our
management. Any adverse outcome in such legal proceedings or our failure to successfully enforce our intellectual
property rights may adversely affect our ability to use intellectual property, which could have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and cash flows.

All of our branches are leased from third parties. If we are unable to renew or extend such leases, our operations
may be adversely affected.

All of our branches are in premises leased from various third parties. Further, our Registered and Corporate office is
also located on a leased premise. For further information, see “Our Business — Properties” on page 203. The lease
agreements can be terminated, and any such termination could result in any of our branches being shifted or shut down.
Some of the lease agreements may have expired in the ordinary course of business and we are currently involved in
negotiations for the renewal of these lease agreements. While we have not faced major issues renewing the leases of
our branches in the past, if these lease agreements are not renewed or not renewed on terms favourable to us, we may
suffer a disruption in our operations or increased costs, or both, which may affect our business and results of operation.
In Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June 30, 2022, our lease expenditure amounted to X 101.21
million, ¥ 131.65 million, ¥ 127.87 million and X 34.16 million, respectively. Any adverse effect on the title, ownership
rights, development rights of the owners from whose premises we operate, breach of the contractual terms of any lease,
leave and license agreements, or any inability to renew such agreements on terms favourable to us, if at all, may cause
disruptions in our business and we may incur substantial costs associated with shifting to new premises, all of which
may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Further, our lease deeds are required to be adequately stamped and duly registered, and certain of our leases are
undergoing registration. Unless such documents are adequately stamped or duly registered, such documents may be
rendered inadmissible as evidence in a court in India or may not be authenticated by any public officer and the same
may attract penalty as prescribed under applicable law or may impact our ability to enforce these agreements legally,
which may result in an adverse effect on the continuance of our operations and business. We cannot assure investors
that we will be able to renew any such arrangement when the term of the original arrangement expires, on similar
terms or terms reasonable for us or that such arrangements will not be prematurely terminated (including for reasons
that may be beyond our control). The failure to identify suitable premises for relocation of existing properties, if
required, could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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We may undertake strategic investments or divestments, acquisitions and joint ventures, which may not perform in
line with our expectations.

We may, depending on our management's view and market conditions, pursue strategic investments, undertake
acquisitions (through amalgamation of other life insurance companies in India) and enter into joint ventures. We cannot
assure investors that we will be able to undertake such strategic investments, acquisitions (including by way of a
merger, or share or asset acquisition) or joint ventures in the future, either on terms acceptable to us or at all. Moreover,
we require regulatory approval for acquisitions, and we cannot guarantee that we will receive such approvals in a
timely manner, or at all.

These may subject us to many risks, and we can provide no assurances that any such ventures will be successful or
meet our expectations. In addition, these new ventures may require regulatory approvals, and we cannot assure
investors that we will be able to procure such approvals, either in a timely manner or at all. If these new ventures are
not successful, we may suffer losses, dilute value to shareholders or may not be able to take advantage of appropriate
investment opportunities or conclude transactions on terms commercially acceptable to us. These may require
significant investments of capital and we may not realize our expected (or any) returns on these investments. Our
management may also need to divert its attention from our operations in order to integrate such new businesses, which
may affect the quality of operational standards and our ability to retain the business of our existing customers. We may
also have difficulty in integrating the acquired products, services, solutions, technologies, management and employees
into our operations. We may face litigation or other claims arising out of our new businesses, including disputes with
regard to additional payments or other closing adjustments. While we have not undertaken an acquisition in the past,
should we choose to do so in the future, these difficulties may disrupt our ongoing business, distract our management
and employees, and increase our expenses. As a result, our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and prospects may be materially adversely affected.

Our Promoters and certain of our Directors and Key Managerial Personnel may have interests other than
reimbursement of expenses incurred and normal remuneration or benefits. Further, some of our Directors may
have interests in entities in businesses similar to ours or are associated with the securities market, which may result
in conflicts of interest with us.

The interests of one of our Promoters, Bank of Baroda, may conflict with your interests as a shareholder, owing to its
equity shareholding in two entities, namely 3,092,676 equity shares held in General Insurance Corporation of India
and 1,806,204 equity shares held in Life Insurance Corporation of India, which are engaged in a similar line of business
as our Company. For further details, see “Our Promoters and Promoter Group — Interests of Promoters” on page 250.
Certain of our Directors and Key Managerial Personnel may be deemed interested in our Company to the extent of
regular remuneration, incentives, benefits and reimbursement of expenses, as applicable, payable to them by our
Company. Our Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, R.M. Vishakha, has been granted options that can be
exercised for cash consideration only, resulting in her performance bonus. For details, see “Our Management — Terms
of appointment of our Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer” on page 231. Additionally, some of our
Directors and Key Managerial Personnel may also be regarded as interested to the extent of employee stock options
granted by our Company and which may be granted to them, from time to time, under the ESOP Scheme, as applicable.
For details, see “Capital Structure — ESOP Scheme” on page 100. Further, one of our Promoters, Bank of Baroda is
also interested to the extent of commission earned from our Company from the distribution of our Company’s
insurance policies. For the payments that are made by our Company to such related parties including remuneration to
our Directors and our Key Managerial Personnel, see “Summary of the Offer Document— Summary of Related Party
Transactions” on page 19. Three of our Directors are also nominee of our Promoter Selling Shareholders. Bank of
Baroda is also be deemed to be interested in certain borrowings availed by us from, and NCDs issued by us to Bank
of Baroda. For further details, see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 335. Accordingly, there may be certain conflicts
between their interests and the best interest of our Company.

Some of our Directors may have investments or interests in entities engaged in businesses similar to ours, or are
associated with entities involved in the securities market in general, which may, in the future, result in conflicts of
interest with us. For example, Kavassery Sankaranarayanan Gopalakrishnan is associated with Acko General Insurance
Limited as a director, Sanjiv Chadha is associated with a book running lead manager to the Offer, BOB Capital Markets
Limited as a nominee director and with the National Insurance Company Limited as a director and Narendra Ostawal
is associated with Computer Age Management Services Limited as a director. For further information, see “Our
Management” and “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures — Prohibition by SEBI or other governmental
authorities” on pages 228 and 395, respectively. Further, one of our Promoters, Bank of Baroda receives a license fee
of % 6.90 million from our Company pursuant to the usage of name, logo and sub brand “bobWorld” owned by Bank
of Baroda vide a trade logo agreement dated September 8, 2022 entered into by our Company with Bank of Baroda.
For details, see “- 28. We use the logo of one of our Promoters, Bank of Baroda, and one of our Shareholders, Union
Bank of India, for marketing and communication purposes, through trade logo agreements. If these agreements are
terminated or we are unable to renew these agreements in a timely manner on commercially viable terms, or at all,
our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations may be adversely affected” on page 52.
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Insurance volumes in India typically increase significantly in the last quarter of each Fiscal due to customers
capitalising on income tax advantages that life insurance products offer. As such, our business is subject to
seasonality and our results of operations and cash flows for any given period are not necessarily indicative of our
annual results of operations and cash flows.

The insurance sector is subject to seasonal fluctuations in product mix, operating results and cash flow. Insurance
volumes typically increase significantly in the last quarter of each Fiscal, which coincides with the end of the tax year
in India, due to customers capitalising on income tax advantages that life insurance products offer. For the same reason,
we typically experience lower business volumes in the first quarter of each Fiscal. Accordingly, our results of
operations and cash flows are subject to seasonality and are not necessarily indicative of annual results or continuing
trends and may vary. In addition, financial information for the three months ended June 30, 2022 are not indicative of
full-year results and are not comparable with the financial information presented for Fiscal 2020, 2021 and 2022.

We may not be able to grow our emerging distribution platforms in order to diversify our distribution mix, and in
particular, we may not be able to develop our digital modes in the event of changes in search engine logic or
regulations of search engines.

As part of our business strategies, we intend to increase the share of our emerging channels, comprising our agency
network, CSC-MFT tie-ups, broker channels, direct and digital sales, in order to diversify our distribution mix. For
further information, see “Our Business — Business Strategies — Reinforce our emerging distribution platforms to fortify
and diversity our distribution mix” on page 173. However, we may not be able to identify additional CSC-MFIs who
are deemed suitable for entering into tie-ups for distributing our products. In particular, we have made significant
investments in our digital modes, including our own website, the website of our bancassurance partners and our listings
on online aggregators, to tap into the digitally-savvy customer base.

A portion of the traffic to our website and those of our bancassurance partners and online aggregators is driven by
Google, and, to a lesser extent, other search engines. Many of our customers learn about us by visiting our website.
The operating dynamics and pricing on search engine websites can experience rapid change commercially, technically
and competitively. For example, Google frequently updates and changes, in ways that are difficult to foresee, the logic
that determines the placement and display of its search results. Changes in how Google or other search engines present
insurance product search results, may be competitively disadvantageous to us and may impact our ability to efficiently
generate traffic to our website, which in turn would have an adverse effect on our business, market share and results
of operation.

Some of our distribution partners, including individual agents, corporate agents, insurance brokers and
distributors, may not have obtained the requisite qualifications, licenses or registrations.

The distribution of insurance products is regulated in India. We engage a range of individuals and entities to distribute
our products, including individual agents, corporate agents, brokers and other distributors, who are subject to strict
eligibility criteria and qualifications and are also required to obtain a valid license or registration from IRDAI prior to
distributing insurance products. Despite our internal guidelines and processes to confirm the qualifications of our
distributors, the failure of our distributors to meet these requirements has subjected us to penalties in the past, and
could subject us to penalties in the future. In addition, we may have to terminate our relationship with distributors who
do not meet these requirements. Any of these could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend upon our future results of operations, financial condition,
cash flows and working capital and capital expenditure requirements.

Any dividends to be declared and paid in the future are required to be recommended by our Board and approved by
our shareholders, at their discretion, subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and applicable law,
including the Companies Act. Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend upon our future results of
operations, financial condition, cash flows, sufficient profitability, working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and Solvency Ratio requirements. We cannot assure investors that we will generate sufficient revenues
to cover our operating expenses and, as such, pay dividends to our shareholders in future consistent with our past
practices, or at all. Further, we may be subject to regulatory restrictions which may adversely affect our ability to pay
dividends. For instance, the IRDAI issued general advisories dated April 13, 2020 and April 24, 2020 (“Capital
Conservation Circular”) to insurers for capital conservation with focus on dividends, expense management, liquidity
management and solvency monitoring, urging insurers to take a conscious call to refrain from making dividend pay-
outs from profits pertaining to the financial year ending March 31, 2020, till further instructions from the IRDAI in
this regard. Considering the revival phase of the economy in general and the insurance industry in particular and taking
into account the solvency position of the insurers, the IRDAI decided to withdraw the applicability of the Capital
Conservation Circular with effect from February 25, 2021. However, the IRDAI requested the insurers to take a

60



48.

49.

50.

conscious call in the matter of declaring dividends for Fiscal 2021 considering their capital, solvency and liquidity
positions.

Our financial statements differ significantly from financial statements prepared by non-insurance companies.

The Restated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
India (“Indian GAAP”), the IRDAI Financial Statements Regulations, the Companies Act, 2013, the Insurance Act,
the IRDA Act and applicable SEBI Regulations. The Restated Financial Statements, and the financial statements which
will be prepared for future accounting periods, will differ significantly from those of non-insurance companies and
may be difficult to understand. In particular, while financial statements of non-insurance companies typically comprise
an income statement, a balance sheet and a statement of cash flows, our financial statements comprise a revenue
account (also known as the “Policyholders’ Account” or the “Technical Account”), the profit and loss account (also
known as the “Shareholders’ Account” or “Nontechnical Account”), balance sheet and our Receipts and Payments
Account. As a result of the technical nature of our financial statements as compared to those of non-insurance
companies, an investor may find them difficult to understand or interpret, and it may cause the investor to make a
choice to invest in us which he or she would not otherwise make with a more complete understanding. Investors should
read the Examination Report attached to our Restated Financial Statements and the notes thereto on page 257.

Changes in the accounting standards used in the reporting of our Restated Financial Statements due to new
pronouncements, such as Ind AS, interpretations, migration to new standards or even due to our own decision to
change accounting policies may significantly affect our financial statements for future years, and may materially
and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

The Restated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance accounting principles generally accepted in India
(Indian GAAP), the IRDAI Financial Statements Regulations, the Companies Act, 2013, the Insurance Act, the IRDAI
Act and applicable SEBI Regulations.

The IRDALI, vide its circular ref: IRDAI/F&A/CIR/ACTS/023/01/2020 dated January 21, 2020, announced its plans
to implement Ind AS 109 only once IFRS 17 is finalised by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The
IRDAI has withdrawn its earlier circular dated June 28, 2017, which stated that implementation of Ind AS in the
insurance sector will be applicable with effect from April 1, 2020.

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (the “MCA”), in its press release dated January 18, 2016, issued a roadmap for
implementation of Ind AS converged with IFRS for scheduled commercial banks, insurance companies and non-
banking financial companies. Subsequently, MCA issued the Companies (Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules,
2016 dated March 30, 2016 (“Amendment Rules”) applicable for accounting periods commencing on or after March
30, 2016. The Amendment Rules require insurance companies to apply Ind AS for the preparation and presentation of
financial statements as notified by the RBI and the IRDAI.

The manner of application of certain Ind AS accounting standards, particularly with respect to insurance companies,
is somewhat uncertain, and further guidance on such application is expected to be provided by the IRDAL In the
absence of requisite guidance from the IRDAI on the interpretation and application of Ind AS and policies to insurance
companies, we are unable to determine with any degree of certainty the impact that the adoption of Ind AS will have
on the preparation and presentation of our financial statements. In the absence of established practice in India regarding
the implementation and application of Ind AS to insurance companies, we may encounter technical difficulties in
implementing and enhancing our management information systems in the context of our transition to Ind AS. In
addition, there is increasing competition for the small number of Ind AS-experienced accounting personnel available
as more Indian companies begin to prepare Ind AS financial statements.

In this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, we have not made any attempt to quantify or identify the impact of the differences
between Ind AS and Indian GAAP as applied to our historical financial statements and there can be no assurance that
the adoption of Ind AS will not materially affect the preparation and presentation of our financial statements in the
future. In addition, any future changes to accounting standards or related regulations, may have a significant effect on
our financial condition and results of operations.

Our insurance coverage on our own assets could prove inadequate to cover our loss. If we were to incur a serious
uninsured loss or a loss that significantly exceed the limits of our insurance policies, it could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We maintain what we believe to be appropriate insurance coverage, commensurate with industry standards in India
and with reputed insurers, including, for instance, policies covering our assets against losses from fire, burglary, risks
to our property, group term plan for employees and group medishield policy. As of March 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022
and as of June 30, 2022, our insurance coverage amounted to % 633.68 million, X 569.20 million, X 707.84 million and
¥599.31 million, respectively, which represented 140.07%, 189.43%, 313.38% and 316.97% of our total assets as on
such dates. However, we cannot assure you that our current insurance policies will insure us fully against all risks and
losses that may arise in the future. In addition, even if such losses are insured, we may be required to pay a significant
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deductible on any claim for recovery of such a loss, or the amount of the loss may exceed our coverage for the loss. In
addition, our insurance policies are subject to annual review, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to renew
these policies on similar or otherwise acceptable terms, if at all. If we were to incur a serious uninsured loss or a loss
that significantly exceeds the limits of our insurance policies, or if we were unable to renew our insurance policies on
acceptable terms or at all, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Industry information included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus has been derived from an industry report
prepared by CRISIL Limited exclusively commissioned and paid for by us for such purpose.

We have used the report titled “Analysis of Life Insurance Industry in India” dated October 20, 2022 (“CRISIL
Report”) prepared by CRISIL Limited (“CRISIL”) appointed on September 14, 2022 for purposes of inclusion of
such information in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, and exclusively commissioned by our Company for purposes
of inclusion of such information in the Offer documents at an agreed fees to be paid by our Company. The report is a
paid report and is subject to various limitations and based upon certain assumptions that are subjective in nature.
Although we believe that the data and contents of the CRISIL Report may be considered to be reliable, the accuracy,
completeness and underlying assumptions are not guaranteed, and dependability cannot be assured. Given the scope
and extent of the CRISIL Report, disclosures are limited to certain excerpts and the CRISIL Report has not been
reproduced in its entirety in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, but will be available on the website of our Company
at https://www.indiafirstlife.com/Investor-Relations from the date of the Red Herring Prospectus till the Bid/ Offer
Closing Date. Further, there is no assurance that such information is stated or compiled on the same basis or with the
same degree of accuracy as may be the case elsewhere. In addition, statements from third parties that involve estimates
are subject to change, and actual amounts may differ materially from those included in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus. Also see, “Certain Conventions, Presentation of Financial, Industry and Market Data — Industry and
Market Data” on page 24.

Our non-convertible debentures are listed on the NSE and we are subject to rules and regulations with respect to
such listed non-convertible debentures. If we fail to comply with such rules and regulations, we may be subject to
certain penal actions, which may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows.

Our Company has issued unsecured, redeemable, rated and non-convertible debentures (“NCDs”). The debenture trust
deeds entered into by our Company in relation to these NCDs include restrictive covenants that require us to inter alia
intimate or obtain the consent of the debenture trustee before undertaking certain corporate actions, such as making
material changes in the nature and scope of the business of our Company, carrying out any amalgamations, mergers,
demergers or corporate restructuring and making material changes in the composition of our Board of Directors. For
further information, see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 335. Accordingly, we have made an intimation to the
debenture trustee in relation to the Offer. Failure to obtain consents, make intimations or comply with such covenants
may adversely impact our business and operations.

Further, these NCDs are listed on the debt segment of NSE. We are required to comply with various applicable rules
and regulations, including the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible
Securities) Regulations, 2021 and applicable provisions of the Listing Regulations, in terms of our listed NCDs. If we
fail to comply with such rules and regulations, we may be subject to certain penal actions, including, without limitation,
restrictions on the further issuance of securities and the freezing of transfers of securities, which may have an adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. As a result of having our NCDs listed,
our Company is subject to the continuous disclosure obligations under the SEBI Listing Regulations. This requires us
to publish our quarterly financial results, subjected to a limited review by our Joint Statutory Auditors, for every quarter
within 45 days from the completion of the previous quarter, as well as submit a copy of the financial results to the
debenture trustees on the same day the information is submitted to stock exchanges. Our results of operations in one
quarter may not accurately reflect the trends for the entire financial year and may not be comparable with our results
of operations for other quarters. Such fluctuations may impact comparison of our reported quarterly financial
performance across quarters.

For details of such listed non-convertible debentures, see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 335.

We have entered into certain related party transactions in Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended June
30, 2022. We will continue to enter into related party transactions, and there can be no assurance that we could not
have achieved more favourable terms had such transactions not been entered into with related parties.

We have entered into certain transactions with related parties for Fiscal 2020, 2021, 2022 and the three months ended
June 30, 2022 aggregating to X 3,080.48 million, X 2,003.23 million, ¥ 3,815.15 million and % 453.45 million,
respectively, which represented 8.56%, 3.07%, 5.29% and 6.19% of our total income (Policyholders’ Account),
respectively. For further information on our related party transactions, see “Restated Financial Information — Notes to
Restated Financial Information — Notes to Accounts: 21. Related Party Disclosure” and “Summary of Offer Document
— Summary of Related Party Transactions” on pages 305 and 19, respectively.
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While we believe that all such transactions have been conducted on an arm’s length basis, it is likely that we will
continue to enter into related party transactions in the future and we cannot assure investors that we would not achieve
more favourable terms if such transactions are entered into with unrelated parties. There can be no assurance that
related party transactions, individually or in the aggregate, will not have an adverse effect on our business and results
of operations. Such related party transactions may also potentially involve conflicts of interest.

We have certain contingent liabilities that have not been provided for in our financial statements, which if they
materialize, may adversely affect our financial condition.

As of June 30, 2022, our contingent liabilities as per the Restated Financial Statements, were as follows:

Particulars As of June 30, 2022

(X in million)

Contingent Liabilities
Partly paid-up investments 63.05
Claims, other than against policies, not acknowledged as debts by the Company -
Underwriting commitments outstanding -
Guarantees given by or on behalf of the Company

797.89

Statutory demands/ liabilities in dispute, not provided for

Reinsurance obligations to the extent not provided for in the accounts -

Policy related claims under litigation 638.91

Total 1,499.85

Commitments

Commitments made and outstanding for loans and investments 0

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on fixed assets, to the extent 4.59

not provided for (net of advances)

Total 4.59
Notes:

(a) Statutory demands and liabilities in dispute, not provided for relate to the show cause cum demand notice received by the company from the
tax authority. The company has filed an appeal against the show cause cum demand notice with the appellate authority and has been advised
by the experts that our grounds of appeal are well supported by law in view of which the company does not expect any liability to arise in this
regard.

(b) In respect of pending litigations related to repudiated claims, where the management assessment of a financial outflow is probable, the
Company has made a provision basis past experience which is as below:

(< in million)
Particulars As at March 31, As at March 31, As at March 31, As at June 30,
2020 2021 2022 2022
Provision in respect of pending litigation 45.37 51.65 58.05 55.68
where management assessment of financial
outflow is probable

If a significant portion of these liabilities materialize, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance that we will not incur similar or increased levels of
contingent liabilities in the current fiscal or in the future. For further information, see “Restated Financial Information
— Notes to Restated Financial Information — Notes to Accounts — 1. Contingent Liabilities” on page 290.

Our Company will not receive any proceeds from the Offer for Sale. A portion of the proceeds from the Offer for
Sale will be paid to the Selling Shareholders.

The Offer consists of a Fresh Issue of Equity Shares by our Company and an Offer for Sale of Equity Shares by the
Selling Shareholders. We will only receive the proceeds from the Fresh Issue, and the entire proceeds from the Offer
for Sale will be paid to the Selling Shareholder(s) and we will not receive any such proceeds. Each Selling Shareholder
shall be entitled to the proceeds from the Offer for Sale, in proportion to its respective portion of the Offered Shares
transferred by it in the Offer for Sale (after deducting the applicable Offer-related expenses and taxes), and our
Company will not receive any proceeds from the Offer for Sale. For further information, see “The Offer”, “Capital
Structure” and “Objects of the Offer” on pages 75, 92 and 104, respectively.

The average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares by the Selling Shareholders may be less than the Offer Price.

The average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares by the Selling Shareholders may be less than the Offer Price. The
details of the average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares held by the Selling Shareholders are set out below:

Name of the Selling Shareholder

Number of Equity Shares held

Average cost of Acquisition per
Equity Share (in 3)*

Bank of Baroda" 490,340,909 28.21
Carmel Point Investments India Private Limited” 196,136,364 50.50
Union Bank® 67,893,357 15.42

*  As certified by Mehta Chokshi & Shah LLP and N S Gokhale & Company, our Statutory Auditors, pursuant to the certificate dated October

20, 2022.

63



57.

58.

59.

60.

(1)  Inclusive of 10 Equity Shares each held by Purshotam, Rajesh Inder Malhotra and Subrat Kumar as nominees of Bank of Baroda.
(2)  Inclusive of 10 Equity Shares each held by Arun Kumar and Vikas Babu Chittiprolu as nominees of Union Bank of India.
~  Also our Promoters.

We have in the past 12 months issued Equity Shares at a price which could be lower than the Offer Price. The price
at which our Company has issued Equity Shares during the last one year from the date of this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus may not be indicative of the future price.

We have in the last twelve months prior to filing this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, issued Equity Shares at prices that
could be lower than the Offer Price. For information regarding such issuances of Equity Shares, see “Capital
Structure—Notes to Capital Structure” on page 92.

Any variation in the utilisation of the Net Proceeds from the Offer as disclosed in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus
shall be subject to certain compliance requirements, including prior Shareholders’ approval.

We propose to utilize the Net Proceeds towards augmentation of our capital base to support solvency levels. For further
information of the proposed objects of the Offer, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 104. We cannot currently determine
with any certainty if we would require the Net Proceeds to meet any other expenditure or fund any exigencies arising
out of competitive environment, business conditions, economic conditions or other factors beyond our control. In
accordance with the Companies Act and the SEBI ICDR Regulations, we cannot undertake any variation in the
utilisation of the Net Proceeds from the Offer as disclosed in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus without obtaining the
Shareholders’ approval through a special resolution. Our Promoters would also be required to provide an exit
opportunity to the shareholders who do not agree with our proposal to change the objects of the Offer or vary the terms
of such contracts, at a price and manner as prescribed by SEBI. In the event of any such circumstances that require us
to undertake variation in the disclosed utilisation of the Net Proceeds, we may not be able to obtain the Shareholders’
approval in a timely manner, or at all. Any delay or inability in obtaining such Shareholders’ approval may adversely
affect our business or operations.

In light of these factors, we may not be able to undertake variation of objects of the Offer to use any unutilized proceeds
of the Offer, if any, even if such variation is in the interest of our Company. This may restrict our Company’s ability
to respond to any change in our business or financial condition by re-deploying the unutilized portion of Offer
proceeds, if any, which may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We have in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus included certain non-GAAP financial measures and certain other
industry measures related to our operations and financial performance. These non-GAAP measures and industry
measures may vary from any standard methodology that is applicable across the industry in which we operate, and
therefore may not be comparable with financial or industry related statistical information of similar nomenclature
computed and presented by other companies.

Certain non-GAAP financial measures and certain other industry measures relating to our operations and financial
performance have been included in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. We compute and disclose such non-GAAP
financial measures and such other industry related statistical information relating to our operations and financial
performance as we consider such information to be useful measures of our business and financial performance, and
because such measures are frequently used by securities analysts, investors and others to evaluate the operational
performance of insurance companies, many of which provide such non-GAAP financial measures and other industry
related statistical and operational information. For more details, see “Certain Conventions, Presentation of Financial,
Industry and Market Data — Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Financial Measures” on page 23. Such
supplemental financial and operational information is therefore of limited utility as an analytical tool, and investors
are cautioned against considering such information either in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis of our audited
financial statements as reported under applicable accounting standards disclosed elsewhere in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus.

These non-GAAP financial measures and such other industry related statistical and other information relating to our
operations and financial performance may not be computed on the basis of any standard methodology that is applicable
across the industry and therefore may not be comparable to financial measures and industry related statistical
information of similar nomenclature that may be computed and presented by other companies. For further information,
see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Key Performance
Indicators” on page 343.

Our funding requirements and the proposed deployment of Net Proceeds have not been appraised and our Company
has broad discretion over the use of the Net Proceeds and may use them in ways with which you do not agree and
in ways that may not enhance our operating results or the price of our Equity Shares.

We intend to utilize the Net Proceeds to augment our capital base to support solvency levels. Our proposed deployment
of the Net Proceeds has not been appraised and it is based on management estimates. As stipulated in Regulation 41
of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, we are not required to appoint a monitoring agency for the use of the Net Proceeds
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and we do not intend to do so. Accordingly, the deployment of the Fresh Issue proceeds will be entirely at our discretion
which is especially relevant since we have proposed broad utilization of the Net Proceeds. Our board of directors and
management will therefore have broad discretion over the application of the Net Proceeds. We may spend or invest
these proceeds in ways with which you disagree or that do not yield a favorable or any return. Our actual use of the
Net Proceeds may differ substantially from our current plans. Failure by our management to apply these funds
effectively could harm our business and financial condition and cause the market price of our Equity Shares to decline.
Various risks and uncertainties, including those set forth in this section, may limit or delay our efforts to use of the Net
Proceeds to achieve profitable growth in our business. Pending their use, we may invest the Net Proceeds in a manner
that does not produce income or that loses value.

Certain of the approvals received and intimations made by Union Bank of India, one of our Shareholders, to the
Reserve Bank of India are not traceable. Accordingly, Union Bank of India may be subject to regulatory actions
and penalties by the Reserve Bank of India in this regard which could affect our reputation and results of
operations.

One of our Shareholders, Union Bank of India, has not been able to trace the intimations made to RBI or the approvals
received from it, as applicable, for certain allotments made by our Company to Union Bank of India in the past. For
example, Union Bank of India has been unable to trace the intimation, as applicable, made to RBI nor the approval
received from it, as applicable, for allotment of (a) 37,500,000 Equity Shares on August 27, 2010; (b) 45,000,000
Equity Shares on August 16, 2011; (¢) 45,000,000 Equity Shares on October 5, 2015; and (d) 8,181,818 Equity Shares
on July 12,2022, While Union Bank of India has made attempts to locate such approvals and intimations, as applicable,
it has not been able to trace the aforementioned documents despite best efforts. In the event any action is taken by RBI
for the abovementioned approvals and intimations, as applicable, it may strain our resources and divert the attention
of our management and may also affect our reputation and results of operations.

External Risk Factors

Risks Relating to India

62.

Recent global economic and political conditions have been challenging and continue to affect the Indian market,
which may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In the event of adverse macroeconomic conditions in India or globally, which may be characterized by higher
unemployment, lower household income, lower corporate earnings, lower business investment, higher inflation and
lower consumer spending, the demand for insurance products could be adversely affected. Our policyholders may opt
to defer or discontinue paying insurance premiums or choose to forgo or not renew their insurance coverage. We may
also experience an increase in incidence of claims and non-renewal of policies. The Indian economy and its securities
markets are influenced by economic developments and volatility in securities markets in other countries. Investors’
reactions to developments in one country may have adverse effects on the market price of securities of companies
located in other countries, including India. For instance, the economic downturn in the U.S. and several European
countries during a part of Fiscal 2008 and 2009 adversely affected market prices in the global securities markets,
including India. Negative economic developments, such as rising fiscal or trade deficits, or a default on national debt,
in other emerging market countries may also affect investor confidence and cause increased volatility in Indian
securities markets and indirectly affect the Indian economy in general. Concerns related to a trade war between large
economies may lead to increased risk aversion and volatility in global capital markets and consequently have an impact
on the Indian economy. Any worldwide financial instability could also have a negative impact on the Indian economy,
including the movement of exchange rates and interest rates in India and could then adversely affect our business,
financial performance and the price of our Equity Shares. However, the overall long-term effect of these and other
legislative and regulatory efforts on the global financial markets is uncertain, and they may not have the intended
stabilizing effects. Demand for our products may be adversely affected by an economic downturn in domestic, regional
and global economies. Economic growth in the countries in which we operate is affected by various factors including
domestic consumption and savings, balance of trade movements, namely export demand and movements in key
imports, global economic uncertainty and liquidity crisis, volatility in exchange currency rates and outbreak of an
infectious disease, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Any other global economic developments or the perception that any of them could occur may continue to have an
adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, and may significantly reduce
global market liquidity and restrict the ability of key market participants to operate in certain financial markets. Also,
a change in the government or a change in the economic and deregulation policies could adversely affect economic
conditions prevalent in the areas in which we operate in general and our business in particular and high rates of inflation
in India could increase our costs without proportionately increasing our revenues, and as such decrease our operating
margins. Any of these factors could depress economic activity and restrict our access to capital, which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and reduce the price of our equity shares.
Any financial disruption could have an adverse effect on our business, future financial performance, shareholders’
equity and the price of our Equity Shares.
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Changing laws, rules or regulations and legal uncertainties including taxation laws, or their interpretation, such
changes may significantly affect our financial statements.

The regulatory environment in which we operate is evolving and is subject to change. The Gol may implement new
laws or other regulations that could affect the component industry, which could lead to new compliance requirements.
New compliance requirements could increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations. Further, the manner in which new requirements will be enforced or interpreted can lead to
uncertainty in our operations and could adversely affect our operations. For further information on the laws applicable
to us, see “Key Regulations and Policies” on page 204.

The Income Tax Act, 1961 (“IT Act”) was amended to provide domestic companies an option to pay corporate income
tax at the effective rate of approximately 25.17% (inclusive of applicable surcharge and health and education cess), as
compared to effective rate of 34.94% (inclusive of applicable surcharge and health and education cess), provided such
companies do not claim certain specified deductions or exemptions. Further, where a company has opted to pay the
reduced corporate tax rate, the minimum alternate tax provisions would not be applicable. Any such future amendments
may affect our ability to claim exemptions that we have historically benefited from, and such exemptions may no
longer be available to us. Any adverse order passed by the appellate authorities/ tribunals/ courts would have an effect
on our profitability. Due to the COVID -19 pandemic, the Government of India had also passed the Taxation and Other
Laws (Relaxation of Certain Provisions) Act, 2020, implementing relaxations from certain requirements under,
amongst others, the Central Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 and Customs Tariff Act, 1975.

Further, as GST is implemented, there can be no assurance that we will not be required to comply with additional
procedures or obtain additional approvals and licenses from the government and other regulatory bodies or that they
will not impose onerous requirements and conditions on our operations. With the implementation of GST, we are
obligated to pass on any benefits accruing to us as result of the transition to GST to the consumer thereby limiting our
benefits. In order for us to utilise input credit under GST, the entire value chain has to be GST compliant, including
us. While we are and will continue to adhere to the GST rules and regulations, there can be no assurance that our
suppliers and dealers will do so. Any such failure may result in increased cost on account of non-compliance with the
GST and may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Earlier, distribution of dividends by a domestic company was subject to Dividend Distribution Tax (“DDT?”), in the
hands of the company at an effective rate of 20.56% (inclusive of applicable surcharge and health and education cess).
Such dividends were generally exempt from tax in the hands of the shareholders. However, the Government of India
has amended the IT Act to abolish the DDT regime. Accordingly, any dividend distributed by a domestic company is
subject to tax in the hands of the investor at the applicable rate. Additionally, the Company is required to withhold tax
on such dividends distributed at the applicable rate.

Further, the Government of India has notified the Finance Act, 2022 (“Finance Act”), which has introduced various
amendments to the IT Act. As such, there is no certainty on the impact that the Finance Act may have on our business
and operations or on the industry in which we operate. In addition, unfavourable changes in or interpretations of
existing, or the promulgation of new laws, rules and regulations including foreign investment laws governing our
business, operations, and group structure could result in us being deemed to be in contravention of such laws or may
require us to apply for additional approvals. We may incur increased costs relating to compliance with such new
requirements, which may also require management time and other resources, and any failure to comply may adversely
affect our business, results of operations and prospects. Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or
implementation of any amendment to, or change in, governing law, regulation or policy, including by reason of an
absence, or a limited body, of administrative or judicial precedent, may be time consuming as well as costly for us to
resolve and may affect the viability of our current business or restrict our ability to grow our business in the future.
For instance, the Supreme Court of India has in a decision clarified the components of basic wages which need to be
considered by companies while making provident fund payments, which resulted in an increase in the provident fund
payments to be made by companies. Any such decisions in future or any further changes in interpretation of laws may
have an impact on our results of operations.

Changes in other laws may impose additional requirements, resulting in additional expenditure and time cost. For
instance, the Gol has announced four labour codes which are yet to come into force as on the date of this Draft Red
Herring Prospectus, namely, (i) the Code on Wages, 2019, (ii) the Industrial Relations Code, 2020; (iii) the Code on
Social Security, 2020; and (iv) the Occupational Safety, Health and Working Conditions Code, 2020. Such codes will
replace the existing legal framework governing rights of workers and labour relations. While the rules for
implementation under these codes have not been announced, we are unable to determine the impact of all or some such
laws on our business and operations which may restrict our ability to grow our business in the future. For example, the
Social Security Code aims to provide uniformity in providing social security benefits to employees which were
previously segregated under different acts and had different applicability and coverage. The Social Security Code has
introduced the concept of workers outside traditional employer-employee work-arrangements, such as “gig workers”
and “platform workers” and provides for the mandatory registration of such workers in order to enable these workers
to avail themselves of various employment benefits, such as life and disability cover, health and maternity benefits
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and old age protection, under schemes framed under the Social Security Code from time to time. Any failure to comply
may adversely affect our business, results of operations and prospects. Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation
or implementation of any amendment to, or change in, governing law, regulation or policy, including by reason of an
absence, or a limited body, of administrative or judicial precedent may be time consuming as well as costly for us to
resolve and may impact the viability of our current businesses or restrict our ability to grow our businesses in the
future.

Financial instability in other countries may cause increased volatility in Indian financial markets.

The Indian market and the Indian economy are influenced by economic and market conditions in other countries,
including conditions in the United States, Europe and certain emerging economies in Asia. Financial turmoil in Asia,
United States, United Kingdom, Russia and elsewhere in the world in recent years has adversely affected the Indian
economy. Any worldwide financial instability may cause increased volatility in the Indian financial markets and,
directly or indirectly, adversely affect the Indian economy and financial sector and us. Although economic conditions
vary across markets, loss of investor confidence in one emerging economy may cause increased volatility across other
economies, including India. Financial instability in other parts of the world could have a global influence and thereby
negatively affect the Indian economy. Financial disruptions could materially and adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Further, economic developments globally can have
a significant impact on our principal markets.

In response to such developments, legislators and financial regulators in the United States and other jurisdictions,
including India, implemented a number of policy measures designed to add stability to the financial markets. However,
the overall long-term effect of these and other legislative and regulatory efforts on the global financial markets is
uncertain, and they may not have the intended stabilizing effects. Any significant financial disruption could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation. These developments, or the
perception that any of them could occur, have had and may continue to have a material adverse effect on global
economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, and may significantly reduce global market liquidity,
restrict the ability of key market participants to operate in certain financial markets or restrict our access to capital.
This could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and reduce the
price of our Equity Shares.

Significant differences exist between Indian GAAP and other accounting principles, such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS,
which investors may be more familiar with and may consider material to their assessment of our financial condition.

Our Restated Financial Information for Fiscal 2020, 2021 and 2022, and the three months ended June 30, 2022 have
been prepared and presented in conformity with Indian GAAP as it applies to life insurance entities. No attempt has
been made to reconcile any of the information given in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus to U.S. GAAP, IFRS or any
other principles or to base it on any other standard. Indian GAAP differs in certain significant respects from IFRS,
U.S. GAAP and other accounting principles with which prospective investors may be familiar in other countries. If
our financial statements were to be prepared in accordance with such other accounting principles, our results of
operations, cash flows and financial position may be substantially different. Prospective investors should review the
accounting policies applied in the preparation of our financial statements and consult their own professional advisers
for an understanding of the differences between these accounting principles and those with which they may be more
familiar. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian accounting practices on the financial disclosures presented
in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus should be limited accordingly.

Our business and activities are regulated by the Competition Act, 2002; any adverse application or interpretation
of the Competition Act, 2002 could adversely affect our business.

The Competition Act, 2002, as amended (the “Competition Act”), was enacted for the purpose of preventing practices
having an appreciable adverse effect on competition in India and mandates the Competition Commission of India (the
“CCI”) to regulate such practices. Under the Competition Act, any arrangement, understanding or action, whether
formal or informal, which causes or is likely to cause an appreciable adverse effect on competition in India is void and
may result in substantial penalties. Any agreement among competitors which directly or indirectly determines purchase
or sale prices, directly or indirectly results in bid rigging or collusive bidding, limits or controls production, supply,
markets, technical development, investment or the provision of services, or shares the market or source of production
or provision of services in any manner, including by way of allocation of geographical area or types of goods or
services or number of customers in the relevant market or any other similar way, is presumed to have an appreciable
adverse effect on competition in the relevant market in India and shall be void. The Competition Act also prohibits the
abuse of dominant position by any enterprise. If it is demonstrated that any contravention committed by a company
took place with the consent or connivance of, or is attributable to any neglect on the part of, any director, manager,
secretary or other officer of such company, that person shall be guilty of the contravention and may be punished.

On March 4, 2011, the Government notified and brought into force the combination regulation (merger control)

provisions under the Competition Act with effect from June 1, 2011. These provisions require acquisitions of shares,

voting rights, assets or control or mergers or amalgamations that cross the prescribed asset and turnover based
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thresholds to be mandatorily notified to and pre-approved by the CCI. Additionally, on May 11, 2011, the CCI issued
the Competition Commission of India (Procedure in regard to the transaction of business relating to combinations)
Regulations 2011, as amended, which sets out the mechanism for implementation of the merger control regime in
India. Consequently, all agreements entered into by us may fall within the purview of the Competition Act.

Further, the CCI has extraterritorial powers and can investigate any agreements, abusive conduct or combination
occurring outside India if such agreement, conduct or combination has an appreciable adverse effect on competition
in India. However, we cannot predict with certainty the impact of the provisions of the Competition Act on the
agreements entered into by us at this stage. We are not currently party to any outstanding proceedings, nor have we
received notice in relation to non-compliance with the Competition Act or the agreements entered into by us. However,
if we are affected, directly or indirectly, by the application or interpretation of any provision of the Competition Act,
or any enforcement proceedings initiated by the CCI, or any adverse publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny
or prosecution by the CCI or if any prohibition or substantial penalties are levied under the Competition Act, it would
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

If inflation were to rise in India, we might not be able to increase the prices of our services at a proportional rate
thereby reducing our margins.

Inflation rates in India have been volatile in recent years, and such volatility may continue in the future. India has
experienced high inflation in the recent past. Increased inflation can contribute to an increase in interest rates and
increased costs to our business, including increased costs of transportation, wages, raw materials and other expenses
relevant to our business. High fluctuations in inflation rates may make it more difficult for us to accurately estimate
or control our costs. Any increase in inflation in India can increase our expenses, which we may not be able to
adequately pass on to our customers, whether entirely or in part, and may adversely affect our business and financial
condition. In such case, our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition may be adversely
affected. Further, the Government has previously initiated economic measures to combat high inflation rates, and it is
unclear whether these measures will remain in effect. There can be no assurance that Indian inflation levels will not
worsen in the future.

Risks Relating to the Equity Shares and this Offer

68.

Substantially all of our business and operations are located in India, where we are subject to regulatory, economic,
social and political uncertainties.

We are incorporated in and our operations are located in India. As a result, we are highly dependent on prevailing
economic conditions in India and our results of operations are significantly affected by factors influencing the Indian
economy. Substantially all of our business, employees and investments are located in India, and we intend to continue
to develop and expand our business in India. Consequently, our financial performance, the performance of our
investments and the market price of our equity shares will be affected by changes in exchange rates and controls,
interest rates, volatility in and actual or perceived trends in trading activity on India’s principal stock exchanges,
prevailing economic conditions, inflation, changes in government policies, including taxation policies and foreign
investment policies, social and civil unrest and other political, social and economic developments in or affecting India.

While the Indian economy has experienced significant growth over the past decades, growth has been uneven, both
geographically and among various sectors of the economy.

The Government of India has exercised and continues to exercise significant influence over many aspects of the Indian
economy. Specific laws and policies affecting insurance companies, e-commerce, data, foreign investments, currency
exchange rates and other matters affecting investments in India could change as well or be subject to unfavorable
changes or interpretations or uncertainty.

Other factors that may adversely affect the Indian economy, and hence our results of operations and cash flows, may
include:

. any scarcity of credit or other financing in India, resulting in an adverse effect on economic conditions in
India and scarcity of financing for our expansions;

. political instability, terrorism or military conflict in India or in countries in the region or globally, including
in India’s various neighbouring countries;

. occurrence of natural or man-made disasters;
. prevailing regional or global economic conditions, including in India’s principal export markets;
. other significant regulatory or economic developments in or affecting India or its consumption sector;
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. international business practices that may conflict with other customs or legal requirements to which we are
subject, including anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws;

. protectionist and other adverse public policies, including local content requirements, import/export tariffs,
increased regulations or capital investment requirements; and

. being subject to the jurisdiction of foreign courts, including uncertainty of judicial processes and difficulty
enforcing contractual agreements or judgments in foreign legal systems or incurring additional costs to do so.

Any further slowdown or perceived slowdown in the Indian economy, or in specific sectors of the Indian economy,
could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and the price of the Equity
Shares.

Investors may not be able to enforce a judgment of a foreign court against us, our Directors, the Book Running
Lead Managers or any of their directors and executive officers in India respectively, except by way of a law suit in
India.

Our Company is a company incorporated under the laws of India and all of our Directors are located and/or resident
in India. All of our assets, our Key Managerial Personnel and officers are also located in India. As a result, it may not
be possible for investors to effect service of process upon our Company or such persons in jurisdictions outside India,
or to enforce judgments obtained against such parties outside India. Furthermore, it is unlikely that an Indian court
would enforce foreign judgments if that court was of the view that the amount of damages awarded was excessive or
inconsistent with public policy, or if judgments are in breach or contrary to Indian law.

Recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments is provided for under Sections 13, 14 and Section 44A of the Code
of Civil Procedure, 1908. India is not party to any international treaty in relation to the recognition or enforcement of
foreign judgments. India has reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters
with only a limited number of jurisdictions, such as the United Kingdom, United Arab Emirates, Singapore and Hong
Kong. In order to be enforceable, a judgment from a jurisdiction with reciprocity must meet certain requirements
established in the Indian Code of Civil Procedure, 1908. The CPC only permits the enforcement and execution of
monetary decrees in the reciprocating jurisdiction, not being in the nature of any amounts payable in respect of taxes,
other charges, fines or penalties and does not apply to arbitration awards (even if such awards are enforceable as a
decree or judgment). Judgments or decrees from jurisdictions which do not have reciprocal recognition with India,
including the United States, cannot be enforced by proceedings in execution in India. Therefore, a final judgment for
the payment of money rendered by any court in a non-reciprocating territory for civil liability, whether or not
predicated solely upon the general laws of the non-reciprocating territory, would not be directly enforceable in India.
The party in whose favour a final foreign judgment in a non-reciprocating territory is rendered may bring a fresh suit
in a competent court in India based on the final judgment within three years of obtaining such final judgment in the
same manner as any other suit filed to enforce a civil liability in India.

However, it is unlikely that a court in India would award damages on the same basis as a foreign court if an action
were brought in India or that an Indian court would enforce foreign judgments if it viewed the amount of damages as
excessive or inconsistent with the public policy in India. Further, there is no assurance that a suit brought in an Indian
court in relation to a foreign judgment will be disposed of in a timely manner. In addition, any person seeking to
enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to obtain the prior approval of the RBI to repatriate any amount
recovered, and we cannot assure that such approval will be forthcoming within a reasonable period of time, or at all,
or that conditions of such approval would be acceptable. Such amount may also be subject to income tax in accordance
with applicable law.

The trading volume and market price of the Equity Shares may be volatile following the Offer.

The market price of the Equity Shares may fluctuate as a result of, among other things, the following factors, some of
which are beyond our control:

. quarterly variations in our results of operations;

. results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

. results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;

. changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates by research

analysts and investors;

. a change in research analysts’ recommendations;
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. announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint operations or
capital commitments;

. announcements by third parties or governmental entities of significant claims or proceedings against us;
. new laws and governmental regulations applicable to our industry;

. additions or departures of key management personnel;

. changes in exchange rates;

. fluctuations in stock market prices and volume; and

. general economic and stock market conditions.

Changes in relation to any of the factors listed above could adversely affect the price of the Equity Shares.

Fluctuation in the exchange rate between the Indian Rupee and foreign currencies may have an adverse effect on
the value of our Equity Shares, independent of our operating results.

On listing, our Equity Shares will be quoted in Indian Rupees on the Stock Exchanges. Any dividends in respect of
our Equity Shares will also be paid in Indian Rupees and subsequently converted into the relevant foreign currency for
repatriation, if required. Any adverse movement in currency exchange rates during the time taken for such conversion
may reduce the net dividend to foreign investors. In addition, any adverse movement in currency exchange rates during
a delay in repatriating the proceeds from a sale of Equity Shares outside India, for example, because of a delay in
regulatory approvals that may be required for the sale of Equity Shares may reduce the proceeds received by
Shareholders. For example, the exchange rate between the Indian Rupee and the U.S. dollar has fluctuated substantially
in recent years and may continue to fluctuate substantially in the future, which may have an adverse effect on the
returns on our Equity Shares, independent of our operating results.

Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of capital gains on the sale of the Equity Shares.

Under current Indian tax laws, unless specifically exempted, capital gains arising from the sale of equity shares in an
Indian company are generally taxable in India. A securities transaction tax (“STT”) is levied on and collected by an
Indian stock exchange on which equity shares are sold. Any gain realized on the sale of listed equity shares held for
more than 12 months immediately preceding the date of transfer may be subject to long-term capital gains tax in India
at the specified rates depending on certain factors, such as STT paid, the quantum of gains and any available treaty
exemptions. Accordingly, investors may be subject to payment of long-term capital gains tax in India, in addition to
payment of STT, on the sale of any Equity Shares held for more than 12 months immediately preceding the date of
transfer. STT will be levied on and collected by a domestic stock exchange on which the Equity Shares are sold.
Further, any gain realized on the sale of our Equity Shares held for a period of 12 months or less immediately preceding
the date of transfer will also be subject to short-term capital gains tax in India. While non-residents may claim tax
treaty benefits in relation to such capital gains income, generally, Indian tax treaties do not limit India’s right to impose
a tax on capital gains arising from the sale of shares of an Indian company.

No dividend distribution tax is required to be paid in respect of dividends declared, distributed or paid by a domestic
company after March 31, 2020 and, accordingly, such dividends would not be exempt in the hands of the Sharcholders,
both for residents as well as non-residents. Our Company may or may not grant the benefit of a tax treaty (where
applicable) to a non-resident Shareholder for the purposes of deducting tax at source pursuant to any corporate action,
including dividends.

Similarly, any business income realised from the transfer of equity shares held as trading assets is taxable at the
applicable tax rates subject to any treaty relief, if applicable, to a non-resident seller. Additionally, in terms of the
Finance Act, 2018, which has been notified on March 29, 2018 with effect from April 1, 2018, taxes payable by an
assessee on the capital gains arising from transfer of long-term capital assets (introduced as Section 112A of the
Income-Tax Act, 1961) shall be calculated on such long-term capital gains at the rate of 10%, where the long-term
capital gains exceed 100,000, subject to certain exceptions in case of resident individuals and Hindu Undivided
Families.

The Indian Stamp Act, 1899 was amended to provide that the sale, transfer and issue of certain securities through
exchanges, depositories, or otherwise shall be charged with stamp duty. In the absence of a specific provision under
an agreement, the liability to pay stamp duty in case of sale of certain securities through stock exchanges is on the
buyer, while in other cases of transfer for consideration through a depository, the onus is on the transferor. The stamp
duty for transfer of certain securities, other than debentures, on a delivery basis is currently specified at 0.015% and
on a non-delivery basis is specified at 0.003% of the consideration amount.
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The Government of India announced the union budget for Fiscal 2023, following which the Finance Bill, 2022
(“Finance Bill”) was introduced in the Lok Sabha on February 1, 2022. Subsequently, the Finance Bill received the
assent from the President of India on March 30, 2022, and became the Finance Act, 2022 (“Finance Act”). There is
no certainty on the impact of Finance Act on tax laws or other regulations, which may adversely affect the Company’s
business, financial condition, results of operations or on the industry in which we operate. Investors are advised to
consult their own tax advisors and to carefully consider the potential tax consequences of owning Equity Shares.

There is no guarantee that our Equity Shares will be listed on the stock exchanges in a timely manner or at all.

The Equity Shares will be listed on the Stock Exchanges. Pursuant to applicable Indian laws, certain actions must be
completed before the Equity Shares can be listed and trading in the Equity Shares may commence. Investors’ book
entry, or ‘demat’ accounts with depository participants in India, are expected to be credited within one working day of
the date on which the Basis of Allotment is approved by the Stock Exchanges. The Allotment of Equity Shares in the
Offer and the credit of such Equity Shares to the applicant’s demat account with depository participant could take
approximately five Working Days from the Bid/ Offer Closing Date and trading in the Equity Shares upon receipt of
final listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges is expected to commence within six Working Days of
the Bid/ Offer Closing Date. There could be a failure or delay in listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges.
Any failure or delay in obtaining the approval or otherwise commence trading in the Equity Shares would restrict
investors’ ability to dispose of their Equity Shares. There can be no assurance that the Equity Shares will be credited
to investors’ demat accounts, or that trading in the Equity Shares will commence, within the time periods specified in
this risk factor. We could also be required to pay interest at the applicable rates if allotment is not made, refund orders
are not dispatched or demat credits are not made to investors within the prescribed time periods.

The Equity Shares have never been publicly traded and the Offer may not result in an active or liquid market for
the Equity Shares.

Prior to the Offer, there has been no public market for the Equity Shares, and an active trading market on the Indian
Stock Exchanges may not develop or be sustained after the Offer. Listing and quotation does not guarantee that a
market for the Equity Shares will develop, or if developed, the liquidity of such market for the Equity Shares. Further,
the price of the Equity Shares may be volatile, and the investors may be unable to resell the Equity Shares at or above
the Offer Price, or at all. The market price of the Equity Shares may be subject to significant fluctuations in response
to, among other factors, variations in our operating results, market conditions specific to the industry we operate in,
developments relating to India and volatility in the Stock Exchanges and securities markets elsewhere in the world.

Investors will not be able to sell immediately on an Indian stock exchange any of the Equity Shares they purchase
in the Offer.

The Equity Shares will be listed on the Stock Exchanges. Pursuant to applicable Indian laws, certain actions must be
completed before the Equity Shares can be listed and trading in the Equity Shares may commence. Investors’ book
entry, or ‘demat’ accounts with depository participants in India, are expected to be credited within one working day of
the date on which the Basis of Allotment is approved by the Stock Exchanges. The Allotment of Equity Shares in the
Offer and the credit of such Equity Shares to the applicant’s demat account with depository participant could take
approximately five Working Days from the Bid/ Offer Closing Date and trading in the Equity Shares upon receipt of
final listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges is expected to commence within six Working Days of the
Bid/ Ofter Closing Date. There could be a failure or delay in listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges. Any
failure or delay in obtaining the approval or otherwise commence trading in the Equity Shares would restrict investors’
ability to dispose of their Equity Shares. There can be no assurance that the Equity Shares will be credited to investors’
demat accounts, or that trading in the Equity Shares will commence, within the time periods specified in this risk
factor. We could also be required to pay interest at the applicable rates if allotment is not made, refund orders are not
dispatched or demat credits are not made to investors within the prescribed time periods.

Any downgrading of India’s sovereign debt rating by an international rating agency could have a negative impact
on our business and results of operations.

Any adverse revisions to India’s credit ratings by international rating agencies may adversely affect our ratings, our
ability to raise additional financing and the interest rates and other commercial terms at which such financing is
available, including raising any overseas additional financing. A downgrading of India’s credit ratings may occur, for
example, upon a change of government tax or fiscal policy, which are outside our control. This could have an adverse
effect on our ability to fund our growth on favourable terms or at all, and consequently adversely affect our business,
cash flows and financial performance and the price of the Equity Shares.

Any future issuance of Equity Shares, or convertible securities or other equity linked instruments by us may dilute
your shareholding and sale of Equity Shares by shareholders with significant shareholding may adversely affect
the trading price of the Equity Shares.

We may be required to finance our growth through future equity offerings. Any future equity issuances by us, including
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a primary offering of Equity Shares, convertible securities or securities linked to Equity Shares including through
exercise of employee stock options, may lead to the dilution of investors’ shareholdings in our Company. Any future
equity issuances by us, including to comply with minimum public shareholding norms applicable to listed companies
in India or sales of our Equity Shares by our shareholders may adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares,
which may lead to other adverse consequences including difficulty in raising capital through offering of our Equity
Shares or incurring additional debt. In addition, any perception by investors that such issuances or sales might occur
may also affect the market price of our Equity Shares. Additionally, the disposal, pledge or encumbrance of the Equity
Shares (in accordance with applicable law including procuring regulatory approvals, as required) by any of our
significant shareholders, or the perception that such transactions may occur, may affect the trading price of the Equity
Shares. There can be no assurance that we will not issue Equity Shares, convertible securities or securities linked to
Equity Shares or that our Shareholders will not dispose of, pledge or encumber their Equity Shares (in accordance with
applicable law including procuring regulatory approvals, as required) in the future.

Under Indian law, foreign investors are subject to investment restrictions that limit our ability to attract foreign
investors, which may adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares.

Under foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India, transfer of shares between non-residents and residents
are freely permitted (subject to certain restrictions), if they comply with the pricing guidelines and reporting
requirements specified by the RBI. If the transfer of shares, which are sought to be transferred, is not in compliance
with such pricing guidelines or reporting requirements or falls under any of the exceptions referred to above, then a
prior regulatory approval will be required. Additionally, shareholders who seek to convert Rupee proceeds from a sale
of shares in India into foreign currency and repatriate that foreign currency from India require a no-objection or a tax
clearance certificate from the Indian income tax authorities. Further, this conversion is subject to the shares being held
on a repatriation basis and, either the security having been sold in compliance with the pricing guidelines or relevant
regulatory approval having been obtained for sale of shares and the corresponding remittance of sale proceeds.

In addition, pursuant to the Press Note No. 3 (2020 Series), dated April 17, 2020, issued by the DPIIT, which has been
incorporated as the proviso to Rule 6(a) of the FEMA Non-debt Rules, all investments under the foreign direct
investment route by entities of a country which shares land border with India or where the beneficial owner of the
Equity Shares is situated in or is a citizen of any such country, can only be made through the Government approval
route, as prescribed in the Consolidated FDI Policy dated October 15, 2020 and the FEMA Rules. These investment
restrictions shall also apply to subscribers of offshore derivative instruments. Further, in the event of transfer of
ownership of any existing or future foreign direct investment in an entity in India, directly or indirectly, resulting in
the beneficial ownership falling within the aforesaid restriction/purview, such subsequent change in the beneficial
ownership will also require approval of the Government of India.

In addition, the Insurance Act has been amended to revise the cap on aggregate holdings of equity shares by foreign
investors, including portfolio investors, from the erstwhile 49% to 74% of paid-up equity share capital. The FEMA
Non-debt Rules have been amended to revise the foreign investment limits in insurance companies as well. Further,
the DPIIT, Ministry of Commerce and Industry, Government of India has also amended the foreign direct investment
policy 2020 on insurance sector by issuance of press note no. 2 (2021 Series) reflecting the foreign investment
liberalization of up to 74% in Indian insurance companies. The Ministry of Finance has also amended the Foreign
Exchange Management (Non-Debt Instruments) Rules, 2019 through its notification dated August 19, 2021 to reflect
the revision in the foreign direct investment limit up to 74% in the insurance companies. If we reach the cap, our ability
to attract further foreign investors or raise capital outside India would be curtailed, which may have a material adverse
impact on the market price of the Equity Shares.

We cannot assure investors that any required approval from the RBI or any other governmental agency can be obtained
on any particular terms or at all. For further information, see “Restrictions on Foreign Ownership of Indian Securities”
on page 448.

The determination of the Price Band is based on various factors and assumptions and the Offer Price of the Equity
Shares may not be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares after the Offer. Further, the current market
price of some securities listed pursuant to certain previous issues managed by the BRLMs is below their respective
issue prices.

The determination of the Price Band is based on various factors and assumptions, and will be determined by our
Company and the Selling Shareholders in consultation with the BRLMs. Furthermore, the Offer Price of the Equity
Shares will be determined by our Company and Selling Shareholders in consultation with the BRLMs through the
Book Building Process. These will be based on numerous factors, including factors as described under “Basis for the
Offer Price” on page 109 and may not be indicative of the market price for the Equity Shares after the Offer.

In addition to the above, the current market price of securities listed pursuant to certain previous initial public offerings

managed by the BRLMs is below their respective issue price. For further information, see “Other Regulatory and

Statutory Disclosures — Price information of past issues handled by the BRLMs” on page 404. The factors that could

affect the market price of the Equity Shares include, among others, broad market trends, financial performance and
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results of our Company post-listing, and other factors beyond our control. We cannot assure investors that an active
market will develop or sustained trading will take place in the Equity Shares or provide any assurance regarding the
price at which the Equity Shares will be traded after listing.

QIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders are not permitted to withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms of quantity of Equity
Shares or the Bid amount) at any stage after submitting a bid, and Retail Individual Bidders are not permitted to
withdraw their Bids after Bid/Offer Closing Date.

Pursuant to the SEBI ICDR Regulations, QIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders are required to block the Bid amount on
submission of the Bid and are not permitted to withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms of quantity of equity shares or
the Bid Amount) at any stage after submitting a Bid. Retail Individual Bidders can revise or withdraw their Bids at
any time during the Bid/Offer Period and until the Bid/ Offer Closing Date, but not thereafter. While we are required
to complete all necessary formalities for listing and commencement of trading of the Equity Shares on all Stock
Exchanges where such Equity Shares are proposed to be listed, including Allotment, within six Working Days from
the Bid/ Offer Closing Date or such other period as may be prescribed by the SEBI, events affecting the investors’
decision to invest in the Equity Shares, including adverse changes in international or national monetary policy,
financial, political or economic conditions, our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition may
arise between the date of submission of the Bid and Allotment.

We may complete the Allotment of the Equity Shares even if such events occur, and such events may limit the
investors’ ability to sell the Equity Shares Allotted pursuant to the Offer or cause the trading price of the Equity Shares
to decline on listing. Therefore, QIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders will not be able to withdraw or lower their bids
following adverse developments in international or national monetary policy, financial, political or economic
conditions, our business, results of operations, cash flows or otherwise between the dates of submission of their Bids
and Allotment.

Holders of Equity Shares may be restricted in their ability to exercise pre-emptive rights under Indian law and
thereby may suffer future dilution of their ownership position.

Under the Companies Act, a company having share capital and incorporated in India must offer its holders of equity
shares pre-emptive rights to subscribe and pay for a proportionate number of equity shares to maintain their existing
ownership percentages before the issuance of any new equity shares, unless the pre-emptive rights have been waived
by adoption of a special resolution. However, if the laws of the jurisdiction the investors are located in does not permit
them to exercise their pre-emptive rights without our filing an offering document or registration statement with the
applicable authority in such jurisdiction, the investors will be unable to exercise their pre-emptive rights unless we
make such a filing. If we elect not to file a registration statement, the new securities may be issued to a custodian, who
may sell the securities for the investor’s benefit. The value the custodian receives on the sale of such securities and the
related transaction costs cannot be predicted. In addition, to the extent that the investors are unable to exercise pre-
emption rights granted in respect of the Equity Shares held by them, their proportional interest in us would be reduced.

A third-party could be prevented from acquiring control of us post this Offer, because of anti-takeover provisions
under Indian law.

As a listed Indian entity, there are provisions in Indian law that may delay, deter or prevent a future takeover or change
in control of our Company. Under the Takeover Regulations, an acquirer has been defined as any person who, directly
or indirectly, acquires or agrees to acquire shares or voting rights or control over a company, whether individually or
acting in concert with others. Although these provisions have been formulated to ensure that interests of
investors/shareholders are protected, these provisions may also discourage a third party from attempting to take control
of our Company subsequent to completion of the Offer. Consequently, even if a potential takeover of our Company
would result in the purchase of the Equity Shares at a premium to their market price or would otherwise be beneficial
to our shareholders, such a takeover may not be attempted or consummated because of Takeover Regulations.

Rights of shareholders of companies under Indian law may be more limited than under the laws of other
Jjurisdictions.

Our Articles of Association, composition of our Board, Indian laws governing our corporate affairs, the validity of
corporate procedures, directors’ fiduciary duties, responsibilities and liabilities, and shareholders’ rights may differ
from those that would apply to a company in another jurisdiction. Shareholders’ rights under Indian law may not be
as extensive and wide-spread as shareholders' rights under the laws of other countries or jurisdictions. Investors may
face challenges in asserting their rights as shareholder of our Company than as a shareholder of an entity in another
jurisdiction.

Compliance with provisions of Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act may affect payments on the Equity Shares.

The U.S. “Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act” (or “FATCA”) imposes a new reporting regime and potentially,
imposes a 30% withholding tax on certain “foreign passthru payments” made by certain non-U.S. financial institutions
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(including intermediaries). If payments on the Equity Shares are made by such non-U.S. financial institutions
(including intermediaries), this withholding may be imposed on such payments if made to any non-U.S. financial
institution (including an intermediary) that is not otherwise exempt from FATCA or other holders who do not provide
sufficient identifying information to the payer, to the extent such payments are considered “foreign passthru
payments”. Under current guidance, the term “foreign passthru payment” is not defined and it is therefore not clear
whether and to what extent payments on the Equity Shares would be considered “foreign passthru payments”. The
United States has entered into intergovernmental agreements with many jurisdictions (including India) that modify the
FATCA withholding regime described above. It is not yet clear how the intergovernmental agreements between the
United States and these jurisdictions will address “foreign passthru payments” and whether such agreements will
require us or other financial institutions to withhold or report on payments on the Equity Shares to the extent they are
treated as “foreign passthru payments”. Prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the
consequences of FATCA, or any intergovernmental agreement or non-U.S. legislation implementing FATCA, to their
investment in Equity Shares.

U.S. holders should consider the impact of the passive foreign investment company rules in connection with an
investment in our Equity Shares.

A foreign corporation will be treated as a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) for U.S. federal income tax
purposes for any taxable year in which either: (i) at least 75% of its gross income is “passive income” or (ii) at least
50% of its gross assets during the taxable year (based on of the quarterly values of the assets during a taxable year) are
“passive assets,” which generally means that they produce passive income or are held for the production of passive
income.

No assurance can be given that our Company will or will not be considered a PFIC in the current or future years. The
determination of whether or not our Company is a PFIC is a factual determination that is made annually after the end
of each taxable year, and there can be no assurance that our Company will not be considered a PFIC in the current
taxable year or any future taxable year because, among other reasons, (i) the composition of our Company’s income
and assets will vary over time, and (ii) the manner of the application of relevant rules is uncertain in several respects.
Further, our Company’s PFIC status may depend on the market price of its Equity Shares, which may fluctuate
considerably.
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SECTION IlI: INTRODUCTION

THE OFFER

The following table summarizes the Offer details:

Offer O@0)

Up to [e] Equity Shares aggregating up to X[e] million

The Offer consists of:

(i) Fresh Issue®™

Up to [e] Equity Shares, aggregating up to 35,000 million

(ii) Offer for Sale®®

Up to 141,299,422 Equity Shares, aggregating up to X[e] million

Of which:

(i) Employee Reservation Portion®

Up to [e] Equity Shares, aggregating up to X[e] million

(ii) Shareholder Reservation Portion®®

Up to [e] Equity Shares, aggregating up to X[e] million

Net Offer

Up to [e] Equity Shares, aggregating up to [e] million

The Net Offer comprises of:

A)  QIB Portion®® Not less than [e] Equity Shares
of which:

Anchor Investor Portion® Up to [e] Equity Shares

Net QIB Portion (assuming Anchor Investor Portion is | Up to [®] Equity Shares

fully subscribed)

of which:

Available for allocation to Mutual Funds only (5% of the | Up to [®] Equity Shares

Net QIB Portion)?

Balance of the Net QIB Portion for all QIBs including | Up to [e] Equity Shares

Mutual Funds
B)  Non-Institutional Portion©® Not more than [e] Equity Shares
Of which:

One-third of the Non-Institutional Portion available for allocation to
Bidders with an application size of more than 200,000 to 1,000,000

[e] Equity Shares

Two-third of the Non-Institutional Portion available for allocation to
Bidders with an application size of more than 1,000,000

[®] Equity Shares

©)

Retail Portion® Not more than [e] Equity Shares

Pre-Offer and post-Offer Equity Shares

Equity Shares outstanding prior to the Offer

754,370,630 Equity Shares

Equty Shares outstanding after the Offer

[e] Equity Shares

Use of Proceeds

Our Company will not receive any proceeds from the Offer for Sale.
For further details, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 104.

(0

2

3)

“)

The Offer (including the Fresh Issue) has been authorized by our Board of Directors pursuant to the resolutions passed at their meetings dated July 18,

2022 and October 18, 2022, and our Shareholders pursuant to the resolution passed at their meeting held on October 20, 2022. Our Board has taken on
record the consent of the Selling Shareholders to participate in the Offer for Sale pursuant to a resolution passed in its meeting held on October 18, 2022.

In the event of under-subscription in the Offer, subject to receiving minimum subscription for 90% of the Fresh Issue and compliance with Rule 19(2)(b)

of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules. 1957, the Allotment for the valid Bids will be made in the first instance towards subscription for 90% of
the Fresh Issue. If there remain any balance valid Bids in the Offer, the Allotment for the balance valid Bids will be made towards the sale of the Offered
Shares (on pro-rata proportion of the Offered Shares being offered by the Selling Shareholders) and only thereafter, towards the balance Fresh Issue.

For avoidance of doubt, the balance Equity Shares of the Fresh Issue (i.e., 10% of the Fresh Issue) will be offered only once the entire portion of the

Offered Shares are Allotted in the Offer.

A Pre-IPO Placement may be undertaken by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers for an aggregate amount not exceeding
Z 1,000 million. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken, will be at a price to be decided by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead
Managers, and will be completed prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC. If the Pre-IPO Placement is undertaken, the Offer size will
be reduced by the amount raised from the Pre-IPO Placement and the minimum Net Offer size (the Net Offer so reduced by the amount raised from the
Pre-IPO Placement) shall constitute at least [®]% of the post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company.

The Equity Shares being offered by the Selling Shareholders have been held for a period of at least one year immediately preceding the date of filing this

Draft Red Herring Prospectus with SEBI and are otherwise eligible for being offered for sale pursuant to the Offer in terms of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Each of the Selling Shareholders has, severally and not jointly, confirmed and approved its participation in the Offer for Sale, as set out below:

S. No. Selling Shareholder Number of Offered Shares Date of board resolution or Date of consent letter
corporate authorisation
1. Bank of Baroda™ Up to 89,015,734 Equity Shares July 30, 2022 October 18, 2022
Carmel Point Investments India Private| Up to 39,227,273 Equity Shares October 17, 2022 October 18, 2022
Limited"
3. Union Bank of India Up to 13,056,415 Equity Shares September 14, 2022 October 18, 2022

“lso our Promoters

In the event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion, the unsubscribed portion will be available for allocation and Allotment,
proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of 200,000, subject to the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee
not exceeding Z500,000. The unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion (after allocation up to 3500,000), shall be added to the
Net Offer. Further, an Eligible Employee Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion can also Bid under the Net Offer and such Bids will not be treated
as multiple Bids, subject to applicable limits. Eligible Employees can also apply under the Retail Portion. However, Bids by Eligible Employees in the
Employee Reservation Portion and in the Non-Institutional Portion shall be treated as multiple Bids, only if Eligible Employees have made an application
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)

(6)

7)

®)

of more than 3200,000 in the Employee Reservation Portion. The Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed 5.00% of our post-Olffer paid-up Equity
Share capital. For further details, see “Offer Structure” on page 426.

The Shareholder Reservation Portion shall not exceed 10.00% of the Offer size. The unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Shareholder Reservation Portion,
shall be added to the Net Offer. Bids by Eligible BOB Shareholders in the Shareholder Reservation Portion, the Net Offer portion and the Employee
Reservation Portion (if eligible) shall not be treated as multiple Bids subject to applicable limits. To clarify, Eligible BOB Shareholders Bidding in the
Shareholder Reservation Portion above ¥ 200,000 can Bid in the Net Offer for up to < 200,000 and Employee Reservation Portion (if eligible and subject
to applicable limits), otherwise such Bids shall be treated as multiple Bids. If an Eligible BOB Shareholder is Bidding in the Shareholder Reservation
Portion up to % 200,000, application by such Eligible BOB Shareholder in the Retail Portion or Non-Institutional Portion and Employee Reservation
Portion (if eligible and subject to applicable limits) shall not be treated as multiple Bids. Therefore, Eligible BOB Shareholders bidding in the Shareholder
Reservation Portion (subject to the Bid Amount being up to < 200,000) can also Bid under the Net Offer and Employee Reservation Portion (if eligible
and subject to applicable limits) and such Bids shall not be treated as multiple Bids. For further details, see “Olffer Structure” on page 426.

Subject to valid bids being received at or above the Offer Price, under subscription, if any, in any category, except in the QIB Portion, would be allowed
to be met with spill-over from any other category or combination of categories of Bidders at the discretion of our Board or the IPO Committee, as
applicable, and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, and the Designated Stock Exchange, subject to
applicable laws. In the event of under-subscription in the Offer, Equity Shares shall be allocated in the manner specified in “Terms of the Offer” on page
420.

Our Company and the Selling Shareholders shall, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers, allocate up to 60% of the QIB Portion to
Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The QIB Portion will be accordingly reduced for the Equity
Shares allocated to Anchor Investors. One-third of the Anchor Investor Portion shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds only, subject to valid Bids
being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price. Further, 5% of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for
allocation on a proportionate basis to Mutual Funds only, and the remainder of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for allocation on a proportionate
basis to all QIB Bidders other than Anchor Investors, including Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. In the
event of under-subscription in the Anchor Investor Portion, the remaining Equity Shares shall be added to the Net QIB Portion. The Net QIB Portion
shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to all QIB Bidders other than Anchor Investors, including Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids
being received at or above the Offer Price. In the event the aggregate demand from Mutual Funds is less than as specified above, the balance Equity
Shares available for Allotment in the Mutual Fund Portion will be added to the QIB Portion and allocated proportionately to the QIB Bidders (other
than Anchor Investor) in proportion to their Bids. For details, see “Offer Procedure” on page 430.

The Equity Shares available for allocation to Non-Institutional Bidders under the Non-Institutional Portion, shall be subject to the following, and in
accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations: (i) one-third of the portion available to Non-Institutional Bidders shall be reserved for Bidders with an
application size of more than 3200,000 and up to Z1,000,000, and (ii) two-third of the portion available to Non- Institutional Bidders shall be reserved

for Bidders with application size of more than 1,000,000, provided that the unsubscribed portion in either of the aforementioned sub-categories may be

allocated to applicants in the other sub-category of Non-Institutional Bidders. The allocation to each Non-Institutional Bidder shall not be less than the
minimum Non-Institutional Bidder Application Size, subject to availability of Equity Shares in the Non-Institutional Portion and the remaining available
Equity Shares, if any, shall be allocated on a proportionate basis in accordance with the conditions specified in this regard in Schedule XIII of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations.

Allocation to all categories, except the Anchor Investor Portion, Non Institutional Portion and the Retail Portion, shall be made
on a proportionate basis subject to valid Bids received at or above the Offer Price, as applicable. The allocation to each Retail
Individual Bidder and Non-Institutional Bidder shall not be less than the minimum Bid Lot, subject to availability of Equity
Shares in the Retail Portion and the Non-Institutional Portion, respectively, and the remaining available Equity Shares, if any,
shall be allocated on a proportionate basis. Allocation to Anchor Investors shall be on a discretionary basis in accordance with
the SEBI ICDR Regulations. For further details, see “Offer Procedure” and “Terms of the Offer” on pages 430 and 420.

For details of the terms of the Offer, see “Terms of the Offer” on page 420.
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SUMMARY OF RESTATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The summary financial information presented below should be read in conjunction with “Restated Financial Information and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 257.and 337,

respectively.

(The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank)
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Restated Statement of Assets and Liabilities

(% in million)

Particulars As at
June 30, March 31, | March 31, | March 31,
2022 2022 2021 2020
SOURCES OF FUNDS
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS:
Share Capital 6,634.62 6,634.62 6,634.62 6,350.00
Share Application Money - - - -
Reserves and Surplus 2,800.00 2,800.00 2,800.00 2,800.00
Credit/(Debit) Fair Value Change Account 0.52 5.20 11.56 12.17
Sub-Total (A) 9,435.14 9,439.82 9,446.18 9,162.17
Borrowings 2,250.00 2,250.00 1,000.00 1,000.00
Sub-Total (B) 2,250.00 2,250.00 1,000.00 1,000.00
Policyholders' Funds:
Credit/(Debit) Fair Value Change Account (123.13) 62.70 161.86 (243.58)
Policy Liabilities 109,135.23| 108,243.14| 102,156.57 99,165.21
Insurance Reserve - - - -
Provision for Linked Liabilities 62,697.61 67,317.71 55,610.90 37,158.73
Funds For Discontinued Policies:
Discontinued on Account of Non Payment of Premium 4,868.56 4,459.09 3,446.11 2,402.47
Other discontinuance - - - -
Sub-Total (C) 176,578.27| 180,082.64| 161,375.44| 138,482.83
Funds for Future Appropriation - Provision for linked liabilities unlikely to - - - -
be revived
Funds For Future Appropriations 2,969.22 2,742 .44 1,134.71 792.75
Sub Total (D) 2,969.22 2,742.44 1,134.71 792.75
Total (E)=(A)+(B) +(C) + (D) + (E) 191,232.63| 194,514.90| 172,956.33| 149,437.75
APPLICATION OF FUNDS
INVESTMENTS:
Shareholders' 5,041.71 5,756.90 6,202.46 6,556.23
Policyholders' 111,771.16| 109,629.87| 103,659.12 98,252.32
Assets Held to Cover Linked Liabilities 67,566.17 71,776.80 59,057.01 39,561.23
Loans 253.61 232.20 143.48 86.56
Fixed Assets 169.93 191.64 274.14 425.51
Sub Total (F) 184,802.58 | 187,587.41| 169,336.21| 144,881.85
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and Bank Balances 3,501.90 2,559.70 1,964.83 1,424.91
Advances and Other Assets 5,528.93 7,506.73 5,225.12 6,426.19
Sub Total (G) 9,030.83 10,066.43 7,189.95 7,851.10
CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,606.45 7,624.05 5,250.23 5,255.89
Provisions 50.97 22.01 10.52 32.12
Sub Total (H) 7,657.42 7,646.06 5,260.75 5,288.01
Net Current Assets /(Liabilities) (1) = (G) - (H) 1,373.41 2,420.37 1,929.20 2,563.09
Miscellaneous Expenditure (To The Extent Not Written Off Or Adjusted) - - - -
Debit Balance in Profit & Loss Account (Shareholders' Account) 4,925.39 4,507.12 1,690.92 1,992.81
Deficit in the Revenue Account (Policyholders’ Account) 131.25 - - -
Sub Total (J) 5,056.64 4,507.12 1,690.92 1,992.81
Total (K)=(F)+ () +(J) 191,232.63| 194514.90| 172,956.33| 149,437.75
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Summary Restated Statement of Revenue Account / Policyholders' Account (Technical Account)

(% in million)

Particulars For the For the year ended
three March March March
months 31,2022 | 31,2021 | 31,2020
ended June
30, 2022
Premiums earned - net:
(a) Premium 9,079.68 | 51,865.64 | 40,555.02 | 33,604.36
(b) Reinsurance ceded (344.52)|(2,013.59) | (1,545.62) | (1,151.40)
(c) Reinsurance accepted - - - -
Sub-Total 8,735.16 | 49,852.05| 39,009.40 | 32,452.96
Income from Investments:
(a) Interest, Dividend and Rent - Gross 245577 9,240.92| 8,783.06| 8,294.49
(b) Profit on sale/redemption of investments 1,103.19| 7,774.07| 6,412.76| 3,457.52
(c) (Loss on sale/redemption of investments) (1,041.08) | (994.57)](2,489.99)| (1,138.28)
(d) Transfer/Gain on revaluation/change in fair value* (4,662.88)| 1,367.79| 11,775.02 | (8,778.88)
(e) Amortisation of premium / discount on investments 107.09 (96.77)| (106.91) 474.53
Total Investment Income (2,037.91) | 17,291.44| 24,373.94| 2,309.38
Other Income:
(1) Miscellaneous Income 17.09 65.89 115.61 27.39
(i1) Contribution from Shareholders' Account 611.69| 4,839.00| 1,679.09| 1,054.45
(iii) Contribution from Shareholder's Account towards Excess EOM - 4.71 12.80 153.89
TOTAL (A) 7,326.03 | 72,053.09 | 65,190.84 | 35,998.07
Commission 519.01| 2,537.13| 1,713.68| 1,506.23
Operating Expenses related to Insurance Business 1,988.32| 7,042.78| 5,614.68| 4,917.88
Provisions for doubtful debts - - - -
Bad debts written off - - - -
Provision for tax - - - -
Provisions (other than taxation):
(a) For diminution in the value of investments (net) (2.93) (11.09) (23.31) 638.78
(b) Others - - - -
GST/ Service tax charge on linked charges 93.39 374.09 317.94 295.01
TOTAL (B) 2,597.79| 9,94291| 7,622.99| 7,357.90
Benefits paid (net) 7,812.65| 40,087.65| 33,270.92| 30,939.10
Interim Bonuses Paid - - - -
Change in valuation of liability in respect of life policies:
(a) Gross 892.10| 6,086.56| 2,991.36| (321.87)
(b)Fund Reserve** (4,620.09)| 11,706.81 | 18,452.16 | (3,485.85)
(c) Discontinued Fund 409.46| 1,012.99| 1,043.63 584.39
(d) Amount ceded in Reinsurance - - - -
(e) Amount accepted in Reinsurance - - - -
TOTAL (C) 4,494.12 | 58,894.01 | 55,758.07 | 27,715.77
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (D) = (A)-(B)-(C) 234.12| 3,216.17| 1,809.78 924.4
APPROPRIATIONS
Transfer to Shareholders' Account 138.59| 1,608.44| 1,467.82 894.59
Transfer to Balance sheet being "Deficit in Revenue Account (Policyholders' Account)" (131.25) - - -
Transfer to Other Reserves - - - -
Funds for Future Appropriation- Provision for Linked Policies unlikely to be revived - - - -
Balance being Funds for Future Appropriations 226.78 | 1,607.73 341.96 29.81
TOTAL (D) 234.12| 3,216.17| 1,809.78 924.40
The Breakup for the surplus is as below
(a) Interim Bonus paid - - - -
(b) Allocation of Bonus to policyholders*** -| 2,895.66| 2,683.22| 2,923.89
(c) Surplus shown in Revenue Account 234.12| 3,216.17| 1,809.78 924.40
TOTAL (D) 234.12| 6,111.83| 4,493.00| 3,848.29

*  Represents the deemed realised gains as per norms specified by the Authority.
**  Represents the Mathematical Reserves after allocation of bonus
***  Allocation of Bonus to policyholders is done at year end.
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Summary Restated Statement of Profit & Loss Account / Shareholders’ Account (Non-technical Account)

(% in million)

Particulars For the three For the year ended
months March 31, March 31, March 31,
ended June 2022 2021 2020
30, 2022
Amounts transferred from Policyholders account (Technical Account) 138.59 1,608.44 1,467.82 894.59
Income from Investments:
(a) Interest, Dividends and Rent — Gross 83.36 447.49 509.56 462.17
(b) Profit on sale/redemption of investments 4.20 39.27 26.25 9.27
(c) (Loss on sale/redemption of investments) - (5.89) (5.59) -
(d) (Amortisation of premium) / discount on investments 6.42 2.52 (10.62) 13.80
Total Investment Income 93.98 483.39 519.60 485.24
Other Income 23.29 69.44 128.43 12.83
TOTAL (A) 255.86 2,161.27 2,115.85 1,392.66
Expenses other than those directly related to the insurance business 54.36 127.13 108.72 154.99
Contribution towards the Remuneration of MD/CEOs/WTDs 6.72 42.10 32.03 22.02
Contribution from Shareholders Account towards Excess EOM - 4.71 12.80 153.89
Bad debts written off - 0.17 - -
Provisions (other than taxation):
(a) For diminution in the value of investments (net) - (33.00) (27.49) 975.29
(b) Provision for doubtful debts 1.36 (2.64) 8.81 6.17
(c) Others - - - -
Amount transferred to the Policyholders' Account 611.69 4,839.00 1,679.09 1,054.45
TOTAL (B) 674.13 4,977.47 1,813.96 2,366.81
Profit/(Loss) before tax (418.27) (2,816.20) 301.89 (974.15)
Provision for taxation - - - -
Profit/Loss after tax (418.27) (2,816.20) 301.89 (974.15)
APPROPRIATIONS
(a) Balance at the beginning of the year/ period (4,507.12) (1,690.92) (1,992.81) (1,018.66)
(b) Interim dividends paid during the year/ period - - - -
(c) Proposed final dividend - - - -
(d) Dividend distribution tax - - - -
(e) Transfer to reserves/ other accounts — Debenture Redemption Reserve - - - -
Loss carried to the Balance Sheet (4,925.39) (4,507.12) (1,690.92) (1,992.81)
Earnings per Share- Basic and Diluted, Face Value of ¥ 10 (0.63) (4.24) 0.46 (1.55)
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Summary Restated Statement of Receipts And Payments Account

(% in million)

Particulars For the three For the year ended
months ended March 31, March 31, March 31,
June 30, 2022 2022 2021 2020

Cash Flows from the operating activities (A):
Premium received 9,399.97 51,815.50 40,607.63 33,325.22
Reinsurance premium (net of claims) ceded 276.92 802.92 (311.46) 88.78
Unallocated premium 1,699.26 139.16 769.25 (210.62)
Commission paid (520.07) (2,433.19) (1,667.35) (1,541.64)
Payment made to employees and for other expenses (2,489.01) (6,728.42) (4,862.80) (4,660.21)
Claims paid (8,060.05) (43,325.12) (34,723.39) (32,409.92)
Advances (4.39) (51.23) 10.08 10.29
Cash inflow/ (outflow) from operating activities 302.63 219.62 (178.04) (5,398.10)
Taxes Paid (1.55) 23.34 (0.21) (25.61)
Good and Service Tax paid (164.98) (263.66) (295.42) (274.29)
Net cash flow from operating activities 136.10 (20.70) (473.67) (5,698.00)
Cash flows from investing activities (B):
Purchases of fixed assets (10.02) (75.29) (89.66) (345.41)
Sale of fixed assets - 1.14 2.61 4.74
Purchases of investments (991,853.85) | (3,115,296.13) | (2,302,751.94) | (2,303,060.73

)
Sales of investments 989,644.36| 3,105,138.43| 2,293,951.57| 2,299,250.54
Expense related to Investment (1.21) (4.79) (3.81) (4.62)
Interest and dividend received 3,035.05 9,753.30 9,761.46 8,512.69
Other Income - - - -
Loan against Policies (9.67) (72.36) (47.35) (10.81)
Net cash used in investing activities 804.66 (555.70) 822.88 4,346.40
Cash flows from financing activities (C):
Share capital issued - - 284.62 100.00
Share premium - - 0.00 1,400.00
Issue of Debentures / Bonds - 1,250.00 - -
Interest/dividends paid - (85.70) (85.70) (85.70)
Net cash flow from financing activities 0.00 1,164.30 198.92 1,414.30
Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (D=A+B+C) 940.76 587.90 548.13 62.70
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/ period 2,562.99 1,975.09 1,426.96 1,364.26
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year /period 3,503.75 2,562.99 1,975.09 1,426.96
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GENERAL INFORMATION
Registered and Corporate Office of our Company

12" and 13" Floor, North C Wing, Tower 4

Nesco IT Park, Western Express Highway

Goregaon (East), Mumbai 400 063

Mabharashtra, India

Corporate Identity Number: U66010MH2008PLC183679
Company Registration Number: 183679

IRDALI Registration Number: 143

Filing of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus

A copy of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus will be filed electronically on the platform provided by SEBI at cfddil@sebi.gov.in,
in accordance with the instructions issued by the SEBI on March 27, 2020, in relation to “Easing of Operational Procedure —
Division of Issues and Listing — CFD”, and will also be uploaded on the SEBI intermediary portal at https://siportal.sebi.gov.in
as specified in Regulation 25(8) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2018/011
dated January 19, 2018. It will also be filed with the Securities and Exchange Board of India at:

Securities and Exchange Board of India
Corporation Finance Department

Division of Issues and Listing

SEBI Bhavan, Plot No. C4 A, ‘G’ Block
Bandra Kurla Complex

Bandra (E), Mumbai 400 051
Mabharashtra, India

Our Company is registered with the Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai. The Red Herring Prospectus and
Prospectus will be filed in accordance with section 32 read with section 26 of the Companies Act, along with the material
contracts and documents referred to in the Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus with the RoC at:

Registrar of Companies

100, Everest

Marine Drive

Mumbai 400 002, Maharashtra, India

Board of Directors of our Company

Details regarding our Board as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus are set forth below:

Name Designation DIN Address
Sanjiv Chadha Chairman and Non-Executive | 08368448 |B-2, 9C, Harbour Heights, N.A. Sawant Marg, near Colaba
Director (nominee of Bank of Fire Brigade, Colaba S.0., Colaba, Mumbai 400 005,
Baroda) Mabharashtra, India
R.M. Vishakha Managing Director and Chief| 07108012 |201, B Wing, Harshvardhan Apartments, Saki Vihar Road,
Executive Officer Andheri (West), Mumbai 400 072, Maharashtra, India
Narendra Ostawal Non-Executive Director | 06530414 |Flat No B 4101, One Avighna Park, Currey Road, Mumbai
(nominee of Carmel Point 400 012, Maharashtra India
Investments India  Private
Limited)
Joydeep Dutta Roy Non-Executive Director | 08055872 |Flat 303, Wing B, Rustomjee Seasons, B N Dharmadhikari
(nominee of Bank of Baroda) Road, near Guru Nanak Hospital, Kalanagar, Bandra (East),
Mumbai 400 051, Maharashtra, India
Arun Lahu Chogle Independent Director 08089484 | 101, B Wing, Vivarea Sane Guruji Marg, Mahalaxmi Station,
Jacob Circle, Mumbai 400 011, Maharashtra, India
Kavassery Sankaranarayanan | Independent Director 06567403 | 604, A Wing, Akruli Atria Saiwadi, near Teli Gully Signal,
Gopalakrishnan Andheri (East), Mumbai 400 069, India
Hemant Kaul Independent Director 00551588 | A-105, Atrey Path, near Classic Hotel, Shyam Nagar, Jaipur
302 019, Rajasthan, India
Harita Gupta Independent Director 01719806 |907 A, Aralias, DLF Golf Course, Sector Road, Chakarpur
(74), Gurgaon 122 002, Haryana, India

For further details of our Directors, see “Our Management” on page 228.
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Company Secretary and Compliance Officer
Aniket Krishnaji Karandikar is our Company Secretary and Compliance Officer. His contact details are as follows:

Aniket Krishnaji Karandikar

12" and 13 Floor, North C Wing, Tower 4
Nesco IT Park, Western Express Highway
Goregaon (East), Mumbai 400 063
Mabharashtra, India

E-mail: investor.relations@indiafirstlife.com

Investor Grievances

Investors may contact the Company Secretary and Compliance Officer or the Registrar to the Offer in case of any pre-Offer or
post-Offer related grievances including non-receipt of letters of Allotment, non-credit of Allotted Equity Shares in the respective
beneficiary account, non-receipt of refund orders or non-receipt of funds by electronic mode, etc. For all Offer related queries
and for redressal of complaints, investors may also write to the BRLMs.

All offer-related grievances, other than of Anchor Investors, may be addressed to the Registrar to the Offer with a copy to the
relevant Designated Intermediary(ies) with whom the Bid cum Application Form was submitted, giving full details such as
name of the sole or First Bidder, Bid cum Application Form number, Bidder’s DP ID, Client ID, PAN, address of Bidder,
number of Equity Shares applied for, ASBA Account number in which the amount equivalent to the Bid Amount was blocked
or the UPI ID (for UPI Bidders who make the payment of Bid Amount through the UPI Mechanism), date of Bid cum
Application Form and the name and address of the relevant Designated Intermediary(ies) where the Bid was submitted. Further,
the Bidder shall enclose the Acknowledgment Slip or the application number from the Designated Intermediaries in addition to
the documents or information mentioned hereinabove. All grievances relating to Bids submitted through Registered Brokers
may be addressed to the Stock Exchanges with a copy to the Registrar to the Offer.

All offer-related grievances of the Anchor Investors may be addressed to the Registrar to the Offer, giving full details such as
the name of the sole or First Bidder, Anchor Investor Application Form number, Bidders” DP ID, Client ID, PAN, date of the
Anchor Investor Application Form, address of the Bidder, number of the Equity Shares applied for, Bid Amount paid on
submission of the Anchor Investor Application Form and the name and address of the BRLMs where the Anchor Investor
Application Form was submitted by the Anchor Investor.

Joint Statutory Auditors to our Company

Mehta Chokshi & Shah LLP N S Gokhale & Company

Maker Bhavan 3, 214, 2" Floor 104, Siddharth Darshan, Dada Patil Wadi
New Marines Lines Dada Patil Marg, Naupada

Mumbai 400 020 Thane (West), Thane 400 602
Mabharashtra, India Maharashtra, India

Tel: 022 2207 7309 Tel: 022 2544 5752

E-mail: mes@camcs.in E-mail: admin@nsgokhale.com

Peer Review Number: 031089 Peer Review Number: 013667

Firm Registration Number: 106201 W/W100598 Firm Registration number: 103270W

Except as disclosed below, there have been no changes in our statutory auditors during the last three years preceding the date
of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus:

Particulars Date of Change Reason for Change
Mehta Chokshi & Shah LLP September 29, | Appointment as Joint Statutory Auditors to hold office from
Maker Bhavan 3, 214, 2" Floor 2021 the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on
New Marines Lines September 29, 2021 until conclusion of the annual general
Mumbai 400 020 meeting to be held for the financial year 2022-23.

Maharashtra, India

Tel: 022 2205 7309

Email: mcs@camcs.in

Firm Registration Number: 106201 W/W100598
Peer Review Number: 013089

N S Gokhale & Company September 29, | Appointment as Joint Statutory Auditors to hold office from
104, Siddharth Darshan, Dada Patil Wadi 2021 the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on
Dada Patil Marg, Naupada September 29, 2021 until conclusion of the annual general
Thane (West), Thane 400 602 meeting to be held for the financial year 2022-23.

Maharashtra, India
Tel: 022 2544 5752
Email: admin@nsgokhale.com
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Particulars

Date of Change

Reason for Change

Firm Registration Number: 103270W
Peer Review Number: 013667

Sudit K. Parekh & Co. LLP Chartered Accountant
Urmi Axis, 6™ Floor, Famous Studio Lane

Dr. E. Moses Rod, Mahalaxmi

Mumbai 400 011

Maharashtra, India

Tel: 022 6617 8100

Email: mca.mumbai@skparekh.com

Firm Registration Number: 110512W/ W100378

September 29,
2021

Retirement due to completion of term.

Chhajed & Doshi Chartered Accountants
101 Hubtown Solaris Near East West Flyover
N.S Phadke Marg Andheri East

Mumbai 400 069

Maharashtra, India

Tel: 022 6103 7878

Email: info@cndindia.com

Firm Registration Number: AAFC3606J]

September 29,
2021

Retirement due to completion of term.

Sudit K. Parekh & Co. LLP Chartered Accountant
Urmi Axis, 6™ Floor, Famous Studio Lane

Dr. E. Moses Rod, Mahalaxmi

Mumbai 400 011

Mabharashtra, India

Tel: 022 6617 8100

Email: mca.mumbai@skparekh.com

Firm Registration Number: 110512W/ W100378

September 28,
2020

Appointment as joint statutory auditors to hold office from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on
September 28, 2020 till the conclusion of the annual general
meeting held on September 29, 2021.

Chhajed & Doshi Chartered Accountants
101 Hubtown Solaris Near East West Flyover
N.S Phadke Marg Andheri East

Mumbai 400 069

Mabharashtra, India

Tel: 022 6103 7878

Email: info@cndindia.com

Firm Registration Number: AAFC3606J]

September 28,
2020

Appointment as joint statutory auditors to hold office from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on
September 28, 2020 till the conclusion of the annual general
meeting held on September 29, 2021.

S K Patodia & Associates Chartered Accountant
Shree Shakambhari Corporate Park, Plot No. 156-158
Chakravarti Ashok Complex, J.B Nagar

Andheri — E, Mumbai 400 099

Mabharashtra, India

Tel: 022 6707 9444

Email: info@skpatodia.in

Firm Registration Number: 112723W

September 28,
2020

Retirement due to completion of term.

Sudit K. Parekh & Co. LLP Chartered Accountant
Urmi Axis, 6™ Floor, Famous Studio Lane

Dr. E Moses Road, Mahalaxmi

Mumbai 400 011

Mabharashtra, India

Tel: 022 6617 8100

Email: mca.mumbai@skparekh.com

Firm Registration Number: 110512W/ W100378

September 28,
2020

Retirement due to completion of term.

Sudit K. Parekh & Co. LLP Chartered Accountant
Urmi Axis, 6™ Floor, Famous Studio Lane

Dr. E Moses Road, Mahalaxmi

Mumbai 400011

Maharashtra, India

Tel: 022 6617 8100

Email: mca.mumbai@skparekh.com

Firm Registration Number: 110512W/ W100378

September 11,
2019

Appointment as joint statutory auditors to hold office from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on
September 11, 2019 till the conclusion of the annual general
meeting held on September 28, 2020.

S K Patodia & Associates Chartered Accountant
Shree Shakambhari Corporate Park, Plot No. 156-158
Chakravarti Ashok Complex, J.B Nagar

Andheri — E, Mumbai 400 099

Maharashtra, India

Tel: 022 6707 9444

Email: info@skpatodia.in

Firm Registration Number: 112723W

September 11,
2019

Appointment as joint statutory auditors to hold office from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on
September 11, 2019 till the conclusion of the annual general
meeting held on September 28, 2020.
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Book Running Lead Managers

ICICI Securities Limited

ICICI Venture House

Appasaheb Marathe Marg

Prabhadevi, Mumbai 400 025

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6807 7100

E-mail : indiafirst.ipo@jicicisecurities.com
Website: www.icicisecurities.com

Investor Grievance ID: customercare@jicicisecurities.com
Contact Person: Sameer Purohit/ Gaurav Mittal
SEBI Registration Number: INM000011179

BNP Paribas

1-North Avenue, Maker Maxity

Bandra Kurla Complex

Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 3370 4000

E-mail: DL.IFLICL.ipo@asia.bnpparibas.com
Investor Grievance ID: indiainvestors.care@asia.bnpparibas.com
Website: www.bnpparibas.co.in

Contact Person: Piyush Ramchandani

SEBI Registration Number: INM000011534

HSBC Securities and Capital Markets (India) Private Limited
52/60, Mahatama Gandhi Road

Fort, Mumbai 400 001

Mabharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 2268 5555

E-mail: indiafirstlifeipo@hsbc.co.in

Investor Grievance ID: investorgrievance@hsbc.co.in

Website: https://www.business.hsbc.co.in/en-gb/in/generic/ipo-
open-offer-and-buyback

Contact person: Rishi Tiwari / Rachit Rajgaria

SEBI Registration Number: INM000010353

JM Financial Limited

7% Floor, Cnergy

Appasaheb Marathe Marg

Prabhadevi, Mumbai - 400 025
Mabharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6630 3030

E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@jmfl.com
Website: www.jmfl.com

Investor Grievance ID: grievance.ibd@jmfl.com
Contact Person: Prachee Dhuri

SEBI Registration Number: INM000010361

Ambit Private Limited

Ambit House, 449 Senapati Bapat Marg

Lower Parel, Mumbai 400 013

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6623 3030

E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@ambit.co

Website: www.ambit.co

Investor Grievance ID: customerservicemb@ambit.co
Contact Person: Nikhil Bhiwapurkar/Devanshi Shah
SEBI Registration Number: INM000010585

BOB Capital Markets Limited*

1704, B Wing, 17th Floor, Pariness Crescenzo

Plot No. C —38/39, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex
Bandra (East) Mumbai - 400 025

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6138 9353

E-mail : indiafirstlife.ipo@bobcaps.in

Website: www.bobcaps.in

Investor Grievance ID: investorgrievance@bobcaps.in
Contact Person: Ninad Jape/Nivedika Chavan

SEBI Registration Number: INM000009926

Jefferies India Private Limited

42/43, 2 North Avenue, Maker Maxity

Bandra Kurla Complex

Bandra (East) Mumbai 400 051

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4356 6000

E-mail: IndiaFirstLifelnsurance.IPO@jefferies.com
Website: www.jefferies.com

Investor Grievance ID: jipl.grievance@jefferies.com
Contact Person: Suhani Bhareja

SEBI Registration Number: INM000011443

*  BOBCAPS is an associate of Bank of Baroda, one of the Promoter Selling Shareholders, in terms of the SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations. Accordingly,
in compliance with the proviso to Regulation 21A(1) of the SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations read with Regulation 23(3) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations,
BOBCAPS would be involved only in the marketing of the Offer. BOBCAPS has signed the due diligence certificate and has been disclosed as a Book

Running Lead Manager.

Legal Advisors to the Offer

Legal Counsel to our Company as to Indian law

Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas
5" Floor, Peninsula Chambers
Peninsula Corporate Park
Ganpatrao Kadam Marg
Mumbai 400 013

Mabharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 2496 4455

Legal Counsel to the Book Running Lead Managers as to
Indian law

Shardul Amarchand Mangaldas & Co
24th Floor, Express Towers

Nariman Point

Mumbai 400 021

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4933 5555
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International Legal Counsel to the Book Running Lead Managers

Hogan Lovells Lee & Lee
50 Collyer Quay

#10-01, OUE Bayfront
Singapore 049321

Tel: +65 6538 0900

Legal Counsel to Bank of Baroda as to Indian law

Saraf and Partners

One International Center

Tower 2, 2402, 24" Floor

Senapati Bapat Marg, Prabhadevi West
Mumbai 400 013

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4405 0600

Legal Counsel to Carmel Point Investments India Private Limited as to Indian law

Cyril Amarchand Mangaldas
3" Floor, Prestige Falcon Towers
19, Brunton Road, off M.G. Road
Bengaluru 560 025

Karnataka, India

Tel: +91 80 6792 2000

Legal Counsel to Union Bank of India as to Indian law

Desai & Diwanji
Lentin Chambers
Dalal Street, Fort
Mumbai 400 001
Mabharashtra, India
Tel: +91 22 2265 1682

Registrar to the Offer

KFin Technologies Limited

(formerly known as KFin Technologies Private Limited)
Selenium, Tower B, Plot No. - 31 and 32

Financial District, Nanakramguda, Serilingampally
Hyderabad, Rangareddi 500 032

Telangana, India

Tel: +91 40 6716 2222

E-mail: indiafirstlife.ipo@kfintech.com

Website: www kfintech.com

Investor Grievance ID: einward.ris@kfintech.com
Contact Person: M Murali Krishna

SEBI Registration Number: INR000000221

Bankers to the Offer

Escrow Collection Bank(s) Refund Bank and Public Offer Account Bank
[e]

Sponsor Bank

[e]
Banker(s) to our Company

Bank of Baroda

Malad (East) Branch, Filka House
Ground Floor, S.M. Lall College Building
Near Railway Station, Malad (East)
Mumbai 400 097
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Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 88 7997 0537

Website: www.bankofbaroda.in
Email: maleas@bankofbaroda.com
Contact Person: Nishi Avasthi

Syndicate Members

[e]
Designated Intermediaries
Self-Certified Syndicate Banks

The list of  SCSBs notified by SEBI for the ASBA process is available at
http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes, or at such other website as may be prescribed by
SEBI from time to time. A list of the Designated SCSB Branches with which an ASBA Bidder (other than a RIB using the UPI
Mechanism), not bidding through Syndicate/Sub Syndicate or through a Registered Broker, RTA or CDP may submit the Bid
cum Application Formes, is available at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=34, or at such other websites as may
be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

SCSBs and mobile applications enabled for UPI Mechanism

In accordance with SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/76 dated June 28, 2019, SEBI Circular No.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85 dated July 26, 2019 and SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/45 dated
April 5, 2022, UPI Bidders may apply through the SCSBs and mobile applications whose names appears on the website of the
SEBI (https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=40) and
(https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=43) respectively, as updated from
time to time. A list of SCSBs and mobile applications, which are live for applying in public issues using UPI mechanism is
available on https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmId=35 and
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=43, respectively. A list of SCSBs and
mobile applications, which are live for applying in public issues using UPI mechanism is provided as ‘Annexure A’ for the
SEBI circular number SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85 dated July 26, 2019.

Syndicate SCSB Branches

In relation to Bids (other than Bids by Anchor Investors) submitted to a member of the Syndicate, the list of branches of the
SCSBs at the Specified Locations named by the respective SCSBs to receive deposits of Bid cum Application Forms from the
members of the Syndicate is available on the website of the SEBI
(https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=35) and updated from time to time or
any such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time. For more information on such branches collecting Bid
cum Application Forms from the Syndicate at Specified Locations, see the website of the SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=35 as updated from time to time or any
such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Registered Brokers

Bidders can submit ASBA Forms in the Offer using the stockbroker network of the stock exchange, i.e. through the Registered
Brokers at the Broker Centres. The list of the Registered Brokers, including details such as postal address, telephone number
and e-mail address, is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at https://www.bseindia.com/ and
https://www.nseindia.com, as updated from time to time.

Registrar and Share Transfer Agents

The list of the RTAs eligible to accept ASBA Forms at the Designated RTA Locations, including details such as address,
telephone number and e-mail address, is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at
https://www.bseindia.com/Static/Publiclssues/RtaDp.aspx and
http://www.nseindia.com/products/content/equities/ipos/asba_procedures.htm, respectively, as updated from time to time.

Collecting Depository Participants

The list of the CDPs eligible to accept ASBA Forms at the Designated CDP Locations, including details such as name and
contact details, is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at
https://www.bseindia.com/Static/PublicIssues/RtaDp.aspx and
http://www.nseindia.com/products/content/equities/ipos/asba_procedures.htm, respectively, as updated from time to time.
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Experts to the Offer
Except as disclosed below, our Company has not obtained any expert opinions:

Our Company has received a written consent dated October 20, 2022 from our Joint Statutory Auditors, namely, Mehta Chokshi
& Shah LLP and N S Gokhale & Company, to include their names as required under section 26 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013
read with SEBI ICDR Regulations, in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, and as “experts” as defined under section 2(38) of the
Companies Act, 2013 to the extent and in their capacity as our Joint Statutory Auditors, and in respect of their (a) examination
report of our Joint Statutory Auditors dated October 18, 2022 on the Restated Financial Information and (b) report dated October
20, 2022 on the statement of special tax benefits. Further, our Company has received a written consent dated October 20, 2022
from our Joint Statutory Auditors to include their names as “experts” as defined under section 2(38) of the Companies Act,
2013 in respect of the certification issued by them on the key performance indicators included in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus. Such consents have not been withdrawn as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. However, the term
“expert” shall not be construed to mean an “expert” as defined under the U.S. Securities Act.

Our Company has received a written consent dated October 13, 2022 from Willis Towers Watson Actuarial Advisory LLP to
include the Independent Actuary’s name in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, as an “expert” as defined under section 2(38) of
the Companies Act, 2013 to the extent and in his capacity as Independent Actuary and in respect of the Embedded Value Report,
and such consent has not been withdrawn as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. Further, Our Company has
received a written consent letter dated October 17, 2022 from Willis Towers Watson Actuarial Advisory LLP to include the
Independent Actuary’s name in this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, as an “expert” as defined under section 2(38) and section
26 of the Companies Act, 2013 to the extent and in his capacity as Independent Actuary in respect of VONB, the corresponding
VONB margin and any extracts from the certificate on VONB dated October 12, 2022 included in this Draft Red Herring
Prospectus.

Inter-se allocation of responsibilities among the BRLMs to the Offer

The following table sets forth the inter-se allocation of responsibilities for various activities among the Book Running Lead
Managers to the Offer:

S. No. Activity Responsibility Coordinator
1. Due diligence of our Company including its All BRLMs* I-Sec
operations/management/business plans/legal etc. Drafting and design of
this Draft Red Herring Prospectus, the Red Herring Prospectus, the
Prospectus, Abridged Prospectus and Application Form. The Book
Running Lead Managers shall ensure compliance with stipulated
requirements and completion of prescribed formalities with the Stock
Exchanges, RoC and SEBI including finalisation of Prospectus and RoC
filing
2. Capital structuring with the relative components and formalities such as All BRLMs* I-Sec
type of instruments, size of issue, allocation between primary and
secondary, etc.
3. Drafting and approval of all statutory advertisements All BRLMs* I-Sec
4. Drafting and approval of all publicity material other than statutory All BRLMs* JM Financial
advertisements as mentioned in 3 above, including corporate advertising,
brochures, media monitoring, etc. and filing of media compliance report
5. Appointment of Registrar and advertising agency All BRLMs* I-Sec
6. Appointment of intermediaries (including co-ordinating all agreements All BRLMs* Ambit
to be entered with such parties): printers, Banker(s) to the Offer, Sponsor
Bank(s), Escrow Collection Bank, Share Escrow Agent, Syndicate
Members / Brokers to the Offer and Underwriters

7. Preparation of road show presentation and frequently asked questions All BRLMs* Jefferies
8. International institutional marketing of the Offer, which will cover, inter All BRLMs BNPP
alia:

e Institutional marketing strategy and preparation of publicity budget;

e  Finalising the list and division of international investors for one-to-
one meetings; and

o  Finalising international road show and investor meeting schedules

9. Domestic institutional marketing of the Offer, which will cover, inter All BRLMs I-Sec
alia:
e Institutional marketing strategy and preparation of publicity
budget;

e  Finalising the list and division of domestic investors for one-to-one
meetings; and

e  Finalising domestic road show and investor meeting schedules

10. Non - institutional marketing of the offer, which will cover, inter alia: All BRLMs Ambit

e  Finalising media, marketing and public relations strategy; and

o  Finalising centres for holding conferences etc.
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S. No. Activity Responsibility Coordinator
11. Retail marketing of the Offer, which will cover, inter alia: All BRLMs JM Financial

e Finalising media, marketing and public relations strategy including
list of frequently asked questions at retail road shows;

e  Finalising centers for holding conferences for brokers etc.;

e  Follow - up on distribution of publicity and offer material including
forms, the Prospectus and deciding on the quantum of Issue
material; and

e  Finalising collection centres

12. Coordination with Stock Exchanges for book building software, bidding All BRLMs* Ambit

terminals, mock trading, intimation to Stock Exchange for anchor

portion and deposit of 1% security deposit with Designated Stock

Exchange.

13. Managing the book and finalization of pricing in consultation with our All BRLMs* I-Sec
Company and/or the Selling Shareholders

14. Post bidding activities including management of escrow accounts, All BRLMs* JM Financial

coordinate non-institutional allocation, coordination with registrar,
SCSBs and banks, intimation of allocation and dispatch of refund to
bidders, etc. Post-Offer activities, which shall involve essential follow-
up steps including allocation to anchor investors, follow-up with bankers
to the Offer and SCSBs to get quick estimates of collection and advising
the issuer about the closure of the Offer, based on correct figures,
finalisation of the basis of allotment or weeding out of multiple
applications, coordination for unblock of funds by SCSBs, finalization
of trading, dealing and listing of instruments, dispatch of certificates or
demat credit and refunds and coordination with various agencies
connected with the post-Offer activity such as Registrar to the Offer,
Bankers to the Offer, SCSBs including responsibility for underwriting
arrangements, as applicable.

Payment of the applicable securities transaction tax (“STT”) on sale of
unlisted equity shares by the Selling Shareholder under the Offer for Sale
to the Government and filing of the STT return by the prescribed due
date as per Chapter VII of Finance (No. 2) Act, 2004.

Co-ordination with SEBI and stock exchanges for refund of 1% security
deposit and submission of all post-offer reports including final post-ofter
report to SEBL.

* Excluding BOBCAPS which is involved, as a merchant banker, only in the marketing of the Offer. BOBCAPS is an associate of Bank of Baroda, one of the
Promoter Selling Shareholders, in terms of the SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations. Accordingly, in compliance with the proviso to Regulation 21A(1) of the
SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations read with Regulation 23(3) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, BOBCAPS would be involved only in the marketing of the
Offer. BOBCAPS has signed the due diligence certificate and has been disclosed as a Book Running Lead Manager.

IPO Grading
No credit rating agency registered with SEBI has been appointed for grading the Offer.
Monitoring Agency

Our Company is not required to appoint a monitoring agency pursuant to the proviso to Regulation 41 of SEBI ICDR
Regulations.

Appraising Entity

None of the objects for which the Net Proceeds will be utilised have been appraised by any agency.
Credit Rating

As this is an Offer of Equity Shares, credit rating is not required.

Debenture Trustees

As this is an Offer of Equity Shares, the appointment of debenture trustees is not required.

Green Shoe Option

No green shoe option is contemplated under the Offer.
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Book Building Process

Book building, in the context of the Offer, refers to the process of collection of Bids from bidders on the basis of the Red
Herring Prospectus and the Bid Cum Application Forms and the Revision Forms within the Price Band and the minimum Bid
Lot, which will be decided by our Company and the Selling Sharcholders in consultation with the Book Running Lead
Managers, and advertised in all editions of [®], an English national daily newspaper, all editions of [e], a Hindi national daily
newspaper and [e] editions of [e], a Marathi daily newspaper (Marathi being the regional language of Maharashtra, where our
Registered and Corporate Office is located), each with wide circulation at least two Working Days prior to the Bid/ Offer
Opening Date and shall be made available to the Stock Exchanges for the purpose of uploading on their respective websites.
The Offer Price shall be determined by our Company and the Selling Shareholders in consultation with the Book Running Lead
Managers, after the Bid/ Offer Closing Date. For details, see “Offer Procedure” on page 430.

All Bidders (other than Anchor Investors) shall participate in this Offer mandatorily through the ASBA process by
providing the details of their respective ASBA accounts in which the corresponding Bid Amount will be blocked by the
SCSBs. In addition to this, the RIBs shall participate through the ASBA process by either (a) providing the details of
their respective ASBA Account in which the corresponding Bid Amount will be blocked by the SCSBs; or (b) through
the UPI Mechanism. Anchor Investors are not permitted to participate in the Offer through the ASBA process.

In terms of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, QIBs and Non-Institutional Investors are not permitted to withdraw their
Bid(s) or lower the size of their Bid(s) (in terms of the number of Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage. RIBs
bidding in the Retail Portion, Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion (subject to their Bid
Amount being up to ¥500,000) and Eligible BOB Shareholders Bidding in the Shareholder Reservation Portion (subject
to the Bid Amount being up to 3200,000) can revise their Bid(s) during the Bid/ Offer Period and withdraw their Bid(s)
until Bid/ Offer Closing Date. Further, Anchor Investors are not allowed to withdraw their Bids after the Anchor
Investor Bidding Date. Except for Allocation to RIBs, Non-Institutional Bidders and the Anchor Investors, allocation in
the Offer will be on a proportionate basis. Further, allocation to Anchor Investors will be on a discretionary basis and
allocation to the Non-Institutional Investors will be in a manner as may be introduced under applicable laws.

Each Bidder by submitting a Bid in the Offer, will be deemed to have acknowledged the above restrictions and the terms
of the Offer.

For further details, see “Terms of the Offer” “Offer Structure” and “Offer Procedure” on pages 420, 426 and 430, respectively.

The process of Book Building under the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Bidding Process are subject to change from
time to time and the investors are advised to make their own judgment about investment through this process prior to
submitting a Bid in the Offer.

Bidder should note that, the Offer is also subject to obtaining (i) the final approval of the RoC after the Prospectus is filed with
the RoC; and (ii) final listing and trading approvals of the Stock Exchanges, which our Company shall apply for after Allotment
within six Working Days of the Bid/ Offer Closing Date or such other period as prescribed under applicable law.

Ilustration of Book Building Process and Price Discovery Process

For an explanation of the Book Building Process and the price discovery process, see “Offer Procedure” beginning on page
430.

Underwriting Agreement

After the determination of the Offer Price and allocation of Equity Shares, but prior to the filing of the Prospectus with the RoC,
our Company and the Selling Shareholders intend to enter into an Underwriting Agreement with the Underwriters for the Equity
Shares proposed to be offered through the Offer. The Underwriting Agreement is dated [e]. Pursuant to the terms of the
Underwriting Agreement, the obligations of each of the Underwriters will be several and will be subject to certain conditions
specified therein.

The Underwriters have indicated their intention to underwrite the following number of Equity Shares:

(The Underwriting Agreement has not been executed as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus. This portion has
been intentionally left blank and will be filled in before filing of the Prospectus with the RoC.)

Name, address, telephone number and e-
mail address of the Underwriters

Indicative number of Equity Shares to be
underwritten

Amount underwritten
( in million)

]

]

]

[o
[o
[o
[]

— ==
e f—t f— —
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The aforementioned underwriting commitments are indicative and will be finalised after the Offer Price is determined and
allocation of Equity Shares in accordance with provisions of Regulation 40(2) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The extent of
Underwriting obligations and the Bids to be underwritten in the Offer shall be as per the Underwriting Agreement.

In the opinion of our Board of Directors (based on representations made to our Company by the Underwriters) and Selling
Shareholders, the resources of the aforementioned Underwriters are sufficient to enable them to discharge their respective
underwriting obligations in full. The aforementioned Underwriters are registered with SEBI under Section 12(1) of the SEBI
Act or registered as brokers with the Stock Exchanges. Our Board of Directors/IPO Committee, at its meeting held on [e],
approved the acceptance and entering into the Underwriting Agreement mentioned above on behalf of our Company.

Allocation among the Underwriters may not necessarily be in proportion to their underwriting commitment set forth in the table
above.

Notwithstanding the above table, the Underwriters shall be severally responsible for ensuring payment with respect to the Equity
Shares allocated to investors respectively procured by them in accordance with the Underwriting Agreement. In the event of
any default in payment, the respective Underwriter, in addition to other obligations defined in the Underwriting Agreement,
will also be required to procure purchasers for or purchase the Equity Shares to the extent of the defaulted amount in accordance
with the Underwriting Agreement.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Equity Share capital of our Company as on the date of this Draft Red Herring Prospectus is set forth below:

(in 3, except share data)

Aggregate value at face Aggregate value at
value Offer Price”

A |AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL®W

1,000,000,000 Equity Shares (having face value of X10 each) 10,000,000,000 | -
B | ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL BEFORE THE OFFER

754,370,630 Equity Shares (having face value of 310 each) 7,543,706,300 | -
C |PRESENT OFFER IN TERMS OF THIS DRAFT RED HERRING PROSPECTUS®

Offer of up to [@] Equity Shares® [e] [e]

of which

Fresh Issue of [®] Equity Shares aggregating up to 35,000 million [o] [o]

Offer for Sale of 141,299,422 Equity Shares aggregating up to [e] million® [e] [e]

The Offer includes: [e] [e]

Employee Reservation Portion of up to [e] Equity Shares aggregating up to X [e] [e]

[¢] million®

Shareholder Reservation Portion of up to [e] Equity Shares aggregating up to [eo] [e]

Z [] million®

Net Offer of up to [e] Equity Shares [o] [o]
D | ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL AFTER THE OFFER

[e] Equity Shares (having face value of 310 each) [o] -
E |SECURITIES PREMIUM ACCOUNT

Before the Offer 6,790,909,095.00

After the Offer [e]

* To be included upon finalisation of the Offer Price.

)
2

)

“

)

(©)

For details in relation to the changes in the authorised share capital of our Company in the last 10 years, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters
— Amendments to our Memorandum of Association” on page 223.

The Offer (including the Fresh Issue) has been authorized by our Board of Directors pursuant to the resolutions passed at their meetings dated July 18,
2022 and October 18, 2022, and our Shareholders pursuant to the resolution passed at their meeting held on October 20, 2022. Our Board has taken on
record the consent of the Selling Shareholders to participate in the Offer for Sale pursuant to a resolution passed in its meeting held on October 18, 2022.
Each of the Selling Shareholders have confirmed and authorized their respective participation in the Offer for Sale. For further details, see “Other
Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures” on page 394.

The Equity Shares being offered by each Selling Shareholder have been held by them for a period of at least one year prior to the date of filing of this
Draft Red Herring Prospectus and are otherwise eligible for being offered for sale pursuant to the Offer in accordance with the provisions, including
Regulation 84, of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Each of the Selling Shareholders, severally and not jointly, has authorised the sale of its respective portion
of the Offered Shares in the Offer for Sale. For details of authorisations for the Offer for Sale, see “The Offer” and “Other Regulatory and Statutory
Disclosures” on pages 75 and 294, respectively.

A Pre-IPO Placement may be undertaken by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Managers of such number of Equity Shares for
cash consideration aggregating up to < 1,000 million, prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC. The Pre-IPO Placement, if undertaken,
will be at a price to be decided by our Company in consultation with the BRLMs, and will be completed prior to filing of the Red Herring Prospectus
with the RoC. If the Pre-IPO Placement is undertaken, the minimum Offer size (comprising the Fresh Issue so reduced by the amount raised from the
Pre-IPO Placement, and the Offer for Sale) shall constitute at least [®]% of the post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company.

In the event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion (if any), the unsubscribed portion will be available for allocation and Allotment,
proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of T 200,000, subject to the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee
not exceeding T 500,000. The unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion (after allocation of up to <500,000), shall be added to
the Net Offer. The Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed 5% of our post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital. For further details, see “Offer
Structure” on page 426.

The Shareholder Reservation Portion shall not exceed 10.00% of the Offer size. The unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Shareholder Reservation Portion,
shall be added to the Net Offer. For further details, see “Offer Structure” on page 426.

Notes to the Capital Structure

1.

Equity share capital history of our Company

The history of the Equity Share capital of our Company is set forth below:

Date of Total Details of Face Issue Nature of Nature of Cumulative | Cumulative
allotme | number of allottees value per | price per | allotment | consideration | number of paid-up

nt of Equity Equity Equity Equity Shares | Equity Share
Equity | Shares Share Share capital at
Shares | allotted (“Face (in) Face Value

Value”)
(inx)
June 6, 50,000 | Allotment  of 10 10| Allotment Cash 50,000 500,000
2008 27,025 Equity pursuant  to
Shares to Bank initial
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of Baroda(" and

22,975 Equity
Shares to Union
Bank of
India®®

subscription to
the
Memorandum
of Association

August
217,
2009

27,330,000

Allotment  of
16,252,500
Equity Shares
to Bank of
Baroda and
11,077,500
Equity Shares
to Union Bank
of India®

10

10

Further issue

of capital

Cash

27,380,000

273,800,000

August
27,
2009

9,620,000

Allotment  of
9,620,000

Equity Shares
to Legal &
General Middle
East Limited

10

35

Further issue

of capital

Cash

37,000,000

370,000,000

October
22,
20094

120,620,000

Allotment  of
71,720,475
Equity Shares
to Bank of
Baroda and
48,899,525
Equity Shares
to Union Bank
of India®

10

10

Further issue

of capital

Cash

157,620,000

1,576,200,000

October
22,
20094

42,380,000

Allotment  of
42,380,000
Equity Shares
to Legal &
General Middle
East Limited

10

35

Further issue

of capital

Cash

200,000,000

2,000,000,000

August
217,
2010®

125,000,000

Allotment  of
55,000,000
Equity Shares
to Bank of
Baroda,
37,500,000
Equity Shares
to Union Bank
of India® and
32,500,000
Equity Shares
to Legal &
General Middle
East Limited

10

10

Rights Issue

Cash

325,000,000

3,250,000,000

August

2011®

150,000,000

Allotment  of
66,000,000
Equity Shares
to Bank of
Baroda,
45,000,000
Equity Shares
to Union Bank
of India® and
39,000,000
Equity Shares
to Legal &
General Middle
East Limited

10

10

Rights Issue

Cash

475,000,000

4,750,000,000
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October | 150,000,000 | Allotment  of 10 10 |Rights Issue |Cash 625,000,000| 6,250,000,000

5 66,000,000

2015© Equity Shares

® to Bank of
Baroda,
45,000,000

Equity Shares
to Union Bank
of India® and

39,000,000

Equity Shares

to Legal &

General Middle

East Limited
Septem | 10,000,000 | Allotment  of 10 150 | Preferential Cash 635,000,000| 6,350,000,000
ber 20, 10,000,000 allotment
20190 Equity Shares

to Carmel Point

Investments

India  Private

Limited®
April 28,461,539 | Allotment  of 10 10|Rights Issue  |Cash 663,461,539 6,634,615,390
18, 16,923,077
2020 Equity Shares

to Bank of

Baroda and

11,538,462

Equity Shares
to Union Bank

of India
July 12,| 90,909,091 |Allotment  of 10 55|Rights Issue | Cash 754,370,630 7,543,706,300
20224 59,090,909

Equity Shares

to Bank of

Baroda,

8,181,818

Equity Shares

to Union Bank

of India and

23,636,364

Equity Shares

to Carmel Point

Investments

India  Private

Limited
Total |754,370,630 754,370,630 7,543,706,300

(1) Inclusive of 10 Equity Shares each allotted to S.C. Kalia, Usha Ananthasubramanian and P.C. Jain as nominees of Bank of Baroda.

(2)  Inclusive of 10 Equity Shares each allotted to A.L. Nageswara Rao and D. Jogiraju as nominees of Andhra Bank. Pursuant to a scheme of
amalgamation notified on March 4, 2020, all undertakings of Andhra Bank were transferred to the Union Bank of India, with effect from
April 1, 2020.

(3)  Pursuant to IRDAI approval dated February 6, 2019, Legal & General Middle East Limited previously transferred its entire shareholding
of 162,500,000 Equity Shares in our Company to Carmel Point Investments India Private Limited. For further details, see “-History of the
Equity Share capital held by our Promoters — (a) build-up of the Promoters’ equity shareholding in our Company — Carmel Point Investments
India Private Limited” on page 98.

(4)  Allotment of Equity Shares to Andhra Bank. Pursuant to a scheme of amalgamation notified on March 4, 2020, all undertakings of Andhra
Bank were transferred to the Union Bank of India, with effect from April 1, 2020.

(5)  For details of factual inaccuracies in the corporate records maintained in relation to these allotments, see “Risk Factors — 38. There have
been delays in relation to reporting requirements in respect of issuance of Equity Shares by our Company and other delays and non-
compliances under the Companies Act and other applicable laws. Further there have been certain instances of delays and non-compliances,
including with respect to certain secretarial/ regulatory filings for corporate actions